
 
 

 

 

  

 
 
19 September 2022 

 
To:   The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 

and Lancashire Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

CUMBRIA AND LANCASHIRE JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
 
A meeting of the Cumbria and Lancashire Joint Health Scrutiny Committee will be held as 
follows:  
 
 Date: Tuesday 27 September 2022 

 Time: 11.00 am 

 Place: Committee Room 2 - County Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ 

 
Catherine Parkinson 
Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer) 
 
NB: A PRE-MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE WILL BE HELD AT 10.30 am IN 

COMMITTEE ROOM 2 TO WHICH ALL MEMBERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO 
ATTEND 

 
 
Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Lorraine Davis 
Direct Line: 07920 700299 
Email: lorraine.davis@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats 
 

 

 

Serving the People of Cumbria 



MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Cumbria  (4) 
 

Lancashire  (4) 

Mr F Cassidy 
Ms V Hughes 
Mr C Whiteside 
Mr M Wilson 

Mr L Collinge 
Mr E Pope 
Mr S Rigby 
Mr D Westley 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
 
 
Agenda and Reports 
 
Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting. 
 
The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website –  
www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/  
 
Background Papers 
 
Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday. 

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/


A G E N D A 
 
 
PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 

AND PUBLIC 
 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 
 
2   MEMBERSHIP 

 
To note any changes in membership of the Committee. 
 
 
3   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 
Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises 
 
1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit or gain.  
 
2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 

the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  

 
3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 

a beneficial interest) and the authority 
 
 (a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
 
 (b) Which has not been fully discharged.  
 
4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.   
 
5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 

the authority for a month or longer.   
 
6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge)  
 
 (a) The landlord is the authority; and 
 
 (b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest. 
 
7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where 



 
 (a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 

the authority; and 
 
 (b) Either –  
 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

 
(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 

nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered. 
 
Note 
 
A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).  
 
 
4   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda. 
 
 
5   MINUTES 

 
To consider the minutes of the previous meeting held on 15 March 2022 (copy 
enclosed). 
 
 
6   PROGRESS REPORT ON CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC), NICHE AND 

ROYAL COLLEGE OF SURGEONS (RCS) IMPROVEMENT PLANS 
 

To consider a report by the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation 
Trust (copy enclosed). 
 
 
7   UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS OF MORECAMBE BAY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

WINTER PLANS 
 

To consider a report by the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation 
Trust (copy enclosed). 
 
 
 



8   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

To be confirmed. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA AND LANCASHIRE JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria and Lancashire Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee held on Tuesday, 15 March 2022 at 11.00 am at County Offices, Kendal 
 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Mr M Wilson (Chair) 
 

Mr S Rigby 
Mr D Westley 
 

Mr CJ Whiteside 
Ms E Lewis 

 
Also in Attendance:- 
 
Mrs L Davis - Democratic Services Officer 
Mr G Halsall - Senior Democratic Services Officer - Overview and 

Scrutiny (Lancashire County Council) 
Ms B Lees - Executive Chief Nurse 
Ms H McConville - Senior Manager, Community Services Development 

and ICCs 
Mr R Sachs - Director of Governance 
MS G Speight - Associate Director for Nursing and Rehabilitation 

Therapies for the Integrated Community Care Group 
Mr D Stephens - Strategic Policy & Scrutiny Advisor 
Mr P Woodford - Director of Communications, University Hospitals of 

Morecambe Bay Trust 
 
 

  
PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 

PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

 

 
21 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Ms L Collinge (Ms E Lewis substituting), 
Mr E Pope and Mr F Cassidy. 
 
 
22 MEMBERSHIP 
 
There were no changes to membership to note. 
 
 
23 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 
 
There were no disclosures of interest made for this meeting. 
 

7

Agenda Item 5



 
 
24 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED, that the press and public be not excluded from the meeting during 

consideration of any items on the agenda. 
 
25 MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED, that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2021 be agreed 

as a true record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 
26 CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC) INSPECTION REPORT AND 

RECOVERY SUPPORT PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
Members received update reports and a presentation to examine the progress 
which had been made in relation to the Trust CQC Improvement Plan following the 
outcome of the CQC Inspection that took place in April 2021.  The presentation 
given to members focused on the Recovery Support Programme (RSP) 
Improvement Programme. 
 
The Director of Communication gave an update on the Trust’s position with regards 
to the New Hospital Programme, the latest Covid figures and the effect of the 
pandemic on the hospitals and staff absence, and outlined the latest No Right to 
Reside figures.  Members were informed that the Trust had declared a Critical 
Incident Level 4 in order to get the help and support needed but were advised that 
this had been stepped down recently to Level 3.   
 
To conclude the Director of Communication advised additional investment had been 
made to Cumbria’s Adult Social Care capacity, allowing agency involvement, but 
warned that this would be a challenge when the funding stopped.  Partnership 
working was taking place to mitigate this.  It was agreed that this issue be picked up 
by the re-formed, re-scoped Cumbria Health and Adult Task and Finish Group. 
 
The Director of Governance outlined the context of the papers, explaining the robust 
reporting processes that were in place and the various governance arrangements to 
check and challenge, expressing confidence there was due diligence in place.  A 
member expressed concern on delays caused by the audit regime but was assured 
that this was not the case and the right governance infrastructure was in place.  The 
Trust were currently customising the Good Governance Institute Model, making it 
bespoke to their organisation.   
 
The Executive Chief Nurse updated members on nursing staff and arrangements in 
place.  A member raised concerns on staff recruitment and retention and whether 
there was scope to do more to assist with this.  The Executive Chief Nurse outlined 
the Workforce Plan, attracting as many people to the system as possible and 
highlighted the work that was taking place with other Trusts and partners on this.   
 

8



The Programme Direct - Recovery Support Programme then took members through 
the presentation.  The presentation included progress made with plans and 
workbooks with all work streams, the updated RSP Programme Dashboard, 
management and reporting of the Exit Criteria, developments with the 
communication strategy, deployment of additional resource and next steps to be 
taken. 
 
Members, in discussion, asked for confidence that the Trust was on target to meet 
the deadlines as there was timescale slippage between the reports that had been 
submitted to the Improvement Board in December 2021 and February 2022.  
Members also questioned whether a through lesson learned exercise had been 
undertaken to avoid old practices re-emerging.  The Director of Governance 
acknowledged the slippage over the winter period, reported that some of the target 
deadlines had not been realistic but these had now been corrected and that the 
Trust was on target to meet the October deadline.  The Director of Governance said 
the whole exercise was a “journey not a destination” and had confidence in the 
sustainability of the changes in the long term.   
 
The discussion then centred around embedding the new practices, how to take 
these forward within the relevant frameworks such as the New Hospital Programme, 
the forthcoming Government’s White Paper and in relation to Local Government 
Reform and what members could do to assist with this.   The Trust’s representatives 
confirmed commitment to the changes and outlined work that was taking place with 
partners and communities to drive the work forward.   
 
Members asked what actions were taking place in relation to the red and amber 
ratings on the dashboard.  The Trust representative’s confirmed that action on these 
was being progressed.  A short discussion on maternity services took place . The 
use of technology to assist work was discussed and the Executive Chief Nurse 
reported on recruitment that had recently taken place for maternity services – a new 
Director of Midwifery and a new Consultant Midwife. 
 
To conclude members were assured of the commitment and trust in staff to 
implement changes to have a sustainable patient centred service. 
 
The Trust’s representatives were thanked for their informative report.   
 
RESOLVED, that a further meeting be arranged in September 2022 to receive an 

update report. 
 
 
27 COMMUNITY HOSPITALS BED BASE REVIEW 
 
Members received a presentation that provided a progress update of Morecambe 
Bay CCG’s and University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay Trust’s consultation on 
service change for the Service re-design for South Lakeland which took place 
across the south Cumbria footprint from 15th November – 31st December 2021. 
 
 

9



The Senior Manager, Community Services Development and ICCs and the 
Associate Director for Nursing and Rehabilitation Therapies for the Integrated 
Community Care Group outlined the case for change, the consultation options and 
the rationale for option 3 (redistribution of resource into community staffing and a 
range of complimentary services with no Langdale Unit beds at Westmorland 
General Hospital) and the approximate cost of this.   
 
In discussion, members spoke in support of option 3.  The officers outlined work 
taking place around falls prevention encouraging delay and prevention and were 
encouraging a Champion Role to take this work forward.  Involvement at community 
level was discussed with a suggestion of partnership working with other 
organisations for monitoring purposes.  It was further suggested to utilise community 
networks in existence due to Covid, volunteers and social care students.  The Chair 
advised on a neighbour scheme being considered in Cumbria. 
 
Members thanked the officers for their report. 
 
RESOLVED, that the report be noted. 
 
 
28 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting of the Cumbria and Lancashire Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 
was to be held in September 2022 – exact date to be confirmed. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.50 pm 
  

 
 

 

10



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 
 
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
   
Date of Meeting 31 August 2022 
Title Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal 

College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
Report of Richard Sachs 

Director of Governance 
Prepared by and 
contact details 

Richard Matthews, Interim Head of Compliance & Assurance 
Richard.mathews@mbht.nhs.uk  

 
 

 

Confidentiality Non-Confidential 
 
 

 

Purpose of 
Report 
 
 

To 
Advise/Alert 

To Assure To Approve To Update 

x x  x 
• This report summarises the current position and progress of the 

Improvement plans to address;  
o CQC Must Do and Should Do recommendations 
o NICHE Report recommendations 
o Royal College of Surgeons Report recommendations 

• This report combines all three reviews into one report which has 
been designed to meet the reporting requirements of Trust 
Assurance Committees, Trust Board and the Service Improvement 
Board (SIB). 

• This is to aid efficiency, to support visibility and to increase 
understanding of cross-cutting themes. 

 
 

 

Summary of Key 
Issues 

• The successful completion of the recommendations from the above 
reports will improve quality and safety, ensure better outcomes for 
patients and is a SOF level 4 exit criteria for the Trust. 

• Cross-cutting themes from CQC, NICHE and RCS have been 
identified. 

• Work is progressing to enable information systems to integrate 
themes and commonalities between these plans and other sources 
of evidence (audits, service reviews, QI projects). 

• A comprehensive review has been undertaken of all CQC actions 
(each recommendation has actions assigned to it to achieve 
compliance) to ensure: 
o All completed actions have robust evidence which supports 

compliance with the recommendation. 
o All actions, when completed, will meet compliance with the 

recommendation. 
o The expectations for outstanding actions have been clarified, 

where required. 
From this review a number of actions have had an updated progress 
status as follows: 

11

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Richard.mathews@mbht.nhs.uk


 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Status Previous Current  %Change 
Completed Approved 52 27 -52% 
Completed Awaiting Approval 23 14 -61% 
In Progress 65 96 +31% 
Unable to Complete / Deleted 0 3 +300% 

 
• To ensure that the Trust is not in this position again going forwards, 

the process of ‘Support & Review Panels’ has been strengthened 
including the addition of a Non-executive Director to scrutinise and 
'sign off’ evidence upon completion of actions / recommendations. 

• A formal SOP has been developed to ensure recommendations 
and actions arising from inspections are managed in a consistent 
and robust manner. This is to be approved at the next Procedural 
Documents meeting in September. 

• Approved evidence is continuously uploaded to AMaT, following 
approval at ‘Support & Review Panels’. This will include further 
evidence from the amended governance model as it becomes 
available.  

• Since the last report there has been a delay in the progression of 
CQC Must and Should Do’s, particularly in the Medicine Care 
Group and to a lesser extent WACS. To support these Care 
Groups, the Compliance and Assurance Team are attending action 
review meetings to ensure teams below Care Group Triumvirate 
level are clear on actions required to complete their 
recommendations. Support and Review Meetings have been 
reinstated across all Care Groups, with increased frequency 
(fortnightly) in Medicine and WACS. 

• Recommendations from the March inspection (received in July) 
have now been added to AMaT and included in the dashboards 
below. Actions to support these have been agreed with the Care 
Groups and sent to CQC for approval. Note that some 
recommendations will be met through existing ones. These have 
been added to AMaT and will be left open, to close when the 
original recommendation is complete. A summary of current action 
status including new actions is provided below: 

Actions to address CQC Recommendations CQC 
Should Do 

CQC 
Must Do Total  

Not Applicable 
  

0 
Unable to complete / not required 

 
3* 3* 

New Actions (commenced Aug 22) 23 16 39 
Behind Schedule - Complete Before Oct 22 14 41 55 
On Schedule - Complete Before Oct 22 11 11 22 
On Schedule - Complete After Oct 22 9 18 27 
Completed (Awaiting Approval) 7 13 20 
Approved & Closed 13 13 26 
Total 77 115 192 
*The 3 actions that are recorded as unable to complete / not required are actions that 
have been determined no longer relevant to support the Trust’s compliance.   
 
 
 

12



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 
 

 

Prior 
Discussions 
 
 

Committee Date Recommendations/ 
Concerns  

N/A 
(no Quality 
Committee in August 
2022) 

N/A N/A 

 
 

 

Action to be 
recommended to 
the Committee 

The Board of Directors is asked to: 
Note:  
• Current progress of the recommendations from the CQC Inspection 

Report, NICHE Investigation Report and RCS Review. 
• Evidence of the completion of recommendations/actions is approved 

at Support & Review Panels and stored in the Trust’s AMaT 
Governance system. 

• The RCS Closure report will be finalised following completion of a 
retrospective review of randomised patient cases currently in 
progress.  

• A wider review of culture and leadership in Trauma & Orthopaedics 
(T&O) has been completed (the IBD report). The draft report has 
recently been received and will be shared with Execs in due course. 

• The Ockenden Review published its Final Report in May 2022. This 
has been reviewed and mapped into AMaT so WACS can develop 
an action plan to deliver the required improvements against each 
recommendation.  

• The new CQC report has been received and recommendations 
recorded on AMaT. Actions to meet recommendations are currently 
with CQC for approval, though work has commenced on these 
already. 

• The retrospective review of evidence and actions as detailed above, 
has resulted in further evidence being requested to bolster previously 
collated evidence and 3 actions being amended / discontinued. 

 
Comment:  
The dashboards below shows current figures (August 2022) with 
previous months (July 2022) above. Whilst this shows a declining 
position numerically, it should be noted that there is additional 
assurance/evidence that actions recorded as complete have 
comprehensive evidence. In 50% of cases where the need for 
additional evidence has been identified, this should be collated quickly 
to return actions back to completed status for the next reporting cycle.  
 
Escalate: 
Since the last report there has been a delay in the progression of CQC 
Must and Should Do’s, particularly in the Medicine Care Group and to a 
lesser extent WACS. To support these Care Groups, the Compliance 
and Assurance Team are attending action review meetings to ensure 
teams below Care Group Triumvirate level are clear on actions 
required to complete their recommendations. Support and Review 
Meetings have been reinstated across all Care Groups, within 
increased frequency (fortnightly) in Medicine and WACS. 

13



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

  
  
Link to Key 
Priorities 
 
 

Delivering 
outstanding 
care and 
experience  

Create the 
culture and 
conditions for 
colleagues to 
be the very best 
they can be 

Make the best 
use of our 
physical and 
financial 
resources 
 

Working in 
partnership 

x x x x 
 

 
 

 

Impact on Board 
Assurance 
Framework or 
Corporate Risk 
Register 

• The combined action plan has been recognised in the refreshed 
BAF. 

Risk Impact 
Assessment   

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Equality Impact 
Assessment  

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Quality Impact 
Assessment  

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Environmental / 
Sustainability 
Impact 
Assessment 

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

 
 

 

Acronyms 
AMAT Audit Management and Tracking System 
CQC Care Quality Commission 
ESP Enhanced Support Programme 

HSCA Health and Social Care Act 2008 
NICHE Niche Healthcare Consulting Ltd 
RCS Royal College of Surgeons 
RSP Recovery Support Programme 
SCC Surgery & Critical Care Group 
SIB System Improvement Board 
SOF System Oversight Framework 
T&O Trauma & Orthopaedics 

WACS Women and Children’s Services 
 
  

14



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Improvement Plans - Combined Dashboard (July Position) 

Recommendation 
Status 

NICHE 
Report1 

RCS 
 Report2 

CQC Must 
Do's 

CQC 
 Should 

Do's 
Total 

Not Applicable 19 0 0 0 19 

Unable to Complete 0 0 0 0 0 

Not Started6 0 0 0 0 0 

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

0 0 21 
 

8 
 

29 
 

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion After 
Oct 2022) 

0 0 2 
 

1 
 

3 
 

In Progress  
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

48 7 1 
 

0 
 

56 
 

In Progress  
(Completion after 
Oct 2022) 

2 0 2 
 

1 
 

5 
 

Fully Completed 
(awaiting approval)3 3 0 12 

 
8 
 

23 
 

Fully Completed & 
Approved4 0 0 16 

 
14 
 

30 
 

Total  72 7 54 32 165 

Notes:  
1. NICHE: position based on progress within the Urology Service. A further plan will be reported from May detailing NICHE 

recommendations with wider applicability across the Trust. 
2. RCS: Timescale for completion for Trust Recommendations is still being assessed, Dashboard will be updated when 

reliable data is available. 
3. Lead has confirmed actions completed, evidence to be scrutinised at Support & Review Panel 
4. Completed and evidence scrutinised and approved at Support & Review Panel 
5. Status Key: 

 N/A - Not Applicable 
 UC – Unchanged: No Change on figures in previous report 
 B – Better (Up to 10% Improvement) 
 MB – Much Better (Greater than 10% Improvement) 
 W – Worse (Up to 10% Deterioration) 
 MW – Much Worse (Greater than 10% Deterioration) 

The use of % measurements means that any changes in a Recommendation Status that contain less then 10 
Recommendations can only be reported as ‘Much Better’ or ‘Much Worse’, please see section 2 

6. Category retained - Following the most recent CQC inspections of Urgent Care Services and Medicine services there 
will be further recommendations received which will be incorporated into the overarching plan once received. 

7. Increase In Behind Schedule due to 5 recommendations not being approved at Support & Review Panel and now 
requiring further work, these are detailed in section 1 

8. Decrease in Completed Awaiting Approval due to Recommendations approved/closed at Support & Review Panel 
9. Increase in Fully Completed due to Recommendations approved and closed at Support & Review Panel 

 
Improvement Plans - Combined Dashboard (August Position –Includes the new 

recommendations) 

Recommendation 
Status 

NICHE 
Report1 

RCS 
 Report2 

CQC 
Must Do's 

CQC 
 Should 

Do's 
Total Status5 

15



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Not Applicable 19 0 0 0 19 UC 

Unable to Complete 0 0 0 0 0 UC 

Not Started6 (new 
recommendations, 
July 2022) 

0 0 7 19 26 W 

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

0 0 29 16 45 MW 

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion After 
Oct 2022) 

0 0 2 1 3 UC 

In Progress  
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

50 7 1 0 58 W 

In Progress  
(Completion after 
Oct 2022) 

0 0 8 1 9 W 

Fully Completed 
(awaiting approval)3 3 0 9 2 14 W 

Fully Completed & 
Approved4 0 0 5 12 17 MW 

Total  72 7 61 51 191  

*See key in first table (page 5) for footnote explanations 
 
CQC Dashboards by Care Group (Inclusive of new Recommendations) 
**Status column will be populated from next month to show direction of travel, as this is the first report of recommendations at 
care group level. 
 

Medicine (August Position) 

Recommendation 
Status 

NICHE 
Report1 

RCS 
 Report2 

CQC 
Must Do's 

CQC 
 Should 

Do's 
Total **Status5 

 

Not Started6 N/A N/A 5 18 23  

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 17 5 22  

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion After 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

In Progress  
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

In Progress  
(Completion after 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 7 0 7  

16



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Fully Completed 
(awaiting approval)3 N/A N/A 4 5 9  

Fully Completed & 
Approved4 N/A N/A 4 3 7  

Total  N/A N/A 37 31 68  

*See key in first table (page 5) for footnote explanations 

 

WACS (August Position) 

Recommendation 
Status 

NICHE 
Report1 

RCS 
 Report2 

CQC 
Must Do's 

CQC 
 Should 

Do's 
Total Status5 

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 11 4 15  

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion After 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 0 1 1  

In Progress  
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 1 0 1  

In Progress  
(Completion after 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 0 1 1  

Fully Completed 
(awaiting approval)3 N/A N/A 1 1 2  

Fully Completed & 
Approved4 N/A N/A 1 3 4  

Total  N/A N/A 14 10 24  

*See key in first table (page 5) for footnote explanations 

 

Surgery & Critical Care (August Position) 

Recommendation 
Status 

NICHE 
Report1 

RCS 
 Report2 

CQC 
Must Do's 

CQC 
 Should 

Do's 
Total Status5 

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 1 3 4  

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion After 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

In Progress  
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

In Progress  
(Completion after 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

17



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Fully Completed 
(awaiting approval)3 N/A N/A 0 0 0  

Fully Completed & 
Approved4 N/A N/A 0 3 3  

Total  N/A N/A 1 6 7  

*See key in first table (page 5) for footnote explanations 

 

Pharmacy (August Position) 

Recommendation 
Status 

NICHE 
Report1 

RCS 
 Report2 

CQC 
Must Do's 

CQC 
 Should 

Do's 
Total Status5 

Not Started6 (new 
recommendations, 
July 2022) 

N/A N/A 2 1 3  

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 0 1 1  

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion After 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 1 0 1  

In Progress  
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

In Progress  
(Completion after 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

Fully Completed 
(awaiting approval)3 N/A N/A 0 0 0  

Fully Completed & 
Approved4 N/A N/A 0 2 2  

Total  N/A N/A 3 4 7  

*See key in first table (page 5) for footnote explanations 

 

Corporate functions (Governance, P&OD, Ops) - August Position 

Recommendation 
Status 

NICHE 
Report1 

RCS 
 Report2 

CQC 
Must Do's 

CQC 
 Should 

Do's 
Total Status5 

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 3 0 3  

In Progress - 
Behind Schedule 
(Completion After 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 2 0 2  

In Progress  
(Completion by Oct 
2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

18



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

In Progress  
(Completion after 
Oct 2022) 

N/A N/A 0 0 0  

Fully Completed 
(awaiting approval)3 N/A N/A 0 0 0  

Fully Completed & 
Approved4 N/A N/A 1 0 1  

Total  N/A N/A 6 0 6  

*See key in first table (page 5) for footnote explanations 
 
It should be noted that a number of the new recommendations included in the above analysis are 
duplicates of recommendations from 2021, most of these will be met through the existing 
recommendations and as such no new action plans will be implemented against these 
recommendations. This is to avoid unnecessary duplication of effort and reporting. Additionally, all 
recommendations relating to improvements in the Stroke service and pathway will be met through the 
delivery of one integrated improvement plan. 
 
  

19



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS OF MORECAMBE BAY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), NICHE and Royal College of Surgeons 

(RCS) Improvement Plans 
 

Key Points 
 
1. Progress with CQC Must & Should Do’s has slowed during July and August 2022, particularly in 

the Medicine Care group and to a lesser extent WACS. The Compliance and Assurance Team are 
now, therefore, attending action review meetings to ensure teams below Care Group Triumvirate 
level are clear on actions required to complete their recommendations. 

 
2. A retrospective ‘look back’ review led by the new Deputy Director of Governance (DDoG), who has 

extensive experience working for the CQC, has been completed and a number of actions / 
recommendations will require some additional evidence or re-formatting to ensure full assurance 
can be provided. This has resulted in 25 recommendations and actions being demoted from 
‘completed and approved’ to ‘in progress’. Most of these, however, only require minor additions or 
a little bit more evidence, therefore, are likely to be re-approved at the next tranche of Support & 
Review Panels. 

 
3. Work continues with the RSP to progress the Niche recommendations and develop more robust 

governance and assurance structure and processes in liaison with NHSI/E colleagues. 
 
Background/Context 
 
4. There are three Improvement Plans that contain a combined total of 191 Recommendations (112 

CQC, 72 NICHE, 7 RCS), that are being addressed through 349 Actions (192 CQC, 150 NICHE, 
7 RCS). Some Recommendations are being addressed through multiple Actions. 

 
5. CQC Recommendations are from Inspection Reports published in August 2021, October 2021 and 

July 2022.  
 
6. The NICHE Recommendations are from the impartial commissioned report published in November 

2021 – elements of the NICHE report had previously been incrementally shared with the Trust. 
 
7. The RCS Recommendations are from an Inspection Report published in November 2021 
 
8. The successful completion of the above recommendations are required to sustainably improve 

quality and safety across the Trust. The CQC Must Do’s are also a SOF level 4 exit criteria for the 
Trust. 
 

9. The majority (approx. 70%) of these recommendations are interdependent with themes and 
priorities identified within the RSP Work streams. 
 

10. All actions/recommendations relating to improvements required in Stroke services/pathways are 
met through one extensive improvement plan  

 
Advise: Improvement Plan Implementation Update 
 
11. A summary of progress for the recommendations in the 3 plans (Niche, RCS, CQC) is provided in 

the dashboards above providing the overall position. 
 

20



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

12. Support & Review Panels continue to be held, to oversee progress and review evidence presented 
by Care Group Senior Management Teams. The Compliance and Assurance Team is continuing 
to work with the Care Groups to ensure they are prepared for the panels and understand what 
information to provide and have themselves been assured of progress and evidence in advance. 

 
Some examples of quality improvements evidenced through completed recommendations so far 
are provided below for reference and assurance: 
• CQC MD10 – Significant improvements in Stroke care pathway with improved monitoring of 

outcomes and escalation of delays or risks 
• CQC MD15 – Improved compliance with the management and storage of controlled drugs 

with a strengthening of oversight and monitoring / audit processes 
• CQC MD53 – Improvements made in the Paediatric waiting area at FGH to ensure full 

compliance with staffing and environmental standards 
• CQC MD67 – Significant improvement in compliance with Safeguarding Level 3 training 

requirements for medical staff, now consistently above 90% 
 
13. The progress in completing recommendations and the trajectory for completion is detailed in the 

two below graphs 
 

 

 
 

7
1 1

1

2 2 1

3
4 3 2 5

16

1
7 21

3

9

1

1

48

1

1

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

CQC, NICHE Recommendations - Completion Trajectory
(October 2021 to March 2025, Data as of 18/08/2022)

CQC Must Do - Completed CQC Should Do - Completed NICHE - Completed
CQC Must Do - In Progress CQC Should Do - In Progress NICHE - In Progress

21



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 
 
14. NICHE: Leadership to the NICHE Recommendations has been assigned to the ECN with oversight 

from EDG, QAC and the trust board. 
  

15. The 72 recommendations in the report are addressed to several stakeholders:  

• University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust (49) (plus three shared 
recommendations)  

• NHS England and NHS Improvement (12)  
• Care Quality Commission (1)  
• Royal College of Surgeons (1)  
• General Medical Council (1)  
• Clinical Commissioning Groups (now becoming Integrated Care Systems (ICS)) (6)  
• Shared national recommendations (2) 
 

16. The Trust is working towards achieving level 3 (minimum) compliance against all applicable 
recommendations against the Niche (NIAF) framework model (see below).  

 

1 3 2 1 2 7
0

4 3
0

3
8

73

2
9

1 20

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

CQC, NICHE & RCS Recommendations - Completion Trajectory
(October 2021 to March 2025, Data as 18/08/2022)

Total Approved & Closed Total Completed (Awaiting Approval)
Total Completed - In Month Total In Progress

22



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 
 
17. The Trust’s last ‘Statement of Purpose’ submission to the CQC listed a total of 49 Clinical 

Specialties/Departments (including Urology) in our Acute and Community Services.  It is 
understood that the ‘Trust Wide’ Actions to address the NICHE Recommendation have a potential 
scope that is significantly larger than the Urology specific actions that have been completed. 

 
18. In March 2022, NHSE/I undertook an exercise to review evidence submitted against the Niche 

Recommendations and offered feedback in respect of some key areas. The initial priority was to 
review and strengthen the governance structure and accountability framework, which has now 
been completed and agreed by Trust Management Group. Care groups are now being engaged 
as part of implementation with roll out during August 2022. 
 

19. Considerable evidence was collected from 2019-21, however, following an initial review of all trust 
applicable recommendations in July/August 22, a decision has been taken to reopen 
recommendations previously thought to be complete on the basis of testing and enriching the 
evidence in collaboration with the specialty, care group and executive corporate leads over the last 
year.  
 

20. The Niche team have requested an initial understanding of the UHMB Recovery Support 
Programme (RSP) and governance processes in place within the Trust to understand how this is 
helping to implement the recommendations. This includes our response to other recommendations 
made by the CQC and RCS and the cross-over with these. 
 

21. Our response to our various external reviews (RCS, Niche, Ockenden, IBD, CQC etc.) is complex 
and requires cross reference mapping, and cross-sectional compliance across challenging 
domains and functions. We also need to be efficient and smart with our evidence and ‘do the job 
once’. The trust response to the Niche report is therefore one, two and three dimensional.  

 
Niche Governance and Assurance processes  
 
22. A twice weekly Support and Review (S&R) meeting is now in place with the care group and 

specialty: 

• To provide a documented narrative on how the recommendation will/is being delivered 
• To present and consider existing evidence 

23



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

• To use the collective knowledge to identify further evidence.  
• External ‘critical friend’ support to the existing evidence 1 week ahead to offer a helpful 

challenge on the quality of the evidence and to rate (0-5) NIAF  
• A work plan and revisit loop in place to revisit actions and work required  
• Links underway to align all RSP relevant evidence for local and wider applicability 
• Walkabouts to test assurance (one stop clinics/ward rounds/ theatres /WLO/ attendance at 

Urology business meetings, Audit, M&M, CBU, SGAG and Surgical board.  

23. A monthly task and finish group in now in place, This meeting has been established by the Senior 
Responsible Officer (Executive Chief Nurse) and Director of Governance  to take all necessary 
actions as required to ensure demonstrable progress/ completion of the recommendations 
provided from the Niche review. The group will provide oversight, visibility, and tracking of planned 
actions to deliver the recommendations. Assurance reporting will be managed through the Quality 
Assurance Committee, Trust Board, and appropriate Regulators over the next 6–9 months. 

 
Progress  

24. In previous board reports, a status for the Niche recommendations has been provided through an 
extract from AMaT, with status based on an internal compliance and assurance review. 
 

25. Since July 22 we have the support of an external compliance and assurance specialist and 
additional dedicated internal Associate Director (Enhanced Support Programme) and governance 
support to assist in seeking, checking, and testing this evidence for quality, based on the NIAF 
(Niche Investigation Assurance framework) with all recommendations assessed against the 0-5 
score.  
 

26. The dashboard below described a baseline on an initial assessment of the quality of evidence 
provided. The evidence is pulled from the date of the recommendation alert - we need to provide 
demonstrable evidence of our improvement since being alerted to the issues shared in the 4 interim 
reports shared with the trust between October 20 and November 21: 

 

 

 

24



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

27. RCS: RCS Closure report will be finalised following completion of a retrospective review of 
randomised patient cases which is currently in progress over the coming months. 

 
28. A Standard Operating Protocol (SOP) has also been drafted (to be approved at September 

Procedural Documents Group) to clarify how recommendations and actions arising from 
inspections are to be managed, progressed and signed off in a consistent and systematic manner. 
This is included as an appendix.  

 
29. The schedule for Support & Review Panels for H1 2022/23 is as follows: 
 

Date Care Group Comments/Outcome 
04/05/2022 Surgery & Critical 

Care 
Chaired by Head of Library and Knowledge Services. 
4 previously completed Recommendations were 
approved for closure. 
The remaining 3 Recommendations are still in 
progress, a plan was presented for progressing these.  
One relates to security doors and is with Estates for 
completion (target date TBC with Estates), the other 
relates to appraisal performance compliance levels 
(Target date Oct-22). 

31/05/2022 Medicine Chaired by Director of Governance. 
41 Actions were reviewed, with 21 being closed, 9 
requiring further evidence for closure and 11 that 
have improved but are not yet at closure standard.  
This resulted in 11 previously completed 
Recommendations being approved for closure and 1 
Recommendation completed in May also approved 
for closure. 
9 Actions and 9 Recommendations are currently 
scheduled for closure review at the next panel 
meeting. 

31/05/2022 WACS Chaired by Director of Governance. 
24 Actions were reviewed, with 12 being closed, 3 
requiring further evidence for closure and 9 that have 
improved but are not yet are not yet at closure 
standard.  
This resulted in 5 previously completed 
Recommendations being approved for closure and 3 
Recommendations completed in May also approved 
for closure. 
3 Actions and 2 Recommendations are currently 
scheduled for closure review at the next panel 
meeting. 

22/06/2022 Medicine Chaired by DoG. 
17 actions and recommendations were reviewed. 5 
recommendations returned to ‘in progress’ for further 
assurance and evidence to be provided. 1 
recommendation closed. 
A number of ‘in progress’ actions were discussed to 
seek assurances on the level of progress. No 
additional risks were identified. 

20/06/2022 WACS Chaired by DoG. 

25



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Only 3 recommendations were discussed with no 
changes in status due to operational pressures 
hampering progress and timing of meeting. 

18/07/2022 Corporate 
(People & OD) 

Chaired by Interim Head of C&A 
1 Recommendation Reviewed, confirmed Culture 
Plan has three-year timescale. 
2 Actions completed, 2 Actions Progressed 

19/07/2022 Corporate 
(Operations 

- Deputy COO) 

Chaired by Interim Head of C&A 
6 actions and recommendations were reviewed. 4 
actions and 2 recommendations were closed with 
sufficient evidence and assurance agreed. 

2/07/2022 Pharmacy Chaired by Interim Head of C&A 
5 Recommendations reviewed, 2 approved for 
closure, 2 progressed and expected to be closed in 
September. 

21/07/2022 Medicine Chaired by Interim Head of C&A 
All outstanding actions (21) and recommendations 
(20) were reviewed. None completed, extended 
completion dates agreed. 
 

25/07/2022 WACS Chaired by Director of Governance 
All outstanding recommendations and actions 
reviewed. 4 recommendations provided with suitable 
evidence and closed. Extended completion dates 
agreed for remaining actions, the high number of 
procedural documents for review and update was 
agreed for completion by February 2023. 

15/08/2022 Medicine Meeting chaired by Director of Governance. All 
outstanding recommendations and actions reviewed, 
updated status and completion dates agreed. No 
further recommendations approved as complete. 

15/08/2022 WACS Meeting chaired by Director of Governance. All 
outstanding recommendations and actions reviewed, 
updated status and completion dates agreed.  

The Attendees of the Support and review Panels are normally; Care Group Triumvirate/ Functional 
Directors/Managers, Director of Governance, Deputy DoG, Head of Library & Knowledge Services, RSP 
Programme Director, Interim Governance Business Partner. 
*Dates for Meetings with Corporate/Specialist functions with recommendations are being finalised and will be 
articulated in the next report. 

 
30. Future dates for Support and Review Panels are currently being scheduled to ensure closer 

alignment with Quality Assurance Committee and Board reporting schedules and deadlines. 
Medicine and WACS will also have 2 panels per month due to the number of actions and 
recommendations as of September 2022.  
 

31. A programme of ‘deep dives’ will now be explored post completion of recommendations to test 
sustainability and embeddedness of improvements and assurance processes in relation to these. 
This will commence in Q3 2022/23 when most recommendations will have been completed. 
These will cover: 
 
• Clinical Governance 
• Corporate Governance 
• Culture and Leadership 
• Fundamental Standards of Care 

26



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

• Infection Prevention 
• Information Governance (Patient Confidentiality) 
• Medicine Management 
• Patient Dignity and Respect 
• Patient Safeguarding 
• Staffing Appraisal and training 
• Staffing Numbers 

 
Alert 
 
32. Concerns and Issues Log 
 

No. Concerns and Issues Score Mitigation 
1 Competing Operational Priorities 

e.g. COVID, Recovery and 
Restoration 
In particular in Medicine and 
WACS Care Group 

16 Fortnightly review meetings with 
Care Groups and Corporate function 
to identify and escalate areas of 
concern.  WACS raised capacity 
issues at August IPR meeting.  
Director of Governance has liaised 
with both care groups to offer ideas 
regarding capacity 

2 Completion of all NICHE 
Recommendations (minimum NIAF 
Level 3) by SOF Level 4 target exit 
date of 31/03/2023. 

12 Review recommendations to 
establish an accurate trajectory for 
completion. 
Escalation of concerns as required. 

3 Compliance and Assurance staff 
resilience 
 

12 Explore options for additional 
capacity/flex of wider establishment 
in event of long term absence  
 

4 AMaT System Manager resilience 10 Cross training of other AMaT Super 
Users to provide resilience 

5 Concentration of 
Recommendations with Target 
completion date of 31/03/22, are 
these dates ‘year-end place 
markers’ 

8 Following Monthly Review Meetings 
with Care Group new/revised target 
dates have been requested, and are 
awaiting approval. 

6 Increased risk of not meeting RSP 
exit criteria due to potential for a 
number of additional 
recommendations following the 
recent inspections.  

9 Await feedback and plan accordingly. 
Consider additional capacity or 
reprioritisation of priorities.  

7 AMaT System Failure 
 

5 AMaT is web based and cloud 
based, prolonged outage is unlikely 

 
33. The Compliance and Assurance Team will continue to work with operational teams to ensure target 

dates are realistic and work is progressing to meet the target completion dates.  
 
Quality Assurance 
 
34. Current position with actions to deliver the recommendations, from data and information inputted 

into the AMaT system are provided in the CQC Improvement Plan Dashboard, which has been 
included as a supporting document. Work will continue to: 
 

27



 
Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

• Ensure any new or revised actions are SMART-er; 
• Identify required evidence of impact / outcome and completion for each 

recommendation/action; 
• NHS E/I Team have supported Urgent Care with a review of their actions and evidence to be 

provided to assure of completion; 
• Stress test supporting evidence for ‘completed’ actions for robustness (through Support & 

Review Panels); 
• Consolidate different RAG ratings for consistency, with reference to RSP reporting, with 

clearer criteria for each; 
• More robust QA and scrutiny of status updates referring back the recommendations and 

outcomes in terms of quality and safety; 
• Make clearer links / references to improvement projects and initiatives progressing through 

other plans / frameworks; and 
• Understand mitigations or support needs in relation to those actions in progress but behind 

schedule. 
• Establish interconnected reporting systems with support from i3 between plans and priorities 
• Embed and strengthen the functioning of Support & Review Panels 

 
Recommendation 
 
35. The Board of Directors is requested to: 
 
Note:  

• Current position of the recommendations from the CQC Inspection Report, NICHE 
Investigation Report and RCS Review; 

• Evidence to support completion of all actions/recommendations continues to be populated 
within AMaT to allow for tolerance testing; 

• Schedule of Support and Review Panel Meetings with Care Groups is in progress  
• The aim to achieve level three compliance with the Bruce standards (NAIF) of assurance 
• CQC report from March inspection has now been received, mapped to AMaT and actions to 

deliver the recommendations have been drafted for approval by CQC 
• Recent review of progress and evidence led by the new DDoG and further assurances and 

evidence to be provided by Care Groups 
 
Comment:  

• Comment on and make any suggestions for improvement in relation to progress reporting; 
• Further comments in relation to progress towards completion of any recommendations 

 
Escalate: 

• A slowing of progress with CQC Must and Should Do’s, particularly in the Medicine Care Group, 
resulting in fortnightly meetings to discuss progress being established 

• To make the Board aware that whilst it is disappointing to report that a number of 
recommendations/actions have been subjected to increased scrutiny and found to be inadequate, 
this has been identified with sufficient time to address and that this will not delay the final 
completion of the totality of the work before 31/03/23  

28



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC/NICHE/RCS Improvement Plan Dashboards 
 
Table1: Summary of Recommendation Allocation by Trust Care Group 
 

Report Trust Wide / 
Corporate 

Medicine Surgery WACs Community Core Clinical 
Services 

Total 

NICHE 65 0 7 0 0 0 72 
RCS 0 0 7 0 0 0 7 

CQC Must Do 6 37 1 14 0 3 61 
CQC Should Do 1 31 6 10 0 4 52 

Total 72 68 21 24 0 7 192 
 
Table2: Summary of Recommendation Allocation by Trust Tier 1 (Committee) Meeting 
 

Report Trust Management 
Group 

Audit Committee Finance 
Committee 

People Committee Quality Assurance 
Committee 

Total 

NICHE 12 15 0 10 35 72 
RCS 2 0 0 2 3 7 

CQC Must Do 14 2 0 10 35 61 
CQC Should Do 13 0 0 11 27 52 

Total 41 17 0 33 100 192 

29



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Table3: Summary of Recommendation Allocation by UHMBT Theme and Remits of Tier 1 Meetings 

Tier 1 Meeting Remit UHMBT Theme  NICHE RCS CQC 
Must Do 

CQC 
Should Do Total 

Audit Committee Corporate Governance 15   2   17 
Finance Committee N/A - No Recommendations N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

People Committee 

Culture and Leadership 8   2 2 12 
Staffing: Appraisal and CSF Training 1 1   3 5 
Staffing: Health and Wellbeing 1     1 2 
Staffing: Non-CSF Training   1 3 1 5 
Staffing: Staffing Numbers     5 4 9 

Quality Committee 

Clinical Governance 20 2 11 3 36 
Clinical Strategy 1   1 1 3 
Consent 1 1     2 
EPR/Patient Records 5  1 1 7 
Fundamental Care Standards 3   6 4 13 
Infection Prevention     1 3 4 
Information Governance 1  1 3 4 
Medicines Management     5 7 12 
Mental Capacity/Mental Health 1   2 2 5 
Mortality & Morbidity 3       3 
Patient Dignity & Respect   3 1 4 
Safeguarding     3 2 5 
Sepsis     1   1 

Trust Management Group 

Estates     1 7 8 
Operational Performance     5 2  7 
Performance Monitoring & Reporting 3     1  4 
Service Design and Delivery 9 2   1 12 

Cross Remit 
Maternity Services     3 2 5 
Stroke Services   5  5 

Total 72 7 61 52 192 

30



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Table 4: Recommendations by Tier 1 (Committee) Meeting - alphabetical order of meeting 
 

Report Ref. Tier 1 Meeting Recommendation 
NICHE SD50 Audit 

Committee 
Recommendation 50 - Clarify role of governors and escalation mechanisms 
 • Governor training and induction programmes should be revisited to confirm that methods for escalating concerns are clearly set 
out and understood. 
 • Procedures for escalation should include processes for resolution where governors remain dissatisfied with responses to issues 
raised. 

NICHE SD51 Audit 
Committee 

Recommendation 51 - Institutional memory 
 Formal handover procedures should be in place for all incoming and outgoing Board members (including postholders with 
committee chair roles). These handovers should include employee relations issues and sub-specialty summaries. 

NICHE SD56 Audit 
Committee 

Recommendation 56 (ICS/CCG) Terms of reference for all quality assurance forums should be explicit about specific areas of focus, 
reports to be considered and how issues should be monitored.  
Key Issues Reports should be used for escalation.  
An issues log should be maintained which identifies concerns with departments/specialties involved and this should be shared, 
populated and reviewed at key governance forums. 

NICHE SD57 Audit 
Committee 

Recommendation 57 (ICS/CCG) - Internal audit should test the efficacy of CCG assurance at a Trust specialty level as part of its 
annual work programme. 

NICHE MD1
9 

Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

Recommendation 19 - Lorenzo 
 All scan and clinical results should be acknowledged by the requester.  
Clinicians should be trained on the use of Lorenzo to ensure that they are aware of how to complete this activity. 
 It should be made clear to all staff in which part of Lorenzo key documentation should be filed to reduce the amount of time spent 
finding key clinical information. 
 A record of stent register status should be clearly marked and visible. 

NICHE MD2
0 

Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

Recommendation 20 - Recording of ethnicity 
 • The sample provided does not include information on ethnicity other than White or Unknown/Mixed. The Trust should examine 
whether it is recording ethnicity in its records in line with expected practice. 

31



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE MD3
0 

Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

Recommendation 30 (ICS/CCG) - Clinical records in the form of emails (Link to R34(E)) 
 • The Trust should add all Consultant staff email accounts to their Very Important Persons (VIP) list for a period of seven years once 
employment is ended. 
 • The Trust should revisit its record-keeping policy as regards the use of email communications between clinicians containing 
clinical information. This should include: 
 - clarification of what is an acceptable use of email in sharing patient specific clinical information, both internally and externally, to 
the Trust (including in clinical networks); 
 - ensuring that where patient specific clinical information is shared by email (if appropriate) that these communications are retained 
as part of the clinical record; 
 - revisiting the Trust email archiving policy, in light of the above, to ensure that emails can be retrieved where necessary (for 
example for SAR purposes); and 
 - that all professionals should record the fact that an onward communication has been made within the clinical record. 

NICHE MD5
9 

Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

Recommendation 59 (National) - Protecting patient confidentiality 
 Examine ways in which confidential patient information is appropriately anonymised for the purposes of employment tribunal 
hearings. Guidelines should include: 
 • advice to healthcare professionals on the use of patient information in these proceedings in line with Good Medical Practice 
guidance and GMC guidance on the use of personal information; 
 • advice on the relevant GDPR and Data Protection regulations and the right to protect private information for both patients, their 
families and other individuals; 
 • information relating to circumstances where patients do consent to the use of their personal information being used; and 
 • the application of how Duty of Candour applies in such circumstances. 

NICHE MD6
1 

Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

Recommendation 61 (National) - Learning from Deaths 
 Consider a revision to the Learning from Deaths guidance to ensure that patient records on death are suitably managed in original 
form by professionals to reduce the risk of posthumous amendment. 

NICHE SD34 Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

Recommendation 34 (National) - Clinical records and email communications 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should decide whether more guidance is needed in relation to the uses and retention of email 
correspondence (or other electronic communications) as part of health records and any regional or national implications of 
recommendation 9 above. 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD7
0 

Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

The service must ensure appropriate systems are used for maintaining accurate, complete and contemporaneous records for 
service users (Regulation 17(2)(c)) 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD23 Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

The trust should consider whether they can build a separate paediatric treatment area to meet best practice guidelines 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD56 Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure senior leaders of the department have oversight of paediatric activity and performance in the ED. 

32



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD65 Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure patient records are stored securely. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD80 Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

The service should implement effective use of the whiteboard communication system on the birth centre 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD83 Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

The Trust should ensure that privacy and confidentiality is maintained for patients when sharing personal information 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD10
3 

Finance & 
Performance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that all records are securely stored 

NICHE MD1
1 

People 
Committee 

Recommendation 11 - Professional relationships: 
 Intelligence from the InterBe meeting in August 2020 should be used to assess the severity of concerns associated with 
relationships between senior clinical staff to determine whether issues can be resolved or if other remedial action needs to be taken 

NICHE MD2
8 

People 
Committee 

Recommendation 28 - Consultant relationships (Link to R65(E)) 
 • The Trust should pay particular attention to any grievance raised by a Consultant or senior medical member of staff about another 
peer. Prompt and diligent investigations should be undertaken to ensure that the basis of concerns is fully understood and properly 
actioned to resolve peer-to-peer difficulties and concerns in a transparent and effective manner. 
 • The Board should be made aware at an early stage of any specialty where relationships may be failing as this is a key patient 
safety marker. The Board should monitor actions to achieve improvement. This should be undertaken via the Employee Relations 
Report. 
 • The Medical Director should be informed of any concerns about Consultant relationships (as Responsible Officer). 

NICHE MD3
1 

People 
Committee 

Recommendation 31 - Clinical dispute resolution 
 • The Trust should introduce a mechanism of escalation, separate to the existing grievance and Freedom to Speak Up processes, 
whereby clinical disputes (in MDTs, between individuals or within departments) are formally mediated and resolved. The 
responsibilities for professionals involved in the event to engage in this mechanism of escalation should be made clear. This should 
be supported by a formal policy and should detail timescales for reporting, arbitration, resolution, and the trigger for the involvement 
of independent clinical adjudicators. Processes to report into other forums (such as Clinical Governance, mortality review, Ethics 
Committee and Revalidation) should be made clear within this policy. 

NICHE SD45 People 
Committee 

Recommendation 45 - Managing team dysfunction 
 A uniform approach should be applied to team dysfunction. This should include: 
 • Clear communication from the Trust re the service strategy, goals and objectives - particularly around behavioural standards 
 • Holding to account against professional standards in Good Medical Practice 
 • Sustained visible leadership and “sponsorship” from the Board 
 • Intelligent review of patient outcomes and harms 
 • Follow-up, monitoring and review to ensure that behavioural improvements are sustained. 

33



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE SD46 People 
Committee 

Recommendation 46 - Duty to monitor staff wellbeing 
 The Trust has a duty to monitor staff stress levels and wellbeing and to intervene to support and understand the underlying issues 
before burn out affects patient care. The Trust should develop a cultural dashboard to identify key metrics that can provide early 
warning of team stress e.g. Occupational Health referral, employee relations concerns, engagement scores. 

NICHE SD47 People 
Committee 

Recommendation 47 - Appraisals for medical staff (Link to R40) 
 • Appraisals may identify colleagues who are having difficulties and a protocol should be put in place to safeguard staff when 
concerns are apparent. 
 • The Responsible Officer should explicitly monitor appraisals which may demonstrate team dysfunction as a means of early 
warning and to instigate remedial interventions. 
 • Specialty interests with key outcome measures at unit level should be agreed. Individual Consultants should be given lead 
responsibility for specialist areas with outcomes linked to the clinical audit programme and fixed into appraisal processes. 

NICHE SD48 People 
Committee 

Recommendation 48 - Engagement with Consultant body 
 • Engagement by executive and non-executive members of the Board with the Consultant body should be examined and options 
provided to facilitate increased opportunities for interaction. 
 • This should include a clear programme of engagement at sub-specialty level over a rolling programme. This should be in addition 
to existing Medical Advisory Committee meetings. 

NICHE SD64 People 
Committee 

Recommendation 64 (National) - Regulation and oversight of team dysfunction (Link to R65(E)) 
 • NHS England and NHS Improvement should discuss the lessons learned from this review with the Care Quality Commission and 
share them with the National Quality Board or similar regulatory oversight group, in respect of the failings to resolve the long 
standing dysfunction in this team. 
 • NHS England and NHS Improvement should provide clear guidance about what external support might be available to Trusts from 
the regional medical directors’ teams and the advisory options when there is team dysfunction emerging. 
 • Regulatory activity should review the effective functioning of the Responsible Officer role in regard to managing concerns where 
team dysfunction may be apparent. 
 • Guidance should include ensuring Trusts are encouraged to seek early support where team dysfunction may put patient safety at 
risk. 

NICHE SD66 People 
Committee 

Recommendation 66 (National) - Whistleblowing 
 Guidance on setting up appropriate governance processes should be developed to support intractable whistleblowing cases. It 
should aim to provide resolution to concerns and facilitate learning in relation to patient safety. 

NICHE SD68 People 
Committee 

Recommendation 68 (National) - Role of the GMC in relation to team dysfunction 
 The GMC should reflect on this investigation. They should: 
 • seek to understand how and if team dysfunction issues impact on fitness to practice investigations. 
 • whether the role of medical managers and their fitness to practice (in relation to their management function) have been sufficiently 
considered in this case. 
 • ensure that GMC guidance in relation to the RO regulations is up to date and considers the 2013 amendments to the regulations 
and learning since the role was introduced. 
 • indicate to Trusts that the GMC Connect dashboard can be made accessible to Medical Directors as well as the RO team. 

34



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5 People 
Committee 

The trust must continue to make improvements in the culture of the organisation, especially within maternity and trauma and 
orthopaedics, to enable staff to be supported to perform their duties effectively.  
(Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD2
0 

People 
Committee 

The trust must improve the multidisciplinary working and culture between the department and specialities and speciality teams to 
maximise patient care and outcomes. (Regulation 12 (2) (i); Regulation 17 (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5
2 

People 
Committee 

The trust must ensure all relevant staff have completed Paediatric Advanced Life Support when supporting paediatric provision in 
the emergency department. (Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5
3 

People 
Committee 

The trust must review the service’s paediatric staffing provision, including the environment they wait in and the paediatric nursing 
and medical cover in line with The Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (RCPCH) Standards for Children and Young 
People in Emergency settings (2012) (Regulation 18(1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD6
6 

People 
Committee 

The service must ensure there are sufficient maternity staff with the right qualifications, skills, training and experience to keep 
women safe from avoidable harm and to provide the right care and treatment. (Regulation 18 (1)(2)(a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD9
2 

People 
Committee 

The service must ensure they deploy sufficient suitably competent and experienced staff and ensure all staff receive appropriate 
skills and drills training and professional development to enable them to maintain competency given the low numbers of deliveries. 
(Regulation 18 (1) (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD9
8 

People 
Committee 

The service must ensure nurse staffing levels meet the minimum standards of the National Institute of Health and Care 
 Excellence.  
Regulation 18 (1): Staffing. 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD9
9 

People 
Committee 

The service must ensure medical staffing levels meet the minimum standards of the Royal College of Physicians. 
 Regulation 18 (1): Staffing 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD34 People 
Committee 

The trust should take appropriate actions to improve staff mandatory training, including safeguarding training in line with trust 
compliance targets. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD35 People 
Committee 

The trust should take appropriate actions to improve staff appraisal completion in line with trust compliance targets 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD93 People 
Committee 

The service should consider protected time to allow for the completion of mandatory training 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD95 People 
Committee 

The service should work to engage the workforce and increase visibility of the executive team 

RCS MD1 People 
Committee 

Actions the Trust Must take to ensure patient safety is protected: 
 A review of redacted clinical activity in performing unicompartmental knee replacements is required given the review may indicate 
an insufficient number of these procedures being undertaken to maintain the appropriate skill set required for the techniques 
involved. 

35



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

RCS MD2 People 
Committee 

Actions the Trust Must take to ensure patient safety is protected: 
 Assure evidence of redacted training in anterior approach surgery before further anterior approach hip replacements are performed. 

NICHE MD2 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 2 - Quality and safety data in the Integrated Performance Report: 
 The quality and safety data in the Integrated Quality and Performance Report (IQPR) should be expanded to include trend and 
thematic analysis. Key quality and safety metrics should be included in a new upfront performance dashboard and hotspot reporting 
should include more detailed analysis on key risks 

NICHE MD4 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 4 - Urology audit: 
 The newly appointed Urology Audit Lead should have dedicated and experienced support to provide best practice guidance on 
conducting audit and governance meetings. The terms of reference and agendas for the audit meeting should be drawn from best 
practice in other Urology services 

NICHE MD5 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at department and care group level before presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It 
should also be developed further to provide more appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable the reader to understand performance ‘at a glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance through the use of early warning indicators and forecasting in order to allow timely 
identification of deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative data relating to patient and staff experience, including patient feedback in the form 
of real time and retrospective data collection, staff pulse surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics (e.g. turnover, appraisals, 
training, use of agency staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by staff) 

NICHE MD8 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 8 - Quality of investigations in Urology services: 
 All reported incidents and complaints received in relation to Urology services should, for a period of at least 12 months, be 
investigated by a dedicated independent team outside the department which has access to independent Urology advice. This would 
remove pressure on the existing team to investigate each other and provide room to work on relationship development. It would also 
help to set a standard for future high-quality investigations.  
[This recommendation related to incidents and complaints requiring investigation not all cases] 

NICHE MD9 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 9 - Thematic review: 
 Quality performance reporting should include thematic and same causal factor analysis of complaints, litigation, incidents, and 
PALS information to ensure that lessons can be learned, and actions taken to prevent recurrence of the same. Themes should be 
discussed at departmental, care group, and committee level with a clear focus on actioning improvement 

NICHE MD1
0 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 10 - Mortality review (Link to R15 and R26) 
 Every inpatient Urology death must have a case review conducted by Consultant Urologists with external support in using 
structured judgement review (SJR) methodology (Royal College of Physicians) or other recognised case note review methodology 
and be subject to Trust level scrutiny (as per Trust Policy). Every death must then be presented without exception to a Urology 
mortality meeting. These should be separate from audit and multidisciplinary team (MDT) meetings until such time that mortality 
review becomes an accepted and business as usual activity 

36



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE MD1
4 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 14 - Fluid balance monitoring 
 Fluid balance practice should be audited and a programme of high-quality recording put in place for Urology patients. 

NICHE MD1
5 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 15 - Mortality review (Link to R10 and R26) 
 • Following on from our recommendation on mortality review in our Draft Current Controls Assessment Report, the Trust must 
develop a robust mechanism for identifying deaths by speciality using both admission and treatment function codes and other 
identifiers. This should include deaths up to 30 days post-discharge. 
 • The HOGAN and National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) scoring arising from mortality reviews 
must be subject to audit and further scrutiny within the Trust. 
 • All NCEPOD or HOGAN scores of 2 or above should give rise to further review by the Trust, investigation where appropriate and 
the potential need for Duty of Candour processes. 

NICHE MD1
6 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 15 - Named Consultants  
• Named Consultants, for complex patients, should be introduced in Urology. This should include non-cancer patients. Complex 
cases without a diagnosis should be discussed at MDT or Radiology meetings.  
• Clinicians should be allocated clinical responsibility for the oversight of pathways including by cancer type to develop greater 
ownership and to drive improvements in services. (See R54(E)). 

NICHE MD1
7 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 17 - Capacity and best interests: applying the Mental Capacity Act 2005 
 • Capacity assessment and best interest decision-making should be improved through audit, training, and best practice examples. 
 • An enhanced focus should be given to people presenting with dementia or confusion and those with a learning disability. 
 • A thematic review examining the pathway, management and replacement of suprapubic catheters should be undertaken. 

NICHE MD1
8 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 18 - Consent 
 Consent for operations must be completed on every occasion.  
Any consent not completed correctly must be reported and investigated to improve practice. 
 Consenting practice should be subject to audit and should include whether the patient dated the consent and the practice of 
confirmation of consent where the operating surgeon is different from the consenting surgeon. 
 Theatre staff should be alerted to our concerns regarding consenting practice and be authorised to report all incidents where 
consent is not compliant with expected practice. 

NICHE MD2
1 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 21 - Case note review 
 • There should be a repeat case note review (100 cases) in 12 months (Autumn 2022) to assess if improvements have been 
sustained and embedded. 

37



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE MD2
3 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 23 - Clinical monitoring 
 The Trust should continue to embed good practice and use of: 
 • Venous thromboembolism (VTE) assessment. 
 • Nutrition, hydration and associated food/fluid balance monitoring must be enforced as fundamental standards. Use of the 
Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST) should be audited at specified intervals to ensure scoring and onward actions are 
appropriate. 
 Total Parenteral Nutrition (TPN) guidelines should be reviewed and monitored to ensure that this option is considered early for all 
patients who are at risk of malnutrition. 
 • The Trust should monitor the recent implementation of the electronic NEWS2 charts to ensure that the new system is successful 
in identifying and responding to deteriorating patients. 
 • Access to formal on call microbiology advice out-of-hours should be provided. 

NICHE MD2
4 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 24 - Standard operating policies and procedures 
 The Trust must ensure the following are up-to-date and subject to regular audit: 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the identification and management of sepsis and the deteriorating patient; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • handover of patients between on call Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be taken when patients cannot consent and when emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; and 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the escalation of capacity issues and a 
clear protocol regarding options when ITU is full. 

38



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE MD2
6 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 26 (National) - Mortality review (Link to R10 and R15) 
 • Any post-operative death should be subject to rigorous and contemporaneous case review and monitored at Trust level. This 
would also help support accurate reports to the Coroner if required to be written some months post death. 
 • Death summaries and sudden death reports to the Coroner should be audited for quality and accuracy. 
 • Every inpatient death within the Surgical and Critical Care Group (S&CCG) should be reported and subject to case review, this 
review should be shared within the department and at Trust level. 
 • Every inpatient death in Urology services and other surgical specialties should be discussed in departmental meetings. 
 • Every inquest involving the Trust must include consideration of whether an incident might have occurred that requires 
investigation and to prepare statements and reports in an adequate timeframe. 
 • Statements to Coroners written in relation to whole episodes of care involving a team or a Trust service should be subject to 
validation by legal or corporate services to ensure that all parties have a right of reply (where needed) and that statements made are 
accurate. This is distinct from an individual health care professional providing a witness statement solely in relation to their own 
input. 
 • Failures in care identified as a result of producing a Coroner’s statement must be reported as an incident and any named 
individuals given a right of reply. 
 • The Trust’s Providing Statements to the Coroner Standard Operating Procedure should be revised to include the above. 
 • The Trust must assure themselves that the Providing Statements to the Coroner Standard Operating Procedure is being complied 
with. Statements should differentiate between fact and opinion. In addition, there should be a clear indication of how the statement 
has been compiled. 
 • The Trust should ensure that records are retained post-death and copies made for the purposes of review and investigation to 
mitigate the risk of retrospective entry. 
 [The Medical Examiner role was introduced in the Trust in April 2020; this function should be assessed against the above 
recommendations]. 

NICHE MD2
7 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 27 - Managing complaints and compound family questions 
 • The Trust’s Management Procedure for the Investigation and Resolution of Complaints should be reviewed to ensure advice is 
clear on the handling of persistent/compound complaints that are not vexatious. 
 • Repeated approaches/compound questions from a family in relation to concerns in care, including the death of a loved one, 
should be formally logged as a complaint. 
 These cases should be allocated an appropriate single point of contact or family liaison officer to manage the process and support 
the family. These cases should also be flagged and carefully monitored as they have potential for extended resolution timescales. 
 • Any case involving an inquest or complaint from a family should also be reviewed to determine whether it should be recorded as 
an incident(s). Any subsequent investigation and complaints processes should be managed in a coordinated fashion. 
 • Compound complaints often arise once medical records are provided as these may be incomplete (due to archiving and multiple 
patient record systems). The Trust should ensure that full sets of medical records are provided at the outset of the request in line 
with existing Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), Subject Access Requests (SAR) and Access to Health Records Policies. 
 • Clear guidance on sharing the medical records of deceased patients with families should be set out to ensure that relatives are 
provided with requested information promptly and in line with the appropriate legislation. 
 • When FOIA or SAR include requests for email-based information, all searches should be formally logged and centrally managed 
so that the Trust has a full record of searches available to them. 

39



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE MD2
9 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 29 - Triggers for external investigations 
 • Terms of reference for all externally commissioned investigations should be scoped individually and quality assured to ensure that 
patient/family questions are included and that specific Trust concerns are addressed. (This principle should be followed for all root 
cause analysis (RCA) and serious incident (SI) reports undertaken internally in line with good practice). 
 The Trust should develop a set of triggers for external investigations to be undertaken including when departmental dysfunction is 
apparent. 
 • The Trust should revisit its tolerance for requesting external support in investigations. 

NICHE MD6
0 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 60 (National) - Never Event review 
 Revisit the Never Events cases highlighted in this review and ensure that the Trust applies rigour to all possible Never Events 
reporting. 

NICHE SD32 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 32 (National) - Coroner’s statements 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should develop guidance for Trusts and NHS organisations more widely in relation to the 
following aspects of recommendation 5 (R26) above: 
 • Statements to Coroners written in relation to whole episodes of care involving a team or a Trust service should be subject to 
validation and where a statement includes or implies failures in care all individuals named should be given a right of reply. This is 
distinct from an individual health care professional providing a witness statement solely in relation to their own input. 
 • Where failures in care are identified as a result of the production of a statement and a new incident is reported, the Coroner 
should be informed to determine if an investigation report will be required for any further proceedings. 
 • Trusts must assure themselves that their policies in relation to providing statements to the Coroner are being complied with. 
Statements should be based on fact rather than opinion and there should be a clear indication of how the statement has been 
compiled. 

NICHE SD33 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 33 (National) - Clinical practice 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should consider what relevant guidance could be developed for Trusts and NHS 
organisations more widely in relation to recommendations 1–8 made in this report and how these lessons might be shared. The 
learning from this report would be of benefit to the wider NHS community through an anonymised case study which will be 
developed from this case. 

NICHE SD35 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 35 - Review Niche patient case studies 
 The Trust should review all Niche case studies in priority order to contact patients in respect of Duty of Candour or ensure 
appropriate investigations have been completed to a high standard and actions have been implemented. 

NICHE SD38 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 38 - Revisit and align all reporting policies 
 The Trust should revisit and recommunicate the following policies to ensure that the purpose is clear, that they are aligned to each 
other and that they are workable for staff to readily follow and apply when escalation is required. This should include a flow diagram 
so staff can see which policy to follow in which situation. 
 • Incident reporting 
 • Raising Concerns 
 • Grievance management 
 • Whistleblowing 
 • Freedom to Speak Up 

40



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE SD39 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 39 (ICS/CCG) - A specialty focus 
 The Trust should identify key specialty metrics that enable focus on harms to be triangulated in subspecialties of the Surgical and 
Critical Care Group (S&CCG). This should include: 
 • A single monthly report on claims, incidents, Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO), Never Events and complaints 
with a cumulative analysis of themes arising. 
 • At least biannual thematic reviews (regardless of whether complaints or claims are upheld) to understand any concerns being 
raised at the earliest possible opportunity. 
 • An annual reconciliation of claims and complaints and their conversion to incident reports should be undertaken to ensure all 
patient safety concerns are logged through the incident reporting process for learning. 
 • Learning and sharing relevant patient safety issues arising from MHPS investigations (which should be logged as incidents where 
appropriate). 
 • Use of the annual GMC National Trainee Survey results to ensure information on junior doctors’ experience is considered as part 
of these metrics. 

NICHE SD40 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 40 - Implement clinical audit programme (Link to R4, R9, R14, R18, R25, R41, R47) 
 A standard should be set for each of the following against which a clinical audit programme should be implemented: 
 • Handover quality 
 • Emergency surgery including access to and use of theatres out of hours 
 • Emergency transfers from FGH to RLI 
 • Stent register compliance 
 • Results review and acknowledgement 
 • MDT referrals, implementation of actions, attendance and quality of behaviours 
 • Out-of-hours support from junior doctors 
 • Ward round management 
 • Consenting practice 
 • Continuity of care 
 • Harms as a result of delayed follow ups and IRDs 
 • Application of National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidance 

NICHE SD42 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 42 - 104 day cancer breach root cause analysis 
 • Ensure all 104 day cancer waiting time breaches are subject to a root cause analysis (RCA) and thematic reviews are acted upon 
to ensure pathway problems are properly identified and improved. 
 • The Trust should follow the newly released (October 2021) North West Guideline: Managing Long Waiting Cancer Patients 

NICHE SD44 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 44 - Patient handover 
 Handover of patients between Consultants should include: 
 • a formal handover arrangement between Consultants for out of hours cover. 
 • a handover for patients who are transferred between Consultants. 

41



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE SD49 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 49 - Trust Management of Royal College reports 
 • The Trust should inform regulators (CQC and NHS England and NHS Improvement) and commissioners of any plans for external 
reviews for quality and safety concerns, including Royal College Invited Service Reviews as soon as they are confirmed. This will 
ensure that regulators and commissioners can take this into account in their assurance activity in real time. 
 • Advisory reports from the Royal Colleges should be shared, in full or in summary where appropriate, by the Trust with the Trust 
Board. 
 • The Trust should formally inform the regional or local NHS England and NHS Improvement team, the Care Quality Commission 
and relevant fitness to practice investigations conducted by the GMC and commissioners of relevant Royal College reports and 
share these where appropriate. 
 • Transparent action plans arising from all Royal College reports should be developed by the Trust, shared with the Trust Board and 
formally monitored through the Trust Quality Committee. 

NICHE SD58 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 58 (ICS/CCG) - The CCG should ensure that its contractual requirements with the Trust relating to incident 
reporting, and as set out in the Quality Schedule to the latest contract (2021/22), are met. 

NICHE SD67 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 67 (National) - Assurance review 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should commission a Phase 5 review (Autumn 2022) in line with the Terms of Reference to 
include assurance on key elements such as: 
 • continuity of care; 
 • named Consultant; 
 • MDT management; 
 • follow-up patient pathways; 
 • the quality of incident reporting and investigations; 
 • team development opportunities; and 
 • mortality governance. 
 to establish if implemented changes have become embedded and are sustainable. 

NICHE SD69 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 69 (National) - Enforcement and follow up of actions from Royal College Invited Service Reviews 
 Invited Service Reviews should include: 
 • clear expectations for Royal College Invited Service Review reports to be shared, in full, by the Trust with the relevant Trust 
Board; 
 • expectations for when Royal College Invited Service Review reports should be shared, in full, by the Trust with regulators; and 
 • clarity about the implementation of action plans arising from Invited Service Reviews to enable the Royal College to be satisfied 
that recommendations have been fully addressed to end their active involvement. 

NICHE SD72 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Recommendation 72 (National) - Testicular Implant Recall 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should share the findings from the testicular implant recall exercise with relevant bodies and 
agree the next steps at a local or national level. 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that governance processes are robust and effective  
(Regulation 17 (1)) 

42



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that incidents are identified, graded appropriately to reflect the level of harm and that they are acted upon and 
investigated in a timely way.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD4 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must improve on the timeliness of responses to complaints.  
(Regulation 16 (2)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD6 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that further development and investment in pharmacy resources should be prioritised to make sure medicines 
reconciliation rates and antimicrobial stewardship are improved across the trust.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (g)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
0 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that stroke patients receive treatment in line with best practice guidance and in line with the trust’s stroke 
pathway so there are no delays to treatment. (Regulation 12 (2) (i)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
2 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that risk assessments and mental capacity assessments are carried out for mental health patients in line with 
trust policy.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
3 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure that there is enough staff with the right qualifications, skills, training and experience to provide care and 
treatment, specifically in relation to medical staffing including taking into account national guidance for the care of children and 
specifically paediatric emergency medicine consultant cover – This in line with the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 
“Facing the Future – standards for children and young people in emergency care settings”. (Regulation 18 (1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
4 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure that audit information (including national audits) is submitted, up to date, accurate and properly analysed 
and reviewed by people with the appropriate skills and competence to understand its significance. When required, results should be 
escalated, and appropriate actions taken to improve. (Regulation 17 (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
5 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that controlled drugs are safely prescribed, administered, recorded and stored and that registers are correctly 
and fully completed. The trust must ensure there is a system in place to assess and monitor formal competencies for nursing staff to 
administer medicines under patient group directions. (Regulation 12 (2) (g)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
6 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that robust action plans to improve and manage the flow of patients through the emergency department are 
put in place, taking into account known factors contributing to the hindrance of flow through the department and mitigating the 
ongoing risks and issues identified in the department.  
(Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
7 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The department must ensure that the corridor escalation plan is adhered to and that incidents are appropriately recorded when the 
plan dictates. (Regulation 12 (2) (a) (b) (d)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
8 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure that privacy and dignity of patients is maintained, particularly when patients are in non-designated cubicle 
areas. (Regulation 10 (2) (a) 

43



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
9 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that patients’ pain is effectively managed including that pain scores are re-assessed within 60 minutes as per 
trust policy. (Regulation 12 (2) (a) (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD2
9 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must implement an effective risk and governance system for the whole stroke pathway. (Regulation 17 (1) & (2) (a) & (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
6 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure staff have access to up-to-date and evidence-based guidelines and policies.  
(Regulation 12 (1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
7 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure all women assessed as at risk of having sepsis receive care and treatment in line with national guidance 
and requirements. (Regulation 12 (1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
8 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must continue to develop a vision and strategy through engagement with staff, focused on sustainability and aligned to 
local plans within the wider health economy. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) (a) (e)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
9 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure they establish and operate effective governance processes and systems, with robust action plans to monitor 
and improve the safety and quality of services and mitigate risks to women and families using the service. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) (a) 
(b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD4
6 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that staff in the service adhere to trust infection prevention and control policy in the use of personal protective 
equipment and maintain patient and staff safety through social distancing at all times and in all areas.  
(Regulation 12(1)(2)(h)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD4
7 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure they participate in clinical audit to demonstrate the effectiveness of care and treatment. (Regulation 17(1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD4
9 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure that, patients with mental health concerns are seen in a timely way (Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5
0 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure pain is assessed in line with clinical standards, administered in a timely way and recorded in patient notes.  
(Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5
1 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure all patients are clinically assessed and National Early Warning Scores are documented for all patients. 
(Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5
8 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must operate an effective clinical escalation system to ensure stroke care and treatment is assessed and implemented in a 
timely way. (Regulation 12 (1) & (2) (a) & (b)) 

44



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5
9 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must implement an effective system to ensure that all clinical staff have the knowledge, competence, skills and experience 
to care for and provide treatment to patients presenting with symptoms of stroke. (Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD6
8 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure risk assessments are completed and are actions taken to minimise any risks identified (Regulation 
12(1)(2)(a) (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD8
4 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

service must ensure staff assess the risks to women during and after birth in order to identify women at risk of deterioration. 
(Regulation 12 (1) (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD8
5 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure that women presenting in labour have immediate access to suitable qualified and skilled midwifery staff.  
(Regulation 18 (1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD8
6 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure staff assess and mitigate the risks to women’s health and safety in an emergency situation either during 
home birth or at the unit. They must ensure appropriate escalation and transfer takes place. (Regulation 12 (1) (2) (a) (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD8
8 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure all equipment is properly maintained and that staff do not use equipment that is not safe nor used for its 
intended purpose. Specifically, they should not use a domestic bath to support water birth. All staff should be aware of the birthing 
pool emergency evacuation process and have access to the required equipment at all times. (Regulation 12 (1) (d) & (e)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD9
1 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure they establish and operate effective governance processes and systems, with robust action plans to monitor 
and improve the safety and quality of services and mitigate risks to women and families using the service. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) (a) 
& (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD9
6 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure effective systems are in place to assess and mitigate individual patient safety risks.  
Regulation 12 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Safe care and treatment 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD9
7 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure people are kept free from harm.  
Regulation 13(5) Safeguarding service users from abuse and improper treatment 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
00 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust must ensure there is full oversight of services offered by the care group through robust governance processes. 
 Regulation 17(2)(a): Good Governance 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
01 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure effective systems are in place to monitor discharges to prevent patients from becoming 
 deconditioned.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(b): Good governance 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD1
02 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service must ensure there are effective systems are in place to consistently assess, monitor and improve patient 
 safety and the quality of care.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Good governance 

45



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD7 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that Patient Group Directions oversight should be strengthened to ensure sure appropriate and timely 
review and implementation 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD8 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that the uptake of medicines management e-learning be prioritised to help improve medicines safety 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD9 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration (EPMA) auditing be strengthened to proactively 
identify prescribing and administration errors 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD22 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that all staff follow infection control principles, including the use of personal protective equipment (PPE) at 
all times and receive refresher training in this where deemed necessary 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD24 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should consider whether the triage service in the walk-in waiting area can be improved so that the triage nurse can 
observe patients in the waiting area more easily 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD25 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should consider ensuring that there is a doctor or consultant at all safety huddles so that clinical information is not omitted 
from being shared with nursing staff. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD26 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that a more robust system of assessing skin integrity and pressure sores is put in place rather than the “safe 
and seen” assessment used presently. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD27 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should consider giving emergency department managers access to view incidents that are graded no harm or low harm, in 
order that there is complete oversight of incidents in the department to ensure that they have been graded correctly or may meet the 
criteria for a serious incident 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD28 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should consider completing the urgent and emergency care plans that have been delayed so that these can feed into the 
medicine care group strategy 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD42 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service should ensure the policy for cleaning of the birthing pool is ratified and implemented to control the risk of spread of 
infection. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD43 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service should ensure that recommendations from external incident investigations are fully considered and appropriate, robust 
action plans put in place 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD44 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service should act to improve the assessment of women’s pain in light of their clinical condition and ensure all women receive 
pain relief in a timely manner 

46



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD55 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should consider what actions the service can take to improve safeguarding adults and safeguarding children level three 
training rates for doctors and nurses. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD64 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that systems and processes are established and operated effectively to identify, assess, monitor, escalate 
and take mitigating actions, particularly in relation to the safe storage of medicine and the checking of emergency resuscitation 
equipment. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD76 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service should act to improve the quality of safety information shared in SBAR handover. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD81 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The trust should ensure that visible information about requesting a chaperone is available to patients attending the centre. 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD10
4 

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

The service should ensure they complete MUST documentation 

RCS MD3 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Actions the Trust Must take to ensure patient safety is protected: 
 In respect of more complex cases, more effective utilisation of MDT to: 
 (i) Improve governance in respect of clear decision making, transfer/handover of care documentation. 
 (ii) Ensure appropriate consultant surgeon involvement. 

RCS MD4 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Actions the Trust Must take to ensure patient safety is protected: 
 The consent pro-forma should ensure that the potential risks of the planned surgery are clearly documented for the patient to 
assimilate and space to record that these have been explained to the patient. 

RCS MD5 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Actions the Trust Must take to ensure the Trauma and Orthopaedic Service is improved: 
 redacted may benefit as part of learning to reflect upon and discuss with colleagues case AXX in particular, possible reasons for the 
femoral notch (which was not documented in the operation note) occurring. 

RCS MD6 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Actions the Trust Must take to ensure the Trauma and Orthopaedic Service is improved: 
 The Trust should take steps to improve the continuity of care for patients through their pre-operative, intra-operative and post-
operative care pathway. This may include, but is not limited to, listing patients, wherever possible, on the operating surgeon clinic 
list. 

RCS SD7 Quality 
Assurance 
Committee 

Actions the Trust Should consider as part of its development of the Trauma and Orthopaedic service: 
 If the Trust identifies primary concerns about an individual surgeon, then a formal review of their clinical practice is recommended. If 
the Trust identifies concerns associated with the surgical service then a review of the service is recommended. 

NICHE MD1 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 1 - Oversight of Urology through Trust governance structures: 
 Reporting lines need to be clearly articulated in the terms of reference for each of the groups and committees which have been 
established for oversight of the Urology service and depicted in an organogram. Links to the Urology department, care group, 
committee and Board governance structure should also be confirmed 

47



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE MD3 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 3 - Performance framework for Urology: 
 Introduce a performance and accountability framework which clearly sets out the approach to corporate and care group scrutiny of 
Urology and, where necessary, support from the Enhanced Support Programme (ESP) 

NICHE MD6 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 6 - Meeting administration: 
 Meeting administration must be improved. This should include: 
 • a review of the ToR for all meetings at departmental and care group level to ensure they are in date, aligned to the objectives 
required of the meeting, and also other key meetings, with agendas planned to reflect these; 
 • the introduction of standardised templates for agendas, minutes, and action logs; and 
 • the provision of training for individuals with minute-writing responsibilities and all minutes should be reviewed by the relevant Chair 
before distribution 

NICHE MD7 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 7 - Risk registers at service, care group and Trust level: 
 The challenges currently being faced by the Urology service should be reviewed to determine whether the risks are sufficient to 
warrant inclusion on the service, care group or Corporate Risk Register (CRR) or the Board Assurance Framework (BAF); this 
includes the difficulties with on call cover at Furness General Hospital (FGH) and continuing fractured relationships as a patient 
safety risk. Departmental and care group meetings should include risk as a standing agenda item and the risk profile of the service 
should be reviewed at least quarterly 

NICHE MD1
2 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 12 - Pooled model of patient care 
 • There is an urgent need to review the pooling of patient referrals and the way in which patients are allocated to, and reviewed by, 
clinicians in Urology to ensure that continuity of care is optimised. 
 • There should be clear procedures for allocating patients against specific pathways (including in line with Cancer MDT guidance). 
Any subsequent changes to management plans should be agreed with the named Consultant/an appropriate clinician especially if 
there are clinic cancellations or delays to treatment. 

NICHE MD1
3 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 13 - Monitoring of additional activity sessions (AASs) 
 Introduce a robust policy and controls to retrospectively and prospectively review AAS activity in the Urology department, including 
a quarterly analysis of the number, value, and justification for AASs undertaken on a clinician-by-clinician basis. 

NICHE MD2
2 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 22 (Cancer Alliance) - Improving the pathway for bladder cancer diagnosis 
 • Where appropriate, conducting a flexible cystoscopy on the day of attending the One Stop Clinic would make this a truly one-stop 
service. 
 • Patients meeting the two-week wait criteria with visible haematuria and normal estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) should 
be triaged to have a CT Urogram prior to attending clinic to streamline the service. 
 • Patients requiring ongoing monitoring following chemotherapy/radiotherapy should be referred back via the MDT to a named 
Consultant at the Trust, on completing their therapy, who is then responsible for co-ordinating on-going care (e.g. in this case, being 
clear about the rationale for examination under anaesthetic (EUA), biopsy, cystoscopy and stenting). The MDT will need to ensure 
there is a clear management plan and processes put in place to ensure Urology actions are implemented. This will also allow time to 
plan dates for surgery to meet required timescales. 
 • Lancashire and South Cumbria Cancer Alliance follow up protocols should be agreed and followed. 
 • All patients should be listed on the stent register. If they are transferred to another Trust with the expectation that the stent is 
removed, this should be explicitly stated; if patients are transferred into the Trust with a stent in situ, they should be added to the 
Trust’s stent register. 

48



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE MD2
5 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 25 (ICS &CCG) - Nephrostomy service 
 • The Trust and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) should review arrangements for out-of-hours nephrostomy provision, 
including over bank holidays and emergency cover. 
 • The arrangements that have been put in place should be assessed to ensure that standards for accessing nephrostomy provision 
out of hours and for returning patients to the Trust are appropriate, agreed, and form part of a standard operating procedure that is 
audited to confirm compliance. 

NICHE SD36 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 36 - Urology pathway priority management 
 • There is a need to redesign follow-up pathways for Urology patients to match capacity and demand to prevent backlogs and 
balance this with the faster response for new referrals. Clear protocols for long-term active surveillance which ensures cases are 
appropriately seen at the right intervals are required. 
 • Advance booking for long-term surveillance procedures should be introduced (including stent replacement and cystoscopy) and 
audited to ensure delays are minimised. 

NICHE SD37 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 37 - Capacity and demand modelling in Urology 
 The Trust should undertake a capacity and demand modelling exercise (including the use of PLICS information) to provide an up to 
date baseline for the service and to support job planning. This should include: 
 • Medical staffing levels 
 • Junior staffing resources 
 • Administrative resource 
 • Nursing skills and a clinical nurse specialist role review 

NICHE SD41 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 41 (Cancer Alliance) - Cancer MDT management 
 The Trust, with the Cancer Alliance, should: 
 • Agree and implement new Standards of Care (SoC) in line with the advice of the Streamlining MDT Meetings guidance. 
 • Clarify the expectations of core members at both local and network MDTs and the expectation for named Consultant Urologists to 
present their cases. A deputy role for the chair of the local MDT should be put in place. 
 • Ensure that all core members attend the MDT as agreed above. 
 • Audit the new processes to ensure alignment with the introduction of the named Consultant. 
 • Ensure responsibility for actioning decisions made at the local MDT is maintained within the Trust. 
 • Ensure there is clarity for responsibility for actioning decisions made at the network MDT. 
 • Ensure that professional behaviours are demonstrated at both local and network MDTs and confirmed through observation and 
transparent feedback on a regular basis for all attendees. 

NICHE SD43 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 43 - Emergency theatre access 
 • The Trust should monitor the use of emergency theatres out of hours in Urology (building on the analysis provided in this report) to 
establish whether the existing Standard Operating Procedure (Theatre Access) is effective in changing the pattern of practice 
highlighted by this report. 
 • This should be examined in the context of whether some emergency theatre demand could be reduced through the provision of 
ward based facilities. 

NICHE SD52 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 52 - Media articles 
 Revise advice and guidance on dealing with media articles that name individuals and provide support to ensure an appropriate right 
of reply is sought (also in line with GMC guidance on responding to criticism in the media). 

49



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE SD53 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 53 (ICS/CCG) - As part of the work underway to establish system governance, commissioners should agree 
shared mechanisms to enable proactive commissioning and visibility of the Trust’s services at specialty/sub-specialty level. 

NICHE SD54 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 54 (ICS/CCG) - Alternative mechanisms for specialty/sub-specialty level scrutiny as part of routine assurance 
processes should be examined, for example cyclical deep dives as part of an annual work plan led by commissioning managers for 
scrutiny by quality assurance forums.  
The heat map approach (as in Appendix 10) developed by the CCG provides a useful model for this purpose. 
 The CCG should add an analysis of complaints/concerns/incidents from GP practices at a specialty level on at least an annual 
basis as part of this scrutiny. 

NICHE SD55 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 55 (ICS/CCG) - A reporting template should be developed which brings together quality, activity, and performance 
information at a specialty level.  
A programme of reporting at this level should be agreed with the Trust, with frequency of reporting for each specialty to reflect jointly 
agreed priorities.  
This should provide a single source of reporting to all relevant governance groups. The Safe Today report provides a sound basis 
for development. 

NICHE SD62 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 62 (National/ICS/CCG) - Networked support for team development 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement and the CCG should seek stronger working relationships between the Trust and tertiary 
centres to support Consultants in facilitating the provision of sub-specialty services at the Trust. 

NICHE SD63 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 63 - Development of safe services and specialist interests 
 A Urology strategy should be developed involving all key Urology medical staff and other relevant healthcare professionals to set 
the context for the following actions: 
 • The Trust should undertake an equipment stocktake for Urology and plan into the capital replacement programme the need for 
cystoscopes, bipolar diathermy and suction equipment both in the short term and over the medium term or consider lease options. 
 • Examine, with the Trust and CCG, the development of Urology sub-specialisms building on Andrology and stone services, the 
management of superficial bladder cancer, local anaesthetic transperineal biopsy work and paediatrics. 
 • Examine, through the provider collaborative network, the viability of Urology provision across two sites and its associated support 
services in the long term should be examined in respect of future provision at Furness General Hospital. Formal consideration of 
centralising inpatient and emergency Urology services on one site should be revisited. This should include options for dedicated 
ward based facilities. 

50



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE SD65 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 65 (National) - Guidance and support to Responsible Officers from NHS England and NHS Improvement Regional 
Medical Directors 
 • NHS England and NHS Improvement should ensure that guidance to ROs is up to date and a final version is in force to include 
the 2013 RO regulation amendments and learning since the role was introduced. 
 Regional Medical Directors should use this investigation as a case study to reinforce escalation processes for Responsible Officers 
who may be facing conduct difficulties within their medical workforce. 
 • The North West Regional Medical Director should share this case study with other Regional Medical Directors to reinforce the 
importance of the RO role, appointment processes and the lessons learned from this investigation. 
 • Good practice should be shared between Trusts to provide clarity on the best approaches for dealing with and escalating 
behavioural and conduct issues that are impacting on patient safety in line with Good Medical Practice. 
 • The Trust Board should revisit its understanding of the role of the RO and assure itself that there is clarity of duties between the 
Medical Director (now as RO) and the wider team in exercising duties to meet the RO regulations. 

NICHE SD70 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 70 (National) - Sharing of information between regulatory bodies 
 The effectiveness and intention of the Emerging Concerns Protocol https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-
people/emerging-concerns-protocol should be revisited in the context of the findings of this case. The inclusion of additional 
signatories (e.g. Royal Colleges, NHS England and NHS Improvement) should be considered. This may be the most appropriate 
process to improve information sharing. 

NICHE SD71 Trust 
Management 

Group 

Recommendation 71 (National) - Assessing the effective role of the Responsible Officer in Well-Led assessments 
 The role of the RO and its development since the introduction of this function in 2010 should form a regular and consistent part of 
examination as part of internal and external Well-Led and governance reviews. 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD2 Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust must ensure that risks in the organisation are correctly identified and appropriate mitigations put in place in a timely way  
(Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD2
1 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The department must ensure that all known risks are singularly identified on the risk register and that risks are supported by robust 
action plans that can reduce or mitigate the risks. They must also ensure that these action plans are regularly reviewed to ensure 
effectiveness and action plans amended where progress cannot be achieved. (Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
0 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust must operate an effective clinical escalation system to ensure stroke care and treatment is assessed and implemented in a 
timely way. (Regulation 12 (1) & (2) (a) & (b)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
1 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust must implement an effective system to ensure that all clinical staff have the knowledge, competence, skills and experience 
to care for and provide treatment to patients presenting with symptoms of stroke. (Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
2 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust must continue to monitor and take appropriate actions to improve average length of patient stay for patients having trauma 
and orthopaedics surgery. (Regulation 12 (1)) 

51

https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol
https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol


 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD3
3 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust must continue to monitor and take actions to improve referral to treatment waiting time performance in line with national 
standards. (Regulation 12 (1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD4
8 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The service must ensure that care is provided in line with national performance standards for waiting times from referral to treatment 
and arrangements to admit, treat and discharge patients. (Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD5
4 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust must take action to improve safeguarding adults and safeguarding children level three training rates for doctors and 
nurses. (Regulation 18(1)) 

CQC 
Must Do 

MD6
7 

Trust 
Management 

Group 

The service must ensure medical staff complete all required safeguarding level 3 training. (Regulation 18 (1)(2)(a)) 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD41 Trust 
Management 

Group 

The service should consider implementing a policy and schedule for changing the keypad code at ward entrances to maintain 
security 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD45 Trust 
Management 

Group 

The service should continue to act to ensure women received continuity of care in line with national recommendations and targets 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD62 Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust should ensure that wards are secured to maintain patient safety 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD63 Trust 
Management 

Group 

The trust should ensure that fire doors are maintained and used correctly 

CQC 
Should 

Do 

SD79 Trust 
Management 

Group 

The service should progress actions to enable improved access within the birth centre, in context of the physical environment. 

 

52



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Table 5: Overview of CQC Recommendation & Actions Status and Progress 
 
Key: 

Not Applicable 

Unable to Complete 

Not Started 
In Progress 
(Behind Schedule 
In Progress 

(New Action) 
In Progress 

(On Schedule) 
Fully Completed  

(awaiting approval) 
Fully Completed / Approved 

 
Type Recommendation Ref Lead 

Manager 
Service Action Progress 

Status 
Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that governance processes are 
robust and effective  
(Regulation 17 (1)) 

MD1
/1 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust will complete the recommendations from the 
Good Governance Institute (GGI) to deliver improved 
governance and assurance structures and processes 
from ward to board 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that governance processes are 
robust and effective  
(Regulation 17 (1)) 

MD1
/2 

Mr Stuart 
Bates 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust has completed an Initial Section 26 / Notice 
of Proposal evidence submission detailing the actions 
taken to address governance processes and ensure 
they are robust and will be sustained 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that governance processes are 
robust and effective  
(Regulation 17 (1)) 

MD1
/3 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust (CEO and Director of Governance) will work 
with NHSE/I (Becky Southall) to review outcomes of 
GGI work completed in 2021/22 to identify how to 
refine the GGI Governance structure and to improve 
implementation and embeddedness of this refined 
governance structure within the Trust. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that governance processes are 
robust and effective  
(Regulation 17 (1)) 

MD1
/4 

Mr Paul 
Jones 

TRUSTWI
DE 

Company Secretary to review and introduce a process 
to ensure statutory Responsibilities of Execs in 
highlighting issues of concern to the Trust Board 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

53



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that risks in the organisation are 
correctly identified and appropriate mitigations put in 
place in a timely way  
(Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

MD2
/1 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust will implement and embed a new Risk 
Management Strategy, new Trust Wide Risk 
Management Group to oversee Risk and review, 
update the associated Risk Management Processes 
and deliver Risk Management Training, to ensure this 
is embedded throughout the organisation. 
 The operational elements are in place. The resource 
with regards to Risk Practitioner in place until 
December 2021. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that incidents are identified, 
graded appropriately to reflect the level of harm and 
that they are acted upon and investigated in a timely 
way.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (b)) 

MD3
/1 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust will implement a review of the existing Trust 
Wide Incident Reporting, Investigation and 
Management Policy, Procedures and Systems, in line 
with the new National Patient Safety Strategy and 
Framework, and then deliver and embed the required 
improvements. 
 The infrastructure, revised Policy and systems in 
place by end of Q2. The embedding / reviewing by the 
end of Q3. Review the position by end of Q4. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must improve on the timeliness of responses 
to complaints.  
(Regulation 16 (2)) 

MD4
/1 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust will implement an action plan to improve 
Complaints responses time with a target to  meet 
regulatory standards by end of October 2021, with a 
stretch target of meeting Trust standards by the end of 
March 2022. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to make improvements in the 
culture of the organisation, especially within maternity 
and trauma and orthopaedics, to enable staff to be 
supported to perform their duties effectively.  
(Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD5
/1 

Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust will continue to deliver its ESP Programme 
within the wider Trust Culture and Transformation 
Group workstream to make the required improvements 
in the WACS Care Group to enhance a positive culture 
and support the delivery of effective care and 
treatment 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to make improvements in the 
culture of the organisation, especially within maternity 
and trauma and orthopaedics, to enable staff to be 
supported to perform their duties effectively.  
(Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD5
/2 

Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust will continue to deliver its ESP Programme 
within the wider Trust Culture and Transformation 
Group workstream to make the required improvements 
in the T&O Speciality to enhance a positive culture and 
support the delivery of effective care and treatment 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

54



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to make improvements in the 
culture of the organisation, especially within maternity 
and trauma and orthopaedics, to enable staff to be 
supported to perform their duties effectively.  
(Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD5
/3 

Ms 
Beverley 

Edgar 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust has developed and implemented a Trust 
Wide Cultural Transformation Workstream which is 
overseen by the Director of People and Organisational 
Development and is monitored/reported at Workforce 
Assurance Committee and Trust Management Group, 
the Work Stream include programmes on: Just and 
Learning Culture, Magnet 4 Europe, Freedom to 
Speak Up, Medical engagement/leadership, Talent 
Management & Leadership Development, Workforce 
Transformation 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to make improvements in the 
culture of the organisation, especially within maternity 
and trauma and orthopaedics, to enable staff to be 
supported to perform their duties effectively.  
(Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD5
/4 

Ms 
Beverley 

Edgar 

TRUSTWI
DE 

Within the Culture and Transformation Work  Stream, 
the Trust has a specific programme of work to develop 
and implement a Cultural & Leadership Diagnostic & 
Dashboard , with target outcomes of; Build of UHMB 
Cultural Dashboard in Model Hospital , Completion of 
all diagnostic tools across the 6 elements of the 
programme , Outcomes presented to Cultural 
Transformation Board, Trust Management Group and 
Board of Directors  

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to make improvements in the 
culture of the organisation, especially within maternity 
and trauma and orthopaedics, to enable staff to be 
supported to perform their duties effectively.  
(Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD5
/5 

Ms 
Beverley 

Edgar 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust (Led by People and Organisational 
Development) will work with NHSE/I to implement a 
cultural engagement tool to help improve staff 
engagement. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to make improvements in the 
culture of the organisation, especially within maternity 
and trauma and orthopaedics, to enable staff to be 
supported to perform their duties effectively.  
(Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD5
/6 

Ms 
Beverley 

Edgar 

TRUSTWI
DE 

Trust to implement an online conversation platform to 
enable staff to provide anonymous feedback on: 
 - The Trust's; Vision, Values, Culture and Leadership 
 - What changes are needed? 
 - Our Fundamental purpose as an NHS Trust? 
 - Acceptable behaviours to colleagues, patients, 
partners and the public 
 - What is required to make these changes? 
  
The Trust will then publish the results form the 
conversation , then develop and implement an action 
plan to address the issues raised. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

55



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that further development and 
investment in pharmacy resources should be 
prioritised to make sure medicines reconciliation rates 
and antimicrobial stewardship are improved across the 
trust.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (g)) 

MD6
/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy The Pharmacy Service will develop and submit a 
Business Case for the recruitment of substantive 
pharmacy staff to undertake medicines reconciliation in 
the Trust. Once approved this will be implemented and 
the additional capacity deployed to ensure this 
recommendation is met and sustained through regular 
monitoring. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that further development and 
investment in pharmacy resources should be 
prioritised to make sure medicines reconciliation rates 
and antimicrobial stewardship are improved across the 
trust.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (g)) 

MD6
/2 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy The Pharmacy Service will develop and submit a 
Business Case for the recruitment of substantive 
pharmacy staff to undertake antimicrobial stewardship 
in the Trust. Once approved this will be implemented 
and the additional capacity deployed to ensure this 
recommendation is met and sustained through regular 
monitoring. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that further development and 
investment in pharmacy resources should be 
prioritised to make sure medicines reconciliation rates 
and antimicrobial stewardship are improved across the 
trust.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (g)) 

MD6
/4 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy Recommendation MD115 to be reviewed with Chief 
Pharmacist, Medication Safety Officer and ADOp of 
CCS to determine; 
 a) is the is the same recommendation as MD6 
 b) if it is the same recommendation, are there any 
new actions required? 
 c) if no no new actions are required this new 
recommendation will be managed through MD6 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that stroke patients receive 
treatment in line with best practice guidance and in line 
with the trust’s stroke pathway so there are no delays 
to treatment. (Regulation 12 (2) (i)) 

MD1
0/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust has developed and implemented a detailed 
improvement plan to address the issues identified in 
the Section 31 Notice, the plan includes; To meet the 
immediate safety concerns by 20/05/2021. To deliver 
the agreed improvement plan against the 8 domains 
by the 8 week deadline (July 2021) and to ensure 
improvements are sustained September 2021. 
  
This action will also be used to manage and complete 
any requirements of Recommendations MD29, MD30, 
MD31, MD 58 and MD59 (all of which relate to the 
provision of Stroke Care and Treatment) that fall within 
the scope of the 8 week plan. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that stroke patients receive 
treatment in line with best practice guidance and in line 
with the trust’s stroke pathway so there are no delays 
to treatment. (Regulation 12 (2) (i)) 

MD1
0/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will work with partner 
organisations to deliver and submit the ICS business 
case for stroke services. This will ensure sufficient 
capacity and resources to meet best practice 
guidance. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

56



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that stroke patients receive 
treatment in line with best practice guidance and in line 
with the trust’s stroke pathway so there are no delays 
to treatment. (Regulation 12 (2) (i)) 

MD1
0/3 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust will establish and embed a Stroke Task and 
Finish Group to oversee the required performance 
improvement in Stroke Medicine to achieve the 
standard required to enable the successful exit from 
the CQC Section 31 notification. 
  
This action will also be used to manage and complete 
the requirements of Recommendations MD29, MD30, 
MD31, MD 58 and MD59, all of which relate to the 
provision of Stroke Care and Treatment. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that risk assessments and 
mental capacity assessments are carried out for 
mental health patients in line with trust policy.  
(Regulation 12 (2) (a)) 

MD1
2/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Trust Safeguarding Policy already includes MCA Risk 
Assessments.  The Care Group will work with 
Safeguarding Team to ensure that assessments are 
carried out as part of everyday practice in line with 
Trust Policy and all staff understand their role and 
responsibilities.  This will be monitored through; 
Quarterly DOLS/MCA Audits undertaken by Trust 
Safeguarding Team, reported at Safeguarding 
Operational Performance Group and local Spot 
Checks undertaken by Matrons and Unit Managers.  
Best Practice and learning from Monitoring to be 
shared from these. Maintain high quality risk / MCA 
assessments in line with Trust policy. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that there is enough staff with 
the right qualifications, skills, training and experience 
to provide care and treatment, specifically in relation to 
medical staffing including taking into account national 
guidance for the care of children and specifically 
paediatric emergency medicine consultant cover – 
This in line with the Royal College of Paediatrics and 
Child Health “Facing the Future – standards for 
children and young people in emergency care 
settings”. (Regulation 18 (1)) 

MD1
3/1 

Mr Neil 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust has a programme of work for reviewing 
compliance with the 'Facing The Future' requirements 
and to deliver improvements, which is reported through 
to the MGAG. This includes meeting national guidance 
for staffing requirements, including paediatrics. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

57



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that there is enough staff with 
the right qualifications, skills, training and experience 
to provide care and treatment, specifically in relation to 
medical staffing including taking into account national 
guidance for the care of children and specifically 
paediatric emergency medicine consultant cover – 
This in line with the Royal College of Paediatrics and 
Child Health “Facing the Future – standards for 
children and young people in emergency care 
settings”. (Regulation 18 (1)) 

MD1
3/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group has confirmed that existing 
arrangements for the RLI Paediatric Ward to provide 
overnight Paediatric Nursing Cover/Support to RLI ED 
on an 'as required' basis remain in place. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that audit information 
(including national audits) is submitted, up to date, 
accurate and properly analysed and reviewed by 
people with the appropriate skills and competence to 
understand its significance. When required, results 
should be escalated, and appropriate actions taken to 
improve. (Regulation 17 (2) (a)) 

MD1
4/1 

Mr Paul 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will strengthen and assure 
the local Audit processes and leadership to ensure 
audits are completed and submitted as required in line 
with RCEM requirements and any remedial actions are 
implemented. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that audit information 
(including national audits) is submitted, up to date, 
accurate and properly analysed and reviewed by 
people with the appropriate skills and competence to 
understand its significance. When required, results 
should be escalated, and appropriate actions taken to 
improve. (Regulation 17 (2) (a)) 

MD1
4/2 

Mr Paul 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group RCEM Audit will be a 
standing agenda item at MGAG from January 2022 for 
regular monitoring. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that audit information 
(including national audits) is submitted, up to date, 
accurate and properly analysed and reviewed by 
people with the appropriate skills and competence to 
understand its significance. When required, results 
should be escalated, and appropriate actions taken to 
improve. (Regulation 17 (2) (a)) 

MD1
4/3 

Mrs 
Heather 

Pratt 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust Clinical Audit team will review and update 
Trust Wide Clinical Audit processes, to include; 
Implement and Embed new Clinical Audit Governance 
structure as required from the Trust Wide GGI 
Governance Review, to ensure consistent Ward To 
Board processes and escalation and to appoint a 
National Audit Co-ordinator within the Trust Clinical 
Audit Team. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

58



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that audit information 
(including national audits) is submitted, up to date, 
accurate and properly analysed and reviewed by 
people with the appropriate skills and competence to 
understand its significance. When required, results 
should be escalated, and appropriate actions taken to 
improve. (Regulation 17 (2) (a)) 

MD1
4/4 

Mr Paul 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Clinical Director and DADOp for Urgent Care to 
undertake a review to ascertain if Medicine Clinical 
Audits are "properly analysed and reviewed by people 
with the appropriate skills and competence to 
understand its significance".   
The findings of the review will then be used determine 
if an action plane is required and if so, will be used to 
develop an action plan. 
 The results of this review and any action plan will be 
reported to the Medicine Clinical Audit Meeting(s) and 
the Trust Clinical  Audit Standards Group. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that controlled drugs are safely 
prescribed, administered, recorded and stored and that 
registers are correctly and fully completed. The trust 
must ensure there is a system in place to assess and 
monitor formal competencies for nursing staff to 
administer medicines under patient group directions. 
(Regulation 12 (2) (g)) 

MD1
5/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will increase 
vigilance/oversight of remedial actions following 
Controlled Drug and Enhanced control safe and 
secure storage audit actions as captured on the new 
AMaT System. Any findings or recommendations from 
these audits will be implemented and monitored 
through future regular audits. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that controlled drugs are safely 
prescribed, administered, recorded and stored and that 
registers are correctly and fully completed. The trust 
must ensure there is a system in place to assess and 
monitor formal competencies for nursing staff to 
administer medicines under patient group directions. 
(Regulation 12 (2) (g)) 

MD1
5/2 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Pharmacy Service will strengthen Patient Group 
Direction oversight. To include refresh of the policy, 
implementation of audit, increasing staff awareness 
and delivery of any required staff training. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that robust action plans to 
improve and manage the flow of patients through the 
emergency department are put in place, taking into 
account known factors contributing to the hindrance of 
flow through the department and mitigating the 
ongoing risks and issues identified in the department.  
(Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

MD1
6/1 

Miss 
Leanne 
Cooper 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Plans have been developed as part of the BHACP 
UEC Programme, it has been signed off by A&E 
Delivery Board and now has additional PMO support to 
help its delivery.  A robust improvement programme 
that facilitates patient flow corporately is in place and 
delivered in line with the Urgent Care action plan. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The department must ensure that the corridor 
escalation plan is adhered to and that incidents are 
appropriately recorded when the plan dictates. 
(Regulation 12 (2) (a) (b) (d)) 

MD1
7/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine care Group ensure that the RLI ED 
corridor escalation plan is adhered to by staff and that 
incidents are recorded and escalated to the Patient 
Flow Team.  Investigate scope for automated 
monitoring/recording of corridor waits. 

Partially 
complete 

59



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that privacy and dignity of 
patients is maintained, particularly when patients are in 
non-designated cubicle areas. (Regulation 10 (2) (a) 

MD1
8/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will review Processes for 
maintaining the privacy and dignity of (non-Cubicle) 
patients in RLI ED, to identify and implement 
improvements, to include; Staff Awareness, Matron 
Review/Spot Checks, Seen and Safe 
Process/documentation,  collaborative projects with 
NHSE/I and NWAS colleagues 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that patients’ pain is effectively 
managed including that pain scores are re-assessed 
within 60 minutes as per trust policy. (Regulation 12 
(2) (a) (b)) 

MD1
9/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

To be managed through the fundamentals work on 
managing a deteriorating patient and medicines 
management. 
 To be reviewed as part of RCEM audit to determine 
required actions 
 Pain scores to be monitored as part of safety checks 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must improve the multidisciplinary working 
and culture between the department and specialities 
and speciality teams to maximise patient care and 
outcomes. (Regulation 12 (2) (i); Regulation 17 (2) (a)) 

MD2
0/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will review current MDT 
working arrangements in the RLI ED to identify and 
implement improvements, including the design and 
development of a new priority admissions unit (PAU). 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The department must ensure that all known risks are 
singularly identified on the risk register and that risks 
are supported by robust action plans that can reduce 
or mitigate the risks. They must also ensure that these 
action plans are regularly reviewed to ensure 
effectiveness and action plans amended where 
progress cannot be achieved. (Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

MD2
1/1 

Mrs Diane 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will review all risks in line 
with the business plan to ensure risk have been 
identified and properly captured on the risk registers 
with appropriate mitigation in place 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The department must ensure that all known risks are 
singularly identified on the risk register and that risks 
are supported by robust action plans that can reduce 
or mitigate the risks. They must also ensure that these 
action plans are regularly reviewed to ensure 
effectiveness and action plans amended where 
progress cannot be achieved. (Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

MD2
1/2 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will ensure a regular review 
of risk registers is built in with the Health and Safety & 
Risk team to provide review and challenge, ensure a 
process with the Clinical Governance Team for 
identifying and agreeing new risks. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The department must ensure that all known risks are 
singularly identified on the risk register and that risks 
are supported by robust action plans that can reduce 
or mitigate the risks. They must also ensure that these 
action plans are regularly reviewed to ensure 
effectiveness and action plans amended where 
progress cannot be achieved. (Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

MD2
1/3 

Mrs Diane 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will explore possibility of risk 
register workshops with the Good Governance Institute 
(GGI) to improve the medicine risk register and 
associated management 

Unable to 
complete 

60



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The department must ensure that all known risks are 
singularly identified on the risk register and that risks 
are supported by robust action plans that can reduce 
or mitigate the risks. They must also ensure that these 
action plans are regularly reviewed to ensure 
effectiveness and action plans amended where 
progress cannot be achieved. (Regulation 17 (2) (b)) 

MD2
1/4 

Mr Stuart 
Bates 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust will implement and embed new Trust Wide 
Risk Management Strategy, New Risk Management 
Group and associated Risk Management Process, to 
ensure this is embedded throughout the organisation. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must implement an effective risk and 
governance system for the whole stroke pathway. 
(Regulation 17 (1) & (2) (a) & (b)) 

MD2
9/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine All recommendations related to the stroke treatment 
pathway are being managed under the Action Plan 
that Trust has developed to address the section 31 
improvement work, this action plan is overseen by the 
Chief Operation Officer and its progress is monitored 
at / reported to Trust Management Group and Partner 
Organisations. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must operate an effective clinical escalation 
system to ensure stroke care and treatment is 
assessed and implemented in a timely way. 
(Regulation 12 (1) & (2) (a) & (b)) 

MD3
0/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine All recommendations related to the stroke treatment 
pathway are being managed under the Action Plan 
that Trust has developed to address the section 31 
improvement work, this action plan is overseen by the 
Chief Operation Officer and its progress is monitored 
at / reported to Trust Management Group and Partner 
Organisations 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must implement an effective system to 
ensure that all clinical staff have the knowledge, 
competence, skills and experience to care for and 
provide treatment to patients presenting with 
symptoms of stroke. (Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD3
1/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine All recommendations related to the stroke treatment 
pathway are being managed under the Action Plan 
that Trust has developed to address the section 31 
improvement work, this action plan is overseen by the 
Chief Operation Officer and its progress is monitored 
at / reported to Trust Management Group. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to monitor and take 
appropriate actions to improve average length of 
patient stay for patients having trauma and 
orthopaedics surgery. (Regulation 12 (1)) 

MD3
2/2 

Mr Daniel 
Bakey 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

The Trust has established a number of Work streams 
in the Accelerator/ Restore and Recovery Programme 
to help improve (reduce) the average length of stay of 
patients (including T&O Patients), the Work Streams 
are; Cancer services, Outpatients, Diagnostics and 
Elective Inpatients  

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to monitor and take actions to 
improve referral to treatment waiting time performance 
in line with national standards. (Regulation 12 (1)) 

MD3
3/1 

Mr Scott 
McLean 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Trust has established a number of workstreams 
within the Covid Recovery Programme which will help 
improve RTT performance, these include; Cancer 
services , Outpatients , Diagnostics and Elective 
Inpatients 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

61



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to monitor and take actions to 
improve referral to treatment waiting time performance 
in line with national standards. (Regulation 12 (1)) 

MD3
3/2 

Miss 
Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWI
DE 

Trust RTT performance is monitored via the Trust IPR 
(Integrated Performance Report), Care Groups also 
report on their RTT performance at monthly Care 
Group Performance Reviews 
 Overall Trust RTT performance (18 week wait) at 
March/April 2022 was ~70% 
 Trust will be involved in NHS Wide '2022-23 Delivery 
Plan for COVID-19 Elective Backlog'. 
 Key Targets for 2022-23 are; Elimination of 104 Week 
Waits, Elimination of 78 Week Waits 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must continue to monitor and take actions to 
improve referral to treatment waiting time performance 
in line with national standards. (Regulation 12 (1)) 

MD3
3/3 

Miss 
Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWI
DE 

Trust RTT performance is monitored via the Trust IPR 
(Integrated Performance Report), Care Groups also 
report on their RTT performance at monthly Care 
Group Performance Reviews 
 Trust will be involved in NHS Wide 'Delivery Plan for 
COVID-19 Elective Backlog'. 
 Key Target: Elimination of 52 Week Waits by March 
2025 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure staff have access to up-to-
date and evidence-based guidelines and policies.  
(Regulation 12 (1)) 

MD3
6/1 

Mrs Tracey 
Roberts 
Cuffin 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will work with the Trust Policy 
Co-ordinator to Implement and deliver a review and 
update of the service's Procedural Documents to 
ensure all guidelines are up to date (outcome 
measures: to achieve 95% target).  Priority will be 
given to any 'High Risk' Guidelines that are overdue for 
review. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure staff have access to up-to-
date and evidence-based guidelines and policies.  
(Regulation 12 (1)) 

MD3
6/3 

Dr Owen 
Galt 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will work with Trust NICE Lead 
to Implement and deliver a review and update of the 
service's Procedural Documents to ensure they are 
aligned with prevailing NICE Guidance Documents 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure staff have access to up-to-
date and evidence-based guidelines and policies.  
(Regulation 12 (1)) 

MD3
6/4 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

To review and update any out of date, high-risk, 
emergency guidelines. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure all women assessed as at 
risk of having sepsis receive care and treatment in line 
with national guidance and requirements. (Regulation 
12 (1)) 

MD3
7/1 

Mr Mark 
Davies 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will work with the Trust Acute 
Care Team and the Trust Clinical Audit Team to 
undertake a Re-audit of the sepsis management of all 
expectant mothers against national standards, a post 
audit action plan will be developed and implemented to 
address any performance issues. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

62



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure all women assessed as at 
risk of having sepsis receive care and treatment in line 
with national guidance and requirements. (Regulation 
12 (1)) 

MD3
7/3 

Mr Mark 
Davies 

Women 
and 

Children's 
Services 

The Service appointed Consultant Obstetrician will 
work with the Trust NICE Lead to review the sepsis 
guidance to ensure it is aligned with national NICE 
guidance. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must continue to develop a vision and 
strategy through engagement with staff, focused on 
sustainability and aligned to local plans within the 
wider health economy. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) (a) (e)) 

MD3
8/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will work with patients, staff and 
partner organisations to undertake a sustainability 
focussed review and update of the Maternity Vision 
and Strategy. To link in local plans to ensure we are 
fitting with the wider health economy and any 
recommendations as a result of Ockenden 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must continue to develop a vision and 
strategy through engagement with staff, focused on 
sustainability and aligned to local plans within the 
wider health economy. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) (a) (e)) 

MD3
8/3 

Mrs Tamsin 
Cripps 

Women 
and 

Children's 
Services 

OS Action - 
 The Trust and the WACS Care Group will work in 
conjunction with the Maternity Safety Support 
Programme (MSSP) to develop and implement 
improvements in the Trusts Maternity Services, to 
include; Improvement in Maternity Dashboard Metrics,  
Safe escalation and transfer ,Sepsis care and 
identification of the deteriorating patient and 
Implementation of CQC Must Do's Recommendations 

Unable to 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure they establish and operate 
effective governance processes and systems, with 
robust action plans to monitor and improve the safety 
and quality of services and mitigate risks to women 
and families using the service. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) 
(a) (b)) 

MD3
9/1 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will work with the Corporate 
Governance Team and Good Governance institute 
(GGI) to deliver and embed the new Trust Wide 
governance processes and systems within the Care 
Group (See also 91/1) 

Unable to 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure they establish and operate 
effective governance processes and systems, with 
robust action plans to monitor and improve the safety 
and quality of services and mitigate risks to women 
and families using the service. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) 
(a) (b)) 

MD3
9/3 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

To develop and implement a governance Maternity 
Risk Strategy which aligns to the wider Trust Risk 
Strategy 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure they establish and operate 
effective governance processes and systems, with 
robust action plans to monitor and improve the safety 
and quality of services and mitigate risks to women 
and families using the service. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) 
(a) (b)) 

MD3
9/4 

Mrs Tamsin 
Cripps 

Maternity 
Service 

OS Action - 
 The Trust and the WACS Care Group will work in 
conjunction with the Maternity Safety Support 
Programme (MSSP) to develop and implement 
improvements in the Trusts Maternity Services, to 
include; Improvement in Maternity Dashboard Metrics, 
Continuity of care, Safe escalation and transfer ,Sepsis 
care and identification of the deteriorating patient and 
Implementation of CQC Must Do's Recommendations 

In progress 

63



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that staff in the service adhere 
to trust infection prevention and control policy in the 
use of personal protective equipment and maintain 
patient and staff safety through social distancing at all 
times and in all areas.  
(Regulation 12(1)(2)(h)) 

MD4
6/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Prevailing and COVID specific IPC/PPE Policies 
already in place, monitoring through Spot Checks and 
Audits already in place.  The service will re-
communicate requirements to increase staff 
awareness and to encourage staff to actively challenge 
and/or report non-compliance, reported or identified 
incidents of non-compliance to be investigated and 
resolved. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure they participate in clinical 
audit to demonstrate the effectiveness of care and 
treatment. (Regulation 17(1)) 

MD4
7/1 

Mr Paul 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Care Group will participate in Clinical Audit as 
required and the Medicine Care Group will ensure that 
Clinical audit is tracked through the Care Group 
MGAG Meeting to ensure participation, timely data 
submission and implementation of post Audit Action 
Plans. 
 Audit Progress will also be shared with and/or 
reported at Trust Clinical Audit Meeting. 
 In particular; RCEM, SSNAP and TARN Audits 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure they participate in clinical 
audit to demonstrate the effectiveness of care and 
treatment. (Regulation 17(1)) 

MD4
7/2 

Mrs 
Heather 

Pratt 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust Clinical Audit Team will review and update 
Trust Wide Clinical Audit processes, to include; 
Implement and Embed new Clinical Audit Governance 
structure as required from the Trust Wide GGI 
Governance Review, to ensure consistent Ward To 
Board processes and escalation and to appoint a 
National Audit Co-ordinator within the Trust Clinical 
Audit Team. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that care is provided in line 
with national performance standards for waiting times 
from referral to treatment and arrangements to admit, 
treat and discharge patients. (Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

MD4
8/1 

Miss 
Leanne 
Cooper 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Plans has been developed as part of the BHACP UEC 
Programme, it has been signed off by A&E Delivery 
Board and now has additional PMO support to help its 
delivery. A robust improvement programme that 
facilitates patient flow corporately is in place and 
delivered in line with the Urgent Care action plan. (See 
MD16/1 also) 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that, patients with mental health 
concerns are seen in a timely way (Regulation 
12(1)(2)(i)) 

MD4
9/1 

Miss 
Leanne 
Cooper 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Service Mental Health improvement projects are 
being managed within the Bay Health and Care 
Partners (BHACP) Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) 
Improvement Programme under the Pre Hospital/A&E 
avoidance programme. 
 The BHACP UEC Improvement Plan includes input 
from local MH Trust (Lancashire and South Cumbria 
Trust) and local Police Forces. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

64



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that, patients with mental health 
concerns are seen in a timely way (Regulation 
12(1)(2)(i)) 

MD4
9/2 

Ms Emma 
Fitton 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The BHACP UEC Improvement Programme includes 
implementation of MHUAC services, actions specific to 
FGH ED include: 
 Implementation of an additional mental health post at 
FGH ED to support frequent attender service, 
introduction of Street triage service with Cumbria 
police in October 2021.  This service will run Tues to 
Fri (twilight) as this is when the majority of 136s occur.  
This service will hopefully have a positive impact on 
the number of patients with mental health problems 
presenting at ED. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure pain is assessed in line with 
clinical standards, administered in a timely way and 
recorded in patient notes.  
(Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

MD5
0/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will manage this 
recommendation through the fundamentals work on 
managing a deteriorating patient and medicines 
management. 
 To be reviewed as part of RCEM audit to determine 
required actions 
 Pain scores to be monitored as part of safety checks 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure all patients are clinically 
assessed and National Early Warning Scores are 
documented for all patients. (Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

MD5
1/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will manage this 
recommendation through the fundamentals work on 
managing a deteriorating patient and medicines 
management 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure all relevant staff have completed 
Paediatric Advanced Life Support when supporting 
paediatric provision in the emergency department. 
(Regulation 12(1)(2)(i)) 

MD5
2/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will review resuscitation 
training requirements / standards in relation to 
paediatric training and develop a plan for compliance 
where necessary 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must review the service’s paediatric staffing 
provision, including the environment they wait in and 
the paediatric nursing and medical cover in line with 
The Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 
(RCPCH) Standards for Children and Young People in 
Emergency settings (2012) (Regulation 18(1)) 

MD5
3/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust has a programme of work for reviewing 
compliance with the 'Facing The Future' requirements 
and to deliver improvements, which is reported through 
to MGAG.   
This will include Medical and Nursing staffing levels 
and paediatric environment at FGH ED.   
This Action is for Medical Staffing Levels. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must review the service’s paediatric staffing 
provision, including the environment they wait in and 
the paediatric nursing and medical cover in line with 
The Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 
(RCPCH) Standards for Children and Young People in 
Emergency settings (2012) (Regulation 18(1)) 

MD5
3/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust has a programme of work for reviewing 
compliance with the 'Facing The Future' requirements 
and to deliver improvements, which is reported through 
to MGAG.   
This will include Medical and Nursing staffing levels 
and paediatric environment at FGH ED.   
This Action is for Nursing Staffing Levels. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

65



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must review the service’s paediatric staffing 
provision, including the environment they wait in and 
the paediatric nursing and medical cover in line with 
The Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 
(RCPCH) Standards for Children and Young People in 
Emergency settings (2012) (Regulation 18(1)) 

MD5
3/3 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust has a programme of work for reviewing 
compliance with the 'Facing The Future' requirements 
and to deliver improvements, which is reported through 
to the A&E delivery Board.   
This will include Medical and Nursing staffing levels 
and paediatric environment at FGH ED.   
This Action is for paediatric environment. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must take action to improve safeguarding 
adults and safeguarding children level three training 
rates for doctors and nurses. (Regulation 18(1)) 

MD5
4/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will review Safeguarding 
guidance / training requirements against current 
compliance and ensure robust plan in place in 
conjunction with the Safeguarding Team 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must operate an effective clinical escalation 
system to ensure stroke care and treatment is 
assessed and implemented in a timely way. 
(Regulation 12 (1) & (2) (a) & (b)) 

MD5
8/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine All recommendations related to the stroke treatment 
pathway are being managed under the Action Plan 
that Trust has developed to address the section 31 
improvement work, this action plan overseen by the 
Chief Operation Officer and its progress is monitored 
at / reported to Trust Management Group. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must implement an effective system to 
ensure that all clinical staff have the knowledge, 
competence, skills and experience to care for and 
provide treatment to patients presenting with 
symptoms of stroke. (Regulation 18 (2) (a)) 

MD5
9/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine All recommendations related to the stroke treatment 
pathway are being managed under the Action Plan 
that Trust has developed to address the section 31 
improvement work, this action plan is overseen by the 
Chief Operations Officer and its progress is monitored 
at / reported to Trust Management Group. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure there are sufficient maternity 
staff with the right qualifications, skills, training and 
experience to keep women safe from avoidable harm 
and to provide the right care and treatment. 
(Regulation 18 (1)(2)(a)) 

MD6
6/1 

Mrs Tamsin 
Cripps 

Maternity 
Service 

To complete a robust workforce plan agreed by Trust 
Board based on the outcomes of the Birth Rate Plus 
Review. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure there are sufficient maternity 
staff with the right qualifications, skills, training and 
experience to keep women safe from avoidable harm 
and to provide the right care and treatment. 
(Regulation 18 (1)(2)(a)) 

MD6
6/2 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

Review and complete a maternity training plan to 
include Core Skills Framework, job essential training 
and core competency training 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure medical staff complete all 
required safeguarding level 3 training. (Regulation 18 
(1)(2)(a)) 

MD6
7/1 

Mr Mark 
Davies 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will ensure medical staff 
complete safeguarding level 3 training in a timely 
manner and in line with Trust targets 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

66



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure risk assessments are 
completed and are actions taken to minimise any risks 
identified (Regulation 12(1)(2)(a) (b)) 

MD6
8/1 

Mrs Tamsin 
Cripps 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will complete its existing work 
programme to move all risk assessments into the 
Local ICS 'BadgerNet' Maternity System and to 
establish; an auditing process for the Risk 
assessments held in BadgerNet and to review and 
update existing escalation processes in light of the 
introduction of BadgerNet 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure risk assessments are 
completed and are actions taken to minimise any risks 
identified (Regulation 12(1)(2)(a) (b)) 

MD6
8/2 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

To develop a process to ensure appropriate risk 
assessments are carried out throughout the pregnancy 
journey 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure appropriate systems are 
used for maintaining accurate, complete and 
contemporaneous records for service users 
(Regulation 17(2)(c)) 

MD7
0/1 

Mrs Tamsin 
Cripps 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will implement the Local ICS 
'BadgerNet' Maternity System 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure appropriate systems are 
used for maintaining accurate, complete and 
contemporaneous records for service users 
(Regulation 17(2)(c)) 

MD7
0/2 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will further strengthen existing 
processes for record keeping, undertake appropriate 
audit and external checks of these processes. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

service must ensure staff assess the risks to women 
during and after birth in order to identify women at risk 
of deterioration. (Regulation 12 (1) (2) (a)) 

MD8
4/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will undertake an Audit of 
MOEWS at HHCMU to confirm compliance levels with 
this recommendation and, if required, will then review 
and the relevant guidance documents for HCMU and 
undertake staff awareness and training that is 
required. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that women presenting in 
labour have immediate access to suitable qualified and 
skilled midwifery staff.  
(Regulation 18 (1)) 

MD8
5/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

Recommendation relates to the Helme Chase 
Maternity Unit (HCMU), which is is a Mid Wife Led 
Unit.  WACs Care Group will review the service 
provision at HCMU and confirm whether it is 
concordant with the prevailing national 
standards/requirements for a Mid Wife Led Maternity 
Unit. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that women presenting in 
labour have immediate access to suitable qualified and 
skilled midwifery staff.  
(Regulation 18 (1)) 

MD8
5/2 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will look at recruitment and 
retention strategy for Helme Chase Maternity Unit and 
deliver an improved trajectory for education and 
training for Helme Chase Maternity Unit, as part of 
wider Maternity Service strategy 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

67



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure staff assess and mitigate the 
risks to women’s health and safety in an emergency 
situation either during home birth or at the unit. They 
must ensure appropriate escalation and transfer takes 
place. (Regulation 12 (1) (2) (a) (b)) 

MD8
6/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will review and update the 
Operational Policy Document(s) for the Helme Chase 
Maternity Unit and ensure the documents are aligned 
with relevant standards. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure staff assess and mitigate the 
risks to women’s health and safety in an emergency 
situation either during home birth or at the unit. They 
must ensure appropriate escalation and transfer takes 
place. (Regulation 12 (1) (2) (a) (b)) 

MD8
6/2 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will meet with North West 
Ambulance Service (NWAS) to discuss and agree 
dates for skills drills/training to take place. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure all equipment is properly 
maintained and that staff do not use equipment that is 
not safe nor used for its intended purpose. Specifically, 
they should not use a domestic bath to support water 
birth. All staff should be aware of the birthing pool 
emergency evacuation process and have access to 
the required equipment at all times. (Regulation 12 (1) 
(d) & (e)) 

MD8
8/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service have confirmed that; the 
domestic bath has not been used since 2014, it has 
been very clearly identified as being 'out of order' and 
will now be de-commissioned, an SOP for the 
evacuation of the Birthing Pool is in place, staff 
awareness and training took place in August 2021 - 
Action Completed 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure they establish and operate 
effective governance processes and systems, with 
robust action plans to monitor and improve the safety 
and quality of services and mitigate risks to women 
and families using the service. (Regulation 17 (1) (2) 
(a) & (b)) 

MD9
1/1 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will further strengthen local 
governance and assurance processes in line with the 
Trust's internal Governance Review and established 
Maternity best practice and work with the national 
maternity and safety improvement team to review and 
develop any additional improvements identified (see 
also 39/1) 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure they deploy sufficient suitably 
competent and experienced staff and ensure all staff 
receive appropriate skills and drills training and 
professional development to enable them to maintain 
competency given the low numbers of deliveries. 
(Regulation 18 (1) (2) (a)) 

MD9
2/1 

Mrs Tamsin 
Cripps 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will implement a training plan to 
ensure that staff at the Helme Chase Maternity Unit 
have the appropriate skills and competency to provide 
care and treatment to the low risk births / expectant 
mothers treated at the Helme Chase Maternity Unit. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure effective systems are in place 
to assess and mitigate individual patient safety risks.  
Regulation 12 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Safe care and 
treatment 

MD9
6/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Medicine The Service will investigate moving one ward from 
Medical Unit 2 to a new purpose built frailty unit in 
Medical Unit 1 (action under review in reference to the 
recommendation) 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure effective systems are in place 
to assess and mitigate individual patient safety risks.  
Regulation 12 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Safe care and 
treatment 

MD9
6/2 

Mrs Emily 
Henry-

Farncombe 

Medicine The Service will undertake additional building work on 
the existing wards in Medical Unit 2 to enhance the 
accommodation 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

68



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure people are kept free from 
harm.  
Regulation 13(5) Safeguarding service users from 
abuse and improper treatment 

MD9
7/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine The Medicine Care Group will review Safeguarding 
guidance / training requirements against current 
compliance and ensure robust plan in place in 
conjunction with the Safeguarding Team to ensure 
service users are kept free from harm 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure nurse staffing levels meet the 
minimum standards of the National Institute of Health 
and Care 
 Excellence.  
Regulation 18 (1): Staffing. 

MD9
8/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine The Service will recruit a new Advanced Nurse 
Practitioner to improve the care offered to patients. 
This will form part of a wider staffing review to ensure 
there is adequate nursing staffing within the service. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure nurse staffing levels meet the 
minimum standards of the National Institute of Health 
and Care 
 Excellence.  
Regulation 18 (1): Staffing. 

MD9
8/2 

Mr Tony 
Crick 

Medicine Improving the care offered to patients by employing 
two new physiotherapists, to support Medical Wards in 
Medical Unit 2 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure medical staffing levels meet 
the minimum standards of the Royal College of 
Physicians. 
 Regulation 18 (1): Staffing 

MD9
9/1 

Mr Scott 
Bremner 

Medicine To  service will undertake a medical staffing review to 
ensure staffing levels are meeting RCP minimum 
standards. Findings to be reported via MGAG with 
actions put in place to recruit to roles where 
necessary. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure there is full oversight of services 
offered by the care group through robust governance 
processes. 
 Regulation 17(2)(a): Good Governance 

MD1
00/1 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Medicine The Trust will complete the GGI review of Governance 
Meeting Structures, Reporting and Escalation 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure there is full oversight of services 
offered by the care group through robust governance 
processes. 
 Regulation 17(2)(a): Good Governance 

MD1
00/2 

Mr Stuart 
Bates 

Medicine The Trust has completed an Initial Section 26 / Notice 
of Proposal evidence submission detailing the actions 
taken to address governance processes and ensure 
they are robust and will be sustained 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure effective systems are in place 
to monitor discharges to prevent patients from 
becoming deconditioned.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(b): Good governance 

MD1
01/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Medicine The service will review current systems in place for 
patient discharges and seek to improve the monitoring 
and escalation processes to help prevent patients from 
becoming deconditioned. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

69



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure effective systems are in place 
to monitor discharges to prevent patients from 
becoming deconditioned.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(b): Good governance 

MD1
01/2 

Mr Paul 
Smith 

Medicine Clinical Director and/or Director Nursing of Medicine 
Care Group to issue a communication to Medicine 
Care Group staff who work in Medical Unit 2, to 
instruct that non Trust system (e.g. Whats App) cannot 
be used as tools for communication about patients or 
for the escalation of concerns regarding patients.  Any 
practical issues with the communication about patients 
or for the escalation of concerns regarding patients 
located in Med Unit 2 at the RLI should be escalated to 
the Trust's Chief Information Officer and Chief Clinical 
Information Officer and alerted to the Trust 
Management Group for immediate action and 
resolution. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure there are effective systems 
are in place to consistently assess, monitor and 
improve patient 
 safety and the quality of care.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Good governance 

MD1
02/1 

Mrs Diane 
Smith 

Medicine Review the systems and processes that are in place to 
assess and monitor safety and quality of care 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure there are effective systems 
are in place to consistently assess, monitor and 
improve patient 
 safety and the quality of care.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Good governance 

MD1
02/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine Medical Care Group to ensure that there are 
improvements in the completion and review of 
monitoring assessments and risk assessments for 
individual patients on the Medical Wards in Med Unit 2 
from August 2021 to December 2022. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure there are effective systems 
are in place to consistently assess, monitor and 
improve patient 
 safety and the quality of care.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Good governance 

MD1
02/3 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine Medicine Care to ensure that the escalation of 
concerns on the Medical Wards in Med Unit 2 can be 
appropriately integrated into and reported through the 
Care Group and Trust Governance structures. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure there are effective systems 
are in place to consistently assess, monitor and 
improve patient 
 safety and the quality of care.  
Regulation 17 (1)(2)(a) and (b): Good governance 

MD1
02/4 

Ms Debbie 
Crawford 

Medicine Medicine Care Group to work with Radiology to 
improve the performance in achieving the 1 Hour 
Target for Stroke CT's for patients located in the 
Medical Wards in Medical Unit 2 at the RLI. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure continued development and 
investment in pharmacy resources to make sure 
medicines reconciliation rates and antimicrobial 
stewardship are improved across the trust. (Regulation 
12 (2) (g)) 

MD1
14/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy Recommendation to be reviewed with Chief 
Pharmacist, Medication Safety Officer and ADOp of 
CCS to determine; 
 a) is the is the same recommendation as MD6 
 b) if it is the same recommendation, are there any 
new actions required? 

Partially 
complete 

70



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 c) if no no new actions are required this new 
recommendation will be managed through MD6 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that antimicrobial prescribing 
guidelines are consistently followed. (Regulation 12 (2) 
(g)) 

MD1
15/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy Recommendation reviewed with Chief Pharmacist, 
Medication Safety Officer and ADOp of CCS, to 
consider whether this recommendation is already 
being addressed through Recommendation MD6 
and/or MD114  (The trust must ensure continued 
development and investment in pharmacy resources to 
make sure medicines reconciliation rates and 
antimicrobial stewardship are improved across the 
trust.) 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that antimicrobial prescribing 
guidelines are consistently followed. (Regulation 12 (2) 
(g)) 

MD1
15/2 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy Anti-Microbial Stewardship Pharmacists and Pharmacy 
Technicians to undertake a review of the Trust 
Antimicrobial prescribing Guidelines to ascertain if the 
documents are up to date and fit for purpose, if the 
review identifies any changes that are required the 
Anti-Microbial Stewardship Pharmacists and Pharmacy 
Technicians will then liaise with the Document Authors 
and the Procedural Document Team to ensure the 
documents are promptly updated and re-issued. 
 PHARM/GUID/003 - Antimicrobial Paediatrics 
Guideline 
 CORP/GUID/060 - Antibiotic Prescribing in Surgery 
 CORP/GUID/061 - Antibiotic Prescribing for Medicine 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that antimicrobial prescribing 
guidelines are consistently followed. (Regulation 12 (2) 
(g)) 

MD1
15/3 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy Pharmacy to complete Audit 2763 Audit of Agreed 
Antimicrobial Use, results of Audit to reported at 
Medication Safety Group and shared with Care 
Groups, Audit results will confirm if antimicrobial 
prescribing guidelines are being followed. 
 Pharmacy to investigate if data collected for 2022/23 
Qtr1 could be used to provide a preliminary 
assessment to identify any high risk issues or high risk 
areas, so that interim remedial actions can be 
undertaken. 

Partially 
complete 

71



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that antimicrobial prescribing 
guidelines are consistently followed. (Regulation 12 (2) 
(g)) 

MD1
15/4 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

Pharmacy Chief Pharmacist, in conjunction with Chief Medical 
Officer and the Director of Infection Prevention and 
Control, will issue an immediate communication to all 
prescribers to inform them that the CQC Inspection 
Report contains a Must Do Recommendation on 
'Ensuring that antimicrobial prescribing guidelines are 
consistently followed' and that as prescribers they 
should ensure they are aware of the the Trust's 
antimicrobial prescribing guidelines and ensure they 
followed, with any clinical concerns and issues with the 
guidelines being appropriately escalated. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that patient’s privacy is upheld. 
Regulation 10(1)(2)(a) 

MD1
21/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team and Medicine Care 
Group Triumvirate to undertake review 
Recommendation MD121 to determine if this 
recommendation is a 'duplicate' of the existing 
Recommendation MD18 from the August 2021 
Inspection report.  
If it is determined that recommendation MD121, it will 
then be decided if the existing action plan to address 
Recommendation MD18 is sufficient to address both 
Recommendations, or if Recommendation MD121 
requires an independent action plan. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that patient records are stored 
in a secure manner and can be accessed by staff. 
Regulation 17(1)(2)(c) 

MD1
22/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group Action Plan to improve IG 
compliance at FGH ED 
 Issue Immediate communication to FGH ED staff  to 
inform them that the CQC have issued a Must Do 
Recommendation to improve Information Governance 
in the Department. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that patient records are stored 
in a secure manner and can be accessed by staff. 
Regulation 17(1)(2)(c) 

MD1
22/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group Action Plan to improve IG 
compliance at FGH ED 
 Continue with ongoing communication to maintain 
staff awareness of Information Governance and 
Patient Confidentiality. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that patient records are stored 
in a secure manner and can be accessed by staff. 
Regulation 17(1)(2)(c) 

MD1
22/3 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group Action Plan to improve IG 
compliance at FGH ED 
 Continue with spot checks of IG compliance through 
Matron Audits and Service Reviews. 

In progress 

72



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that patient records are stored 
in a secure manner and can be accessed by staff. 
Regulation 17(1)(2)(c) 

MD1
22/4 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group Action Plan to improve IG 
compliance at FGH ED 
 Undertake an Audit of IG compliance at FGH ED, by 
end of August 2022, with results to reported by to Care 
Group Governance meeting and Care Group 
Management meeting In September 2022  
Any Items of significant concern will also be escalated 
to the Information Governance & Data Quality Group. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The trust must ensure that patient records are stored 
in a secure manner and can be accessed by staff. 
Regulation 17(1)(2)(c) 

MD1
22/5 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group Action Plan to improve IG 
compliance at FGH ED 
 Schedule a Re-Audit of IG Compliance in the FGH 
ED, to take place in 2023, to monitor for 
improvements.  Audit specification to state that; results 
to be reported by to the Care Group Governance 
meeting and Care Group Management meeting, and 
any Items of significant concern will also be escalated 
to the Information Governance & Data Quality Group. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that care and treatment is 
provided in a safe way by the proper and safe 
management of medicines. Regulation 12 (1) (2) (g) 

MD1
26/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

To Recruit and deploy Pharmacists and Pharmacy 
Technicians dedicated to support and to improve 
Medicine Management within the Emergency 
Departments at FGH and RL  
2 FTE Pharmacist(s) at FGH ED  
2 FTE Pharmacy Technicians at FGH ED  
1 FTE Pharmacist(s) at RLI ED  
2 FTE Pharmacy Technicians at RLI ED 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that care and treatment is 
provided in a safe way by the proper and safe 
management of medicines. Regulation 12 (1) (2) (g) 

MD1
26/2 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group and Pharmacy to work together 
to develop and implement a business case to replace 
the Mediwell Drug storage systems used in the 
Emergency Departments at FGH and RLI. 

Partially 
complete 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that patients are treated with 
dignity and respect. Including ensuring their privacy 
and having due regard to any relevant protected 
characteristics. Regulation 10 (1) (2) (a) (c) 

MD1
27/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team to review this 
recommendation with with members of the Medicine 
Care Group Triumvirate  to determine if it is a 
'duplicate' of  Recommendation MD121, and if it is a 
duplicate whether a separate action is required or not. 

Partially 
complete 

73



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that all premises and 
equipment used by the service provider are secure 
and suitable for the purpose for which they are being 
used. Regulation 15 (1) (b)(c) 

MD1
28/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

In light of the prevailing Capital situation and the 
physical constraints on the RLI site, Medicine Care 
Group to liaise with CEO, COO and CFO to identify 
any practical options and associated timescales for 
'ensuring that RLI ED Premises are suitable for the 
purpose for which they are being used', these will then 
be reported back to Trust Board and the CQC 
Engagement Meeting. Non-Estates solutions to 
improvement Patient Safety Adult and Paediatric 
Waiting Areas and the Paediatric Treatment Areas are 
being investigated under Actions MD128/2 and 
MD128/3. 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that all premises and 
equipment used by the service provider are secure 
and suitable for the purpose for which they are being 
used. Regulation 15 (1) (b)(c) 

MD1
28/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group will investigate alternative 
solutions (not Estates Works) to improve clinical 
observation of Adult Patients and clinical oversight of 
Paediatric Patients in the waiting areas. Consideration 
to be given to some form of regular intentional 
rounding of the ED Waiting Areas by clinical staff. 
Risks to be updated on the risk register 

In progress 

Must 
Do 

The service must ensure that all premises and 
equipment used by the service provider are secure 
and suitable for the purpose for which they are being 
used. Regulation 15 (1) (b)(c) 

MD1
28/3 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group will investigate alternative 
solutions (not Estates Works) to improve the safety of 
Patients in the Paediatric Treatment Area. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that Patient Group Directions 
oversight should be strengthened to ensure sure 
appropriate and timely review and implementation 

SD7/
1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

TRUSTWI
DE 

Chief Pharmacist, Trust Procedural Document Team 
and Chair of Drugs, Therapeutics and Medicines 
Management Group to continue and complete existing 
programme of work to review and improve the 
processes for the review, approval and implementation 
of Patient Group Directives (PGDs) 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that the uptake of medicines 
management e-learning be prioritised to help improve 
medicines safety 

SD8/
1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

TRUSTWI
DE 

The Pharmacy Service will implement proactive 
scrutiny of medicines management e-learning 
compliance via the Medication Safety Group and plan 
improvements with the Care Groups 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

74



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that Electronic Prescribing and 
Medicines Administration (EPMA) auditing be 
strengthened to proactively identify prescribing and 
administration errors 

SD9/
1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

TRUSTWI
DE 

As part of GGI Governance review, confirm that 
Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration 
(EPMA) auditing will be part of remit of EPMA Steering 
Group and complete review of EPMA Steering Group 
Terms of Reference to including Auditing of EPMA.   
Chair of EPMA Steering Group to work with Trust 
Clinical Audit Team to establish programme of Audits 
with results reported back to EPMA Steering Group for 
post audit action plans to be developed in conjunction 
with Care Groups. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that all staff follow infection 
control principles, including the use of personal 
protective equipment (PPE) at all times and receive 
refresher training in this where deemed necessary 

SD2
2/1 

Mrs Amy 
Mbuli 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Prevailing and COVID specific IPC/PPE Policies 
already in place, monitoring through Spot Checks and 
Audits already in place. The service will re-
communicate requirements to increase staff 
awareness and to encourage staff to actively challenge 
and/or report non-compliance, reported or identified 
incidents of non-compliance to be investigated and 
resolved. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider whether they can build a 
separate paediatric treatment area to meet best 
practice guidelines 

SD2
3/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust has a programme of work for reviewing 
compliance with the 'Facing The Future' requirements 
and to deliver improvements, which is reported through 
to the A&E delivery Board. This will include a review 
provision of paediatric services at RLI ED to determine 
most appropriate service design 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider whether the triage service in 
the walk-in waiting area can be improved so that the 
triage nurse can observe patients in the waiting area 
more easily 

SD2
4/1 

Mr Richard 
Vallely 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will, in conjunction with the 
RLI Estates Team, undertake a review of the RLI ED 
triage area and develop improvement plan 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider ensuring that there is a 
doctor or consultant at all safety huddles so that 
clinical information is not omitted from being shared 
with nursing staff. 

SD2
5/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will review records of 
Medical attendance at Safety huddles and consider the 
feasibility of requiring Medical attendance at all safety 
huddles at RLI ED. 
 The Service will then undertake a review of the safety 
huddle process and will review and update the Safety 
Huddle SOP if required. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that a more robust system of 
assessing skin integrity and pressure sores is put in 
place rather than the “safe and seen” assessment 
used presently. 

SD2
6/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will undertake comparative 
Audits of the 'Waterlow' risk assessments against the 
'Seen & Safe' risk assessments to identify the most 
appropriate documentation method. The more robust 
method for assessing Tissue Viability will then be 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

75



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

implemented, with procedural documents to updated 
accordingly 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider giving emergency 
department managers access to view incidents that 
are graded no harm or low harm, in order that there is 
complete oversight of incidents in the department to 
ensure that they have been graded correctly or may 
meet the criteria for a serious incident 

SD2
7/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Incident Management Policy already in place which 
contains detailed guidance on the grading of the harm 
level of incidents. 
 Review of Incident Management System has 
confirmed that; ED managers already have access 
rights to all incidents in the ED, have access rights to 
re-grade the harm level of these incidents and have 
access rights to flag these incidents as a 'Serious 
Incident'. 
 ED Managers have been offered further training in the 
Incident Management System and grading the harm 
level of incidents. 
 All Incidents graded with a Harm level of Moderate or 
above are also independently reviewed at the Trust 
Wide Weekly Patient Safety Summit. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider giving emergency 
department managers access to view incidents that 
are graded no harm or low harm, in order that there is 
complete oversight of incidents in the department to 
ensure that they have been graded correctly or may 
meet the criteria for a serious incident 

SD2
7/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

RLI ED Matron to work Medicine Care Group Patient 
Safety Team and Trust Patient Safety Team to 
produce a summary of the various Patient Safety 
systems, processes and meetings that are in place in 
Medicine Care Group and the Trust which help to 
ensure that there is "complete oversight of incidents in 
the department". 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider completing the urgent and 
emergency care plans that have been delayed so that 
these can feed into the medicine care group strategy 

SD2
8/1 

Miss 
Leanne 
Cooper 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Plans have been developed as part of the BHACP 
UEC Programme and signed off by A&E Delivery 
Board. Additional PMO support allocated to help 
delivery. A robust improvement programme that 
facilitates patient flow corporately is in place and 
delivered in line with the Urgent Care action plan. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider completing the urgent and 
emergency care plans that have been delayed so that 
these can feed into the medicine care group strategy 

SD2
8/2 

Mrs Diane 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Bay/Trust Wide elements being managed through 
Action SD28/1 by Leanne Cooper 
 Medicine Care group are responsible for implementing 
two elements of the Urgent and emergency care plans; 
'Front Door' and 'ED'. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

76



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should take appropriate actions to improve 
staff mandatory training, including safeguarding 
training in line with trust compliance targets. 

SD3
4/1 

Mrs Carol 
Park 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

The Surgery Care Group has improved Mandatory 
training compliance and is currently meeting Trust 
targets, the Surgery Care Group will review 
compliance again in 3 months time and if compliance 
remains high, action can be closed. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should take appropriate actions to improve 
staff appraisal completion in line with trust compliance 
targets 

SD3
5/1 

Mr Daniel 
Bakey 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

The Surgery Care Group will take steps to improve 
appraisal compliance through: weekly monitoring of 
performance at SMG, monthly monitoring at 
Governance Meeting, red flagging of Hot Spots, 
discussion in 1-to-1's with Clinical Leads and 
Dept/Ward Managers. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider implementing a policy and 
schedule for changing the keypad code at ward 
entrances to maintain security 

SD4
1/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service at RLI will work with the Estates 
Team and the Security to undertake a review of the 
security systems, to establish the practical feasibility 
and implementation of Swipe Card Access, or the 
continuation of Key Pad Access, if Key Pad access 
continues a schedule of code changes will then be 
established and implemented. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should ensure the policy for cleaning of 
the birthing pool is ratified and implemented to control 
the risk of spread of infection. 

SD4
2/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will review and update the 
organisational policy for the cleaning of the birthing 
pools and ensure the document complies with relevant 
standards 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should ensure that recommendations from 
external incident investigations are fully considered 
and appropriate, robust action plans put in place 

SD4
3/1 

Ms Heather 
Gallagher 

Maternity 
Service 

The WACS Care Group Triumvirate will review 
recommendations from external incident investigations 
(including the Ockenden Report) and will then ensure 
that remedial action plans are robust, are monitored at 
Triumvirate meetings and that evidence is provided 
against each action. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should act to improve the assessment of 
women’s pain in light of their clinical condition and 
ensure all women receive pain relief in a timely 
manner 

SD4
4/1 

Mrs Claire 
Bowman 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will carry out a Pain 
Management Audit and will develop an improvement 
plan once audit results are available 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should continue to act to ensure women 
received continuity of care in line with national 
recommendations and targets 

SD4
5/1 

Mrs Ruth 
Deery 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will develop a continuity of care 
model by locality, the care model will be aligned with 
national recommendations and targets. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider what actions the service can 
take to improve safeguarding adults and safeguarding 
children level three training rates for doctors and 
nurses. 

SD5
5/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will review guidance / 
training requirements against current compliance and 
ensure robust plan in place in conjunction with the 
Safeguarding Team 
 (action links to MD54) 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

77



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure senior leaders of the 
department have oversight of paediatric activity and 
performance in the ED. 

SD5
6/1 

Mr Neil 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will work with the Business 
Intelligence Team to include data on the ED paediatric 
activity within the Trusts command and control centre 
platform, and will undertake a review of the ED Safety 
Huddle SOP to ensure that includes ED paediatric 
activity. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that wards are secured to 
maintain patient safety 

SD6
2/1 

Ms Sarah 
Maguire 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

The Surgery Care Group will obtain quote(s) to 
improve security on Surgery Wards at FGH. 
 Quote obtained on day of Inspection, funding in place, 
need to confirm progress of Works. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that fire doors are maintained 
and used correctly 

SD6
3/1 

Mrs Carol 
Park 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

Met with staff and ward managers. Responsibilities 
and accountabilities made clear and staff will be held 
to account re standards for their ward/ department. 
 Daily matron checks in place  
Action completed 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that systems and processes 
are established and operated effectively to identify, 
assess, monitor, escalate and take mitigating actions, 
particularly in relation to the safe storage of medicine 
and the checking of emergency resuscitation 
equipment. 

SD6
4/1 

Ms Sarah 
Maguire 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

The Surgery Care Group has existing processes to 
ensure that Resuscitation equipment is checked daily 
and monitored via the AMaT system. Action complete 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that systems and processes 
are established and operated effectively to identify, 
assess, monitor, escalate and take mitigating actions, 
particularly in relation to the safe storage of medicine 
and the checking of emergency resuscitation 
equipment. 

SD6
4/2 

Ms Sarah 
Maguire 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

Trust Wide Safe and secure storage of medicine 
(SSSM) policies and procedures already in place, 
annual SSSM audit undertaken by Pharmacy and 
reported to Medication Safety Group.  Spot checks on 
SSSM undertaken by Matrons and Ward Managers.  
SSSM data collection/audit to be moved to AMAT 
system to enable more rigorous monitoring by Matrons 
and Ward Managers.  The Service will communicate to 
staff to reiterate the importance of the SSSM and will 
continue with monitoring and escalation. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure patient records are stored 
securely. 

SD6
5/1 

Ms Sarah 
Maguire 

Surgery 
and Critical 

Care 
Services 

Briefings held with staff to staff to reinforce IG and 
privacy requirements 
 Daily matron checks in place, Information Governance 
included in Service Reviews. 
 The majority of patient records are now electronic, 
Minimal paper notes remaining within locked trollies for 
security. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

78



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should act to improve the quality of safety 
information shared in SBAR handover. 

SD7
6/1 

Mrs Holly 
Parkinson 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will undertake a review and 
update of the SOP / Guideline for SBAR Handover and 
ensure it is aligned with National Standards. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should act to improve the quality of safety 
information shared in SBAR handover. 

SD7
6/2 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will undertake a review practice 
of current SBAR Handover processes and identify 
if/how these can be re-implemented / re-energised 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should act to improve the quality of safety 
information shared in SBAR handover. 

SD7
6/3 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service will work with the Trust Clinical 
Audit team to undertake an annual Audit to measure 
compliance with SBAR guideline/ SOP and will 
develop remedial action plans if required  undertake a 
yearly audit to provide assurance 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should progress actions to enable 
improved access within the birth centre, in context of 
the physical environment. 

SD7
9/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

There are two lifts for access to the South Lakes Birth 
Centre; one for emergency access for trolley patients, 
one for ambulatory patient/family access.  The 
Maternity Service will ensure the induction training of 
all new staff includes information on how to enable 
access the delivery suites in an emergency. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should implement effective use of the 
whiteboard communication system on the birth centre 

SD8
0/1 

Mrs Tamsin 
Cripps 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service, in conjunction with I3 Service, 
will undertake a post Badger Net implementation 
review of the whiteboards at the South Lakes Birth 
Centre 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that visible information about 
requesting a chaperone is available to patients 
attending the centre. 

SD8
1/1 

Mrs Diane 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will develop and implement 
posters/signage so patients attending the Kendal 
Urgent Treatment Centre are made aware that they 
can request a chaperone to be present during their 
treatment 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The Trust should ensure that privacy and 
confidentiality is maintained for patients when sharing 
personal information 

SD8
3/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will brief staff at the Kendal 
Urgent Treatment Centre to re-iterate the importance 
of maintaining patient confidentiality and will then 
undertake a review as part of the regular matron audit 
to confirm compliance with patient privacy / 
confidentiality requirements, ensure staff are up to 
date with IG training. Regular monitoring at MCGAG to 
be established. 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider protected time to allow for 
the completion of mandatory training 

SD9
3/1 

Mrs Linda 
Womack 

Maternity 
Service 

The Maternity Service already schedule 4 compulsory 
mandatory training days per annum for all staff in 
Maternity Services, to help ensure ongoing compliance 
with mandatory training. Additional protected time for 
the completion of mandatory training is available to 

Partially 
complete 
(Overdue) 

79



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

staff at the discretion of Department/Unit/Ward 
Managers. 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should work to engage the workforce and 
increase visibility of the executive team 

SD9
5/1 

Mr Paul 
Jones 

Maternity 
Service 

The Trust will maintain and enhance Executive 
Directors presence on all sites, through a schedule of 
planned Executive visits/presence. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 
Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that all records are securely 
stored 

SD1
03/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine The Medicine Care Group will brief staff at RLI Medical 
Unit 2 to re-iterate the importance of maintaining 
patient confidentiality and will then undertake a review 
as part of the regular matron audit to confirm 
compliance compliance with patient privacy / 
confidentiality requirements.  Also check compliance 
with IG core skills training on Medical Unit 2 Wards 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should ensure they complete MUST 
documentation 

SD1
04/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine The Medicine Care Group will manage this 
recommendation through the fundamentals work on 
managing a deteriorating patient and medicines 
management. Matrons will maintain regular oversight 
through assurance checks. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should ensure that cleaning schedules are 
completed appropriately. (Regulation 12 

SD1
16/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine Medicine Care Group, with support from Infection 
Prevention and Facilities, will, issue an immediate 
communication to FGH Ward/Unit Managers and FGH 
Matrons informing that the CQC have issued a Should 
Recommendation to improve the completion Cleaning 
Schedule and that the immediate action should be 
taken to ensure Cleaning Schedules are completed. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should ensure that cleaning schedules are 
completed appropriately. (Regulation 12 

SD1
16/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Medicine Medicine Care Group, with support from Infection 
Prevention and Facilities, will, review and update the 
cleaning schedules on the Medical Wards at FGH, 
progress will be monitored by regular audit and re-
audit of compliance with the revised cleaning 
schedules. Progress will be reported at the Care 
Group Governance meeting and the Trust Infection 
Prevention Control Group. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that their updated policy for 
the management of violence and aggression should 
include clearer guidance about the use of medicines in 
line with National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) guidelines. (Regulation 17 

SD1
17/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Medicine Recommendation reviewed with Chief Pharmacist, 
Medication Safety Officer and ADOp of CCS.  
Confirmed that Pharmacy are already leading on the 
review of the rapid tranquilisation policy. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

80



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that their updated policy for 
the management of violence and aggression should 
include clearer guidance about the use of medicines in 
line with National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) guidelines. (Regulation 17 

SD1
17/2 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Medicine Trust NICE Lead to facilitate a re-baseline assessment 
of NG10, with input from Medicine Care Group, 
Pharmacy, Security and Safeguarding to be completed 
by end of October 2022.   
Progress and completion of re-baseline assessment 
will be reported to Trust Clinical Audit & Standards 
Group. 
 Outcomes from re-baseline assessment to be used in 
subsequent review and update of Procedural 
Documents CORP/POL/016, CORP/POL/044 and 
CORP/PROT/011- see action SD117/3, SD117/4 and 
SD117/5 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that their updated policy for 
the management of violence and aggression should 
include clearer guidance about the use of medicines in 
line with National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) guidelines. (Regulation 17 

SD1
17/3 

Mr Mark 
Lippett 

Medicine Following completion of re-Baseline Assessment of 
NICE Guideline NG10 lead by Trust NICE Lead (target 
date October 2022), the author of Trust Procedural 
Document CORP/POL/044 (Behaviour Management 
and Supportive Intervention), will use outcomes from 
the re-Baseline Assessment of NICE Guideline NG10 
to inform a review and update of Trust Procedural 
Document CORP/POL/044 with support from 
Pharmacy, Safeguarding and Care Groups. 
 Progress will be monitored/reported at Trust 
Procedural Documents and Patient Information Leaflet 
Meeting 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that their updated policy for 
the management of violence and aggression should 
include clearer guidance about the use of medicines in 
line with National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) guidelines. (Regulation 17 

SD1
17/4 

Mr Dan 
Willis 

Medicine Following completion of re-Baseline Assessment of 
NICE Guideline NG10 lead by Trust NICE Lead (target 
date October 2022), the author of Trust Procedural 
Document CORP/POL/016 (Violence & Aggression), 
will use outcomes from the re-Baseline Assessment of 
NICE Guideline NG10 to inform a review and update of 
Trust Procedural Document CORP/POL/016 with 
support from Pharmacy, Safeguarding and Care 
Groups. 
 Progress will be monitored/reported at Trust 
Procedural Documents and Patient Information Leaflet 
Meeting 

In progress 

81



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that their updated policy for 
the management of violence and aggression should 
include clearer guidance about the use of medicines in 
line with National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) guidelines. (Regulation 17 

SD1
17/5 

Mrs Nicola 
Askew 

Medicine Following completion of re-Baseline Assessment of 
NICE Guideline NG10 lead by Trust NICE Lead (target 
date October 2022), the author of Trust Procedural 
Document CORP/PROT/011 (Lancashire and South 
Cumbria Shared Care Protocol for the Management of 
Children and Young People Attending University 
Hospitals of Morecambe Bay with Emotional, 
Behavioural and Mental Health Needs.  Appendix 9 
Rapid Tranquilisation Policy), will use outcomes from 
the re-Baseline Assessment of NICE Guideline NG10 
to inform a review and update of Trust Procedural 
Document CORP/PROT/011 with support from 
Pharmacy, Safeguarding and Care Groups. 
 Progress will be monitored/reported at the WACS 
Care Group Governance Meeting and the Trust 
Procedural Documents and Patient Information Leaflet 
Meeting 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should continue to actively seek a suitable 
candidate for recruitment to its stroke consultant 
vacancy. (Regulation 12) 

SD1
18/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Stroke 
Medicine - 
GenMed 

Medicine Care Group will continue to take steps to 
recruit a Stroke Medicine Consultant at FGH. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should continue to actively seek a suitable 
candidate for recruitment to its stroke consultant 
vacancy. (Regulation 12) 

SD1
18/2 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Stroke 
Medicine - 
GenMed 

Medicine Care Group to provide overview of 
mitigations that are  in place to ensure that Patient 
safety and the quality of Patient Care and Treatment in 
Stroke Medicine at FGH is being maintained and 
developed and this is reflected in the risk on the risk 
register. 
 Mitigations such as; Cross Bay Consultant 
cover/working, recruitment of additional Junior 
Doctors, Recruitment of ANPs/CNSs 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure it achieves its target for take-
home medicines to be ready within one hour. 
(Regulation 12) 

SD1
19/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy Pharmacy to review all documents that contain 
reference to internal Targets to provide greater clarity 
on the nature of these targets;  
- Is it - Informal internal operational target, or formal 
performance target 
 - Detailing where different targets used for different 
departments/wards - 1 Hour for Emergency Medicine, 
2 Hours for other Departments/Wards 

In progress 

82



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure it achieves its target for take-
home medicines to be ready within one hour. 
(Regulation 12) 

SD1
19/2 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Pharmacy This actions is also part of an action to address 
Recommendation MD 126 
 To Recruit and deploy Pharmacists and Pharmacy 
Technicians dedicated to support and to improve 
Medicine Management within the Emergency 
Departments at RLI 
 2 x FTE Pharmacist(s) at RLI ED  
2 FTE Pharmacy Technicians at RLI ED 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should review its higher than expected 
readmission rates for both elective and non-elective 
admissions 

SD1
20/1 

Mr Paul 
Smith 

Medicine Compliance and Assurance Team to review this 
recommendation with with members of the Medicine 
Care Group Triumvirate  to determine if it is best 
managed within Medicine Care Group or managed at a 
Corporate level with input from Medicine Care Group. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should review its higher than expected 
readmission rates for both elective and non-elective 
admissions 

SD1
20/2 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Medicine Medicine Care Group to undertake a review of 
readmission rates for Medical elective Patients and 
Medical non-elective admissions, this review will; 
 - confirm the scale of the higher than average re-
admission rates within Specialties and/or in Treatment 
Pathways 
 - investigate the internal and external causes of the 
the higher than average re-admission rates 
 - identify potential actions to address the higher than 
average re-admission rates 
 - Implement any Trust Internal Actions to address the 
higher than average re-admission rates 
 - Ensure that any system wide actions are 
communicated to the relevant partner organisations for 
them to review 
  
Progress to be reported to the  Trust Clinical 
Effectiveness Group 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that the minors waiting area 
and the paediatric provision of the department has 
sufficient staffing and patient oversight after 5PM. 
Regulation 12(2)(a) 

SD1
23/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group, with support from Paediatrics, to 
undertake of a review of the paediatric staffing 
provision of  FGH ED to identify potential actions to 
ensure that staffing provision is maximised and that 
safe care and treatment is maintained as well as it 
practically possible. 

Partially 
complete 

83



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that the minors waiting area 
and the paediatric provision of the department has 
sufficient staffing and patient oversight after 5PM. 
Regulation 12(2)(a) 

SD1
23/2 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to submit a Business Case to 
improve Triage facilities/service at FGH ED to improve 
oversight of patients in the Paediatric waiting area, 
subsequent  to approval, Medicine Care Group, with 
support from Estates, will then implement the 
requirements of Business Case. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that the minors waiting area 
and the paediatric provision of the department has 
sufficient staffing and patient oversight after 5PM. 
Regulation 12(2)(a) 

SD1
23/3 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to liaise with Safeguarding  
Team to undertake review of process for overseeing 
patients  in the paediatric waiting areas at FGH ED, to 
identify any areas of concern and to help ensure that 
these are addressed and that there is appropriate 
safeguarding  of these patients whilst in the Paediatric 
Waiting area 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should ensure that the minors waiting area 
and the paediatric provision of the department has 
sufficient staffing and patient oversight after 5PM. 
Regulation 12(2)(a) 

SD1
23/4 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

FGH ED Management Team to undertake a review of 
the current mechanisms for clinical observation and 
observation of patients in the minors waiting area after 
5PM, to identify practical solutions to improve the 
observation and observation of patients to help ensure 
patient safety in the minors waiting area. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The trust should consider a system to monitor staff 
wellbeing in relation to usage of bank and agency, to 
assist in the prevention of staff burnout 

SD1
24/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to undertake review of the 
utilisation of Overtime, Bank Staff and Agency Staff to 
fulfil staffing requirements at FGH ED over the last 12 
months  to identify; 
 - Is the Trust compliant with Working Time regulations 
 - Is the Trust compliant with safe staffing standards 
 - if there is a chronic/persistent issue with under 
staffing due low head count 
 - if there are sporadic periods of under staffing due to 
short term absence etc. 
 The results of the review will then be used to 
determine next steps, if no significant issue is 
identified, this may require a request for further 
clarification from the CQC on the basis of this 
recommendation. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the 
arrangements for the implementation of the mental 
capacity act and deprivation of liberties safeguarding 
within the emergency department and align the trust 
policy to the practice 

SD1
25/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team to review this 
recommendation with with members of the Medicine 
Care Group Triumvirate  to determine if 
Recommendation SD133 it is a 'duplicate' of  this 
recommendation, and if it is a duplicate whether a 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

84



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

separate action is required or not to address 
Recommendation SD133. 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the 
arrangements for the implementation of the mental 
capacity act and deprivation of liberties safeguarding 
within the emergency department and align the trust 
policy to the practice 

SD1
25/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to work with Trust Safeguarding 
Team to review the implementation of the Mental 
Capacity Act (MCA) in the ED's at FGH and RLI 
compared to Trust Policy and to identify potential 
actions, Medicine will address any identified issues of 
ED staff awareness, training and practice of the MCA.  
The Safeguarding Team will address any issued 
identified with the Trust Policy related to the MCA ED 
staff awareness, training and practice of the MCA. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the 
arrangements for the implementation of the mental 
capacity act and deprivation of liberties safeguarding 
within the emergency department and align the trust 
policy to the practice 

SD1
25/3 

Ms Liz 
Thompson 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team to confirm with 
Safeguarding Team the legal applicability of  
Depravation of Liberties Safeguards (DoLS) to patients 
attending at an Emergency Department, as opposed to 
Patient's admitted to an In-Patient Ward/Unit,   
Need to consider the status of Patients with DTA, but 
who have been in ED for more than 12 hours as, in 
effect, they have become inpatients. 
 If it is confirmed that DoLS has no legal applicability to 
patients attending at an Emergency Department, then 
the Compliance and Assurance Team will raise a 
query with the CQC to seek clarification regarding the 
DoLS element of this recommendation. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider whether the triage service 
in the walk-in waiting area can be improved so that the 
triage nurse can observe patients in the waiting area 
more easily 

SD1
29/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team to review this 
recommendation with with members of the Medicine 
Care Group Triumvirate  to determine if it is a 
'duplicate' of  Recommendation SD24, and if it is a 
duplicate whether a separate action is required or not. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider whether the triage service 
in the walk-in waiting area can be improved so that the 
triage nurse can observe patients in the waiting area 
more easily 

SD1
29/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group will investigate alternative 
solutions (not Estates Works) to improve observation 
of Patients in the triage  and waiting areas, 
consideration to be given to some form of regular 
intentional rounding of the ED Waiting Areas. 

In progress 

85



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should continue to work closely with all 
system partners to tackle the capacity pressures on 
urgent and emergency care in the health and social 
care system. 

SD1
30/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team to review this 
recommendation with with members of the Medicine 
Care Group Triumvirate  to determine if it is best 
managed within Medicine Care Group or managed at a 
Corporate level with input from Medicine Care Group 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should continue to work closely with all 
system partners to tackle the capacity pressures on 
urgent and emergency care in the health and social 
care system. 

SD1
30/2 

Mr Scott 
McLean 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust will continue to work with system partners to 
deliver the Bay Health and Care Partners (BHACP) 
Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Improvement Plan 
for 2022-23, progress against the the BHACP UEC 
Improvement Plan is monitored at the A&E delivery 
Board with Escalation to the Trust Board and System 
Improvement Board. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should continue to work closely with all 
system partners to tackle the capacity pressures on 
urgent and emergency care in the health and social 
care system. 

SD1
30/3 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group  to undertake a review of 
lessons learnt from ED RLI  when operating well at 
OPEL 4 and what can be learned from this to improve 
performance at lower levels. 
 Outcomes from this review will be reported to Care 
Group Management Meeting and to the A&E Delivery 
Board. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider ways for staff to have 
oversight of children waiting to be triaged. 

SD1
31/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group will investigate alternative 
solutions (not Estates Works) to improve observation 
and clinical oversight of Paediatric Patients in the 
waiting areas, consideration to be given to some form 
of regular intentional rounding of the ED Waiting 
Areas. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the advanced 
paediatric life support to make sure that all band 6 staff 
have the correct qualification 

SD1
32/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group will undertake a review, with 
support from Resus practioneers of the two training 
courses used for paediatric life support; advanced 
paediatric life support (APLS) and European paediatric 
life support  (EPLS), to ensure that both courses are of 
the required standard.  If they are of the required 
standard, then Medicine will review relevant 
documentation, monitoring and reporting to ensure that 
both APLS and EPLS training is recorded when 
assessing paediatric life support competency for 
Nursing staff. 

In progress 

86



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the advanced 
paediatric life support to make sure that all band 6 staff 
have the correct qualification 

SD1
32/2 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to consider introducing a White 
Board system that lists the staff members on duty/shift 
who have paediatric life support qualifications/training, 
this will ensure that all staff (especially Bank/Agency) 
can easily identify and locate them in an emergency 
situation. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the 
arrangements for the implementation of the mental 
capacity act and deprivation of liberties safeguarding 
within the ED department and align the trust policy to 
the practice. 

SD1
33/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team to review this 
recommendation with with members of the Medicine 
Care Group Triumvirate  to determine if it is a 
'duplicate' of  Recommendation SD125, and if it is a 
duplicate whether a separate action is required or not. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should review the staffing levels within 
ACU and SDEC ensuring that staffing levels are 
maintained and risks to staffing establishment 
captured and monitored. 

SD1
34/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to develop and, if approved, 
implement a business case to improve staffing levels 
on the RLI ACU and SDEC 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should review the staffing levels within 
ACU and SDEC ensuring that staffing levels are 
maintained and risks to staffing establishment 
captured and monitored. 

SD1
34/2 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to ensure that staffing levels 
within ACU and SDEC are captured within the Care 
Group Risk on 'Staffing Levels' by reviewing and 
updating Risk 2805 (RLI ED Staffing Levels)  
and that processes are in place for Risk 2805 to be 
regularly monitored at the Care Group Governance 
and/or Management Team meetings and that any 
issues of concern are escalated to the Trust Risk 
Management Group 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the 
opportunities for safety incident report and review 
when and what incidents, staff need to report and 
monitor that they have the support to do this in an 
appropriate manner. 

SD1
35/1 

Mrs 
Melanie 
Woolfall 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to work with Trust Patient Safety 
Team to review Incident reporting in RLI ED to ensure 
that all incidents are reported and there is a new focus 
on the four incident types specifically identified by the 
CQC; Staffing Levels, Long Waits, Paediatric Triage 
and Inappropriate GP Referrals.  Consideration will be 
given to identifying any barriers to staff reporting 
incidents and where practical removing or reducing 
these barriers.  The Outcome of this review will be 
reported at the Trust Quality, Governance & Patient 
Safety Group. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should continue with plans to improve 
staffing levels medical staff to full establishment. 

SD1
36/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Medicine Care Group will implement the 
recruitment plan improve Medical Staffing levels at RLI 
ED towards full establishment levels and ensure that 
risk 2805 (RLI ED Staffing) is regularly reviewed and 

In progress 

87



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

updated , with regular monitoring at Care Group 
meeting and escalation to Trust Management Group. 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should review the perception in the ED of 
limited senior and executive visibility, recognition, 
understanding and support. 

SD1
37/1 

Mrs Lynne 
Wyre 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Executive Chief Nurse has a scheduled 
Walkaround of all clinical areas at RLI every Friday 
morning, this includes RLI ED, these will continue to 
help maintain/increase the visibility of Executive and 
Senior Nursing staff at RLI ED. 

Partially 
complete 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should review the perception in the ED of 
limited senior and executive visibility, recognition, 
understanding and support. 

SD1
37/2 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group will undertake a review of staff 
perceptions in ED in relation to the visibility, 
recognition, understanding and support from 
Executives and Senior Management, this will take 
place in September 2023.  The findings of this review 
will then be used to identify potential solutions that can 
then be developed into an Action Plan. 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should further explore the opportunities for 
collaborative working from the emergency department, 
assessment units and specialist services 

SD1
38/1 

Ms Bongi 
Gbadebo 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Compliance and Assurance Team to review this 
recommendation with with members of the Medicine 
Care Group Triumvirate  to determine if it is best 
managed within Medicine Care Group or managed at a 
Corporate level with input from Medicine Care Group. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should further explore the opportunities for 
collaborative working from the emergency department, 
assessment units and specialist services 

SD1
38/2 

Mr Paul 
Smith 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

Medicine Care Group to undertake a review of 
engagement between Emergency Medicine with the 
Other Medical and Surgical Specialities (and tertiary 
services), the review will include a review of the 
current Trust Process for collaboration and the 
relevant professional standards documentation.  The 
outcomes of the review will be shared with the Trust 
Clinical Effectiveness Group 

In progress 

Shoul
d Do 

The service should consider reviewing the 
arrangements for medicines held by patients 
particularly in relation to those on trolleys, formalise 
the process in place and ensure that all staff are aware 
of the practice needed to maintain patient safety. 

SD1
39/1 

Mrs Kam 
Mom 

Accident 
and 

Emergency 

The Trust will undertake a best practice review with 
input from other ICS Pharmacy Teams to review the 
arrangements for medicines held by patients and to 
investigate potential solutions that would be 
appropriate for ED attendance and all subsequent 
patient movements, this will then be used to update 
the Patients own Medicine sections of Procedural 
Document CORP/POL/039 (Administration, Safe 
Storage, Supply, Disposal and Monitoring of 
Medicines). 

In progress 

88



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 
 
 
  

89



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Table 6: NICHE Improvement Plan Dashboard (Still in development in AMaT) 
 

Inspect
ion 

Recommendation Ref Person 
Responsible 

Service Action Progress 
Status 

NICHE Recommendation 1 - Oversight of Urology 
through Trust governance structures: 
 Reporting lines need to be clearly articulated in 
the terms of reference for each of the groups and 
committees which have been established for 
oversight of the Urology service and depicted in 
an organogram. Links to the Urology department, 
care group, committee and Board governance 
structure should also be confirmed 

MD1/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Urology TFG, Chaired by Aaron Exec and Non 
Exec 
 Stood down, Urology Oversight Group evolved 
into System Improvement Board 
 Urology meetings in place: Urology Business 
Meeting (Full MDT), Clinical Business Unit 
(Triumverate) Urology Audit Meeting - feed into 
SGAG and SMB, then on SCC Triuniverate - 
Performance reviews and TMG 
 Urology Action plan presented monthly at QAC. 
 GGI Work completed for Care Group, Committee 
and Board Structure - update from CQC 
Plan/Paul Jones 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 1 - Oversight of Urology 
through Trust governance structures: 
 Reporting lines need to be clearly articulated in 
the terms of reference for each of the groups and 
committees which have been established for 
oversight of the Urology service and depicted in 
an organogram. Links to the Urology department, 
care group, committee and Board governance 
structure should also be confirmed 

MD1/2 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Establish and detail organisational flow chart, with 
reference to Urological oversight in organisational 
teams. This will include: 
 Terms of reference, escalation processes to 
signal 'hotspots' to highlight potential issues.  
 
Measure: Agree with trust wide action to 
implement a process review for all urology 
themes throughout established care group 
committees. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 1 - Oversight of Urology 
through Trust governance structures: 
 Reporting lines need to be clearly articulated in 
the terms of reference for each of the groups and 
committees which have been established for 
oversight of the Urology service and depicted in 
an organogram. Links to the Urology department, 
care group, committee and Board governance 
structure should also be confirmed 

MD1/3 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Agree and implement GGI structure with care 
group committees with particular reference to 
urology at point of implementation. 
 Establish and implement a regular process 
review of governance within care groups. 
(potential to review minutes of meetings to 
evidence this) 

Partially 
complete 

90



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 2 - Quality and safety data in 
the Integrated Performance Report: 
 The quality and safety data in the Integrated 
Quality and Performance Report (IQPR) should 
be expanded to include trend and thematic 
analysis. Key quality and safety metrics should be 
included in a new upfront performance dashboard 
and hotspot reporting should include more 
detailed analysis on key risks 

MD2/1 Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWIDE Review of IQPR quality and Safety data to 
include; trend and thematic analysis, headline 
Dashboard, hotspot reporting 
 To be completed in time for start of 2022/23 
Financial year 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 2 - Quality and safety data in 
the Integrated Performance Report: 
 The quality and safety data in the Integrated 
Quality and Performance Report (IQPR) should 
be expanded to include trend and thematic 
analysis. Key quality and safety metrics should be 
included in a new upfront performance dashboard 
and hotspot reporting should include more 
detailed analysis on key risks 

MD2/2 Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

Urology Monitor and establish oversight IPR (Urology 
Specialty Scorecard)  specialty performance 
reviews aligned with Trust wide IPR. 
  
Linked to Niche/R01. 
 Measure: link to dashboards 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 2 - Quality and safety data in 
the Integrated Performance Report: 
 The quality and safety data in the Integrated 
Quality and Performance Report (IQPR) should 
be expanded to include trend and thematic 
analysis. Key quality and safety metrics should be 
included in a new upfront performance dashboard 
and hotspot reporting should include more 
detailed analysis on key risks 

MD2/3 Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWIDE Establish link speciality reviews across the 
organisation to provide oversight 'hotspots' 
through trust wide IPR 
  
Measure: Link to trust wide IPR. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 3 - Performance framework for 
Urology: 
 Introduce a performance and accountability 
framework which clearly sets out the approach to 
corporate and care group scrutiny of Urology and, 
where necessary, support from the Enhanced 
Support Programme (ESP) 

MD3/1 Mr Chris 
Adcock 

TRUSTWIDE In place fro Urology, Monthly Safe today with 'At 
a Glance' scorecard with Quality and safety, 
workforce and finance metrics - mini IPR 
 Safe today provide triangulaton of Incident, 
Patient Relations in terms of Care Hours  
Monthly Exec to Service Review with Clinical 
Lead and CSM - still in place ? - also undertaken 
for other ESP Specialities: T&O, Paeds, Maternity 

In progress 

91



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 3 - Performance framework for 
Urology: 
 Introduce a performance and accountability 
framework which clearly sets out the approach to 
corporate and care group scrutiny of Urology and, 
where necessary, support from the Enhanced 
Support Programme (ESP) 

MD3/2 Mr Chris 
Adcock 

TRUSTWIDE As per response to MD1 & MD2 
 Completed for urology 
 ?Wider Applicability 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 3 - Performance framework for 
Urology: 
 Introduce a performance and accountability 
framework which clearly sets out the approach to 
corporate and care group scrutiny of Urology and, 
where necessary, support from the Enhanced 
Support Programme (ESP) 

MD3/3 Mr Chris 
Adcock 

TRUSTWIDE Agree and establish organisation accountability 
framework - greater scrutiny of performance IPR 
reports. 
  
Mapping of locations between different systems 
and align a performance and accountability 
framework - allowing oversight and of specialty 
level reporting in care groups. 
  
Measure: Performance monitoring of IPR. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 3 - Performance framework for 
Urology: 
 Introduce a performance and accountability 
framework which clearly sets out the approach to 
corporate and care group scrutiny of Urology and, 
where necessary, support from the Enhanced 
Support Programme (ESP) 

MD3/4 Mr Chris 
Adcock 

Urology Establish performance and accountability 
framework to be adopted at trust level for all 
specialities.  
 
Measure: monitor trust wide IPR reporting. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 4 - Urology audit: 
 The newly appointed Urology Audit Lead should 
have dedicated and experienced support to 
provide best practice guidance on conducting 
audit and governance meetings. The terms of 
reference and agendas for the audit meeting 
should be drawn from best practice in other 
Urology services 

MD4/1 Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Trust Clinical Audit Team to work with Audit Lead 
for Urology (Mr Saqib), Service Manager for 
Urology (Rebecca Cullen) and Care Group 
Governance Business Partner (Gregg Peers) to 
ensure appropriate support is in place for Urology 
Audit Meeting. 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 4 - Urology audit: 
 The newly appointed Urology Audit Lead should 
have dedicated and experienced support to 
provide best practice guidance on conducting 
audit and governance meetings. The terms of 
reference and agendas for the audit meeting 
should be drawn from best practice in other 
Urology services 

MD4/2 Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Place Holder for Governance Meeting Action In progress 

92



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 4 - Urology audit: 
 The newly appointed Urology Audit Lead should 
have dedicated and experienced support to 
provide best practice guidance on conducting 
audit and governance meetings. The terms of 
reference and agendas for the audit meeting 
should be drawn from best practice in other 
Urology services 

MD4/3 Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Trust Clinical Audit Team to review ToR of 
Urology Audit Meeting against prevailing best 
practice ToR in the Trust (as per GGI 
Governance Review) and to consider best 
practice from other Urology Services. 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 4 - Urology audit: 
 The newly appointed Urology Audit Lead should 
have dedicated and experienced support to 
provide best practice guidance on conducting 
audit and governance meetings. The terms of 
reference and agendas for the audit meeting 
should be drawn from best practice in other 
Urology services 

MD4/4 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action - Linked to RSP Workstream 2 
Quality and Safety (Clinical Effectiveness) 
 1. Trust Clinical Audit Team to review the 
Urology terms of reference and agendas for the 
audit meeting drawn from best practice in other 
Urology Services (as per data provided by RSP 
team). 
 2,. Trust Clinical Audit Team to implement best 
practice drawn from Urology into Trust Wide 
standardised Formats/ Templates for Audit 
Meeting ToR and Audit Meeting Agenda's 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 4 - Urology audit: 
 The newly appointed Urology Audit Lead should 
have dedicated and experienced support to 
provide best practice guidance on conducting 
audit and governance meetings. The terms of 
reference and agendas for the audit meeting 
should be drawn from best practice in other 
Urology services 

MD4/5 Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Link with Clinical Audit team and align audit 
processes to support Urology audit workstreams 
and deliver agreed audit expectations. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 4 - Urology audit: 
 The newly appointed Urology Audit Lead should 
have dedicated and experienced support to 
provide best practice guidance on conducting 
audit and governance meetings. The terms of 
reference and agendas for the audit meeting 
should be drawn from best practice in other 
Urology services 

MD4/6 Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Trust Clinical Audit team to work with Urology 
Audit Lead and embed best practice process for 
audit. Procedural document to be 
developed/adopted to support all specialties to be 
identified.  
 
Measure: Minutes of Clinical Audit Meetings. 

Partially 
complete 

93



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at 
department and care group level before 
presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It should 
also be developed further to provide more 
appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable 
the reader to understand performance ‘at a 
glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout 
the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance 
through the use of early warning indicators and 
forecasting in order to allow timely identification of 
deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative 
data relating to patient and staff experience, 
including patient feedback in the form of real time 
and retrospective data collection, staff pulse 
surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics 
(e.g. turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency 
staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff) 

MD5/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE UQOC - Urology Quality Oversight Committee 
 As per Recommendation 2 - Inclusion of SPC for 
trajectories - Safe Today App,  
Completed for Urology 
 Completed for other ESP Specialities 
 Wider Trust Applicability to be confirmed - Safe 
today produced monthly, transferred from QAC to 
PSQG as monthly Agenda Item 

In progress 

94



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at 
department and care group level before 
presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It should 
also be developed further to provide more 
appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable 
the reader to understand performance ‘at a 
glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout 
the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance 
through the use of early warning indicators and 
forecasting in order to allow timely identification of 
deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative 
data relating to patient and staff experience, 
including patient feedback in the form of real time 
and retrospective data collection, staff pulse 
surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics 
(e.g. turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency 
staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff) 

MD5/2 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

Urology Add an overarching scorecard to enable the 
reader to understand performance ‘at a glance. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

95



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at 
department and care group level before 
presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It should 
also be developed further to provide more 
appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable 
the reader to understand performance ‘at a 
glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout 
the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance 
through the use of early warning indicators and 
forecasting in order to allow timely identification of 
deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative 
data relating to patient and staff experience, 
including patient feedback in the form of real time 
and retrospective data collection, staff pulse 
surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics 
(e.g. turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency 
staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff) 

MD5/3 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

Urology Reduce the narrative analysis throughout the 
report 

Partially 
complete 

96



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at 
department and care group level before 
presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It should 
also be developed further to provide more 
appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable 
the reader to understand performance ‘at a 
glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout 
the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance 
through the use of early warning indicators and 
forecasting in order to allow timely identification of 
deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative 
data relating to patient and staff experience, 
including patient feedback in the form of real time 
and retrospective data collection, staff pulse 
surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics 
(e.g. turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency 
staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff) 

MD5/4 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE Strengthen the emphasis on prospective 
performance through the use of early warning 
indicators and forecasting in order to allow timely 
identification of deteriorating performance; - Done 
(through SPC - Safe Today App.  Safe today 
produced monthly, transferred to Quality 
Governance and Patient Safety Group.  
(QGPSG)). 

In progress 

97



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at 
department and care group level before 
presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It should 
also be developed further to provide more 
appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable 
the reader to understand performance ‘at a 
glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout 
the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance 
through the use of early warning indicators and 
forecasting in order to allow timely identification of 
deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative 
data relating to patient and staff experience, 
including patient feedback in the form of real time 
and retrospective data collection, staff pulse 
surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics 
(e.g. turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency 
staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff) 

MD5/5 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

Urology Increase same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback. 

Partially 
complete 

98



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at 
department and care group level before 
presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It should 
also be developed further to provide more 
appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable 
the reader to understand performance ‘at a 
glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout 
the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance 
through the use of early warning indicators and 
forecasting in order to allow timely identification of 
deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative 
data relating to patient and staff experience, 
including patient feedback in the form of real time 
and retrospective data collection, staff pulse 
surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics 
(e.g. turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency 
staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff) 

MD5/6 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

Urology Expand the quantitative and qualitative data 
relating to patient and staff experience, including 
patient feedback in the form of real time and 
retrospective data collection, staff pulse surveys 
and a wider range of workforce metrics (e.g. 
turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency staff, 
staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff). 

Partially 
complete 

99



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 5 - Safe Today Report: 
 The Safe Today Report should be received at 
department and care group level before 
presentation to UT&FG and UQOC33. It should 
also be developed further to provide more 
appropriate measures of assurance with: 
 • inclusion of an overarching scorecard to enable 
the reader to understand performance ‘at a 
glance’; 
 • a reduction in the narrative analysis throughout 
the report; 
 • greater emphasis on prospective performance 
through the use of early warning indicators and 
forecasting in order to allow timely identification of 
deteriorating performance; 
 • more same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents and Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) feedback;  
• an expansion of the quantitative and qualitative 
data relating to patient and staff experience, 
including patient feedback in the form of real time 
and retrospective data collection, staff pulse 
surveys and a wider range of workforce metrics 
(e.g. turnover, appraisals, training, use of agency 
staff, staff sickness, as well as concerns raised by 
staff) 

MD5/7 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE Automation of ESP Safe Today Report in Every 
Service. 

In progress 

100



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 6 - Meeting administration: 
 Meeting administration must be improved. This 
should include: 
 • a review of the ToR for all meetings at 
departmental and care group level to ensure they 
are in date, aligned to the objectives required of 
the meeting, and also other key meetings, with 
agendas planned to reflect these; 
 • the introduction of standardised templates for 
agendas, minutes, and action logs; and 
 • the provision of training for individuals with 
minute-writing responsibilities and all minutes 
should be reviewed by the relevant Chair before 
distribution 

MD6/1 Mr Paul 
Jones 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide - Largely completed as part of GGI 
review. 
  
 Map and review the governance meeting 
structure within all services meetings. 
  
This should include: 
 1.1 New standardised ToR Format/Template  
now in use across Trust - issued to all Meeting 
Chairs/Secs 
 1.2. New standardised ToR Format/Template 
now in use across Trust - Include sections on; 
Accountability (to parent meeting), Purpose, 
Duties, Standing Agenda Items, reporting sub-
meetings, communication responsibilities,  
2 New standardised Templates now in use across 
Trust - agendas, minutes, action logs, papers and 
escalation (3A's) Report 
 3.1 Provision of Minute writing training 
 3.2 Review of Minutes by Chair's before 
distribution 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 6 - Meeting administration: 
 Meeting administration must be improved. This 
should include: 
 • a review of the ToR for all meetings at 
departmental and care group level to ensure they 
are in date, aligned to the objectives required of 
the meeting, and also other key meetings, with 
agendas planned to reflect these; 
 • the introduction of standardised templates for 
agendas, minutes, and action logs; and 
 • the provision of training for individuals with 
minute-writing responsibilities and all minutes 
should be reviewed by the relevant Chair before 
distribution 

MD6/2 Mr Paul 
Jones 

Urology Scoping to review the governance within all 
urology service meetings. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

101



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 6 - Meeting administration: 
 Meeting administration must be improved. This 
should include: 
 • a review of the ToR for all meetings at 
departmental and care group level to ensure they 
are in date, aligned to the objectives required of 
the meeting, and also other key meetings, with 
agendas planned to reflect these; 
 • the introduction of standardised templates for 
agendas, minutes, and action logs; and 
 • the provision of training for individuals with 
minute-writing responsibilities and all minutes 
should be reviewed by the relevant Chair before 
distribution 

MD6/3 Mr Paul 
Jones 

TRUSTWIDE Map and review the governance meeting 
structure within all services meetings.   
 
This should include: 
 1, Review of the ToR for all meetings at 
departmental and care group level to ensure they 
are in date, aligned to the objectives required of 
the meeting, and also other key meetings, with 
agendas planned to reflect these. 
 2, The introduction of standardised templates for 
agendas, minutes, and action logs. 
 3, The provision of training for individuals with 
minute-writing responsibilities and all minutes 
should be reviewed by the relevant Chair before 
distribution. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 7 - Risk registers at service, 
care group and Trust level: 
 The challenges currently being faced by the 
Urology service should be reviewed to determine 
whether the risks are sufficient to warrant 
inclusion on the service, care group or Corporate 
Risk Register (CRR) or the Board Assurance 
Framework (BAF); this includes the difficulties 
with on call cover at Furness General Hospital 
(FGH) and continuing fractured relationships as a 
patient safety risk. Departmental and care group 
meetings should include risk as a standing 
agenda item and the risk profile of the service 
should be reviewed at least quarterly 

MD7/1 Mr Gregg 
Peers 

Surgery and 
Critical Care 

Services 

Review Urology risk register with ADOP and Gov 
BP to confirm all risks identified and assigned to 
appropriate level of the Risk Register or to add 
any further risks. Provide assurance to Risk 
Management Group 27th January 2022 for 
acceptance. 
 Identify whether risks are discussed at Urology 
meetings as standing agenda item and that risk 
profile is considered quarterly at GAG. 

In progress 

102



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 7 - Risk registers at service, 
care group and Trust level: 
 The challenges currently being faced by the 
Urology service should be reviewed to determine 
whether the risks are sufficient to warrant 
inclusion on the service, care group or Corporate 
Risk Register (CRR) or the Board Assurance 
Framework (BAF); this includes the difficulties 
with on call cover at Furness General Hospital 
(FGH) and continuing fractured relationships as a 
patient safety risk. Departmental and care group 
meetings should include risk as a standing 
agenda item and the risk profile of the service 
should be reviewed at least quarterly 

MD7/2 Mrs Anna 
Smith 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action  
Health Safety and Risk Team will review the 
ToR's and Agenda's of 'Governance' Meetings (at 
Care Group, Speciality, Departmental level) and 
ensure that it includes regular risk management 
review / risk register review and a quarterly risk 
profile review as a standing agenda items 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 7 - Risk registers at service, 
care group and Trust level: 
 The challenges currently being faced by the 
Urology service should be reviewed to determine 
whether the risks are sufficient to warrant 
inclusion on the service, care group or Corporate 
Risk Register (CRR) or the Board Assurance 
Framework (BAF); this includes the difficulties 
with on call cover at Furness General Hospital 
(FGH) and continuing fractured relationships as a 
patient safety risk. Departmental and care group 
meetings should include risk as a standing 
agenda item and the risk profile of the service 
should be reviewed at least quarterly 

MD7/3 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Departmental  meetings should include risk as a 
standing agenda item and the risk profile of the 
service should be reviewed at least quarterly. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

103



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 8 - Quality of investigations in 
Urology services: 
 All reported incidents and complaints received in 
relation to Urology services should, for a period of 
at least 12 months, be investigated by a 
dedicated independent team outside the 
department which has access to independent 
Urology advice. This would remove pressure on 
the existing team to investigate each other and 
provide room to work on relationship 
development. It would also help to set a standard 
for future high-quality investigations.  
[This recommendation related to incidents and 
complaints requiring investigation not all cases] 

MD8/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Development and implementation of Independent 
Investigation Team (IIT) for all Urology 
incidents/RCA's for a period of 8 months 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 8 - Quality of investigations in 
Urology services: 
 All reported incidents and complaints received in 
relation to Urology services should, for a period of 
at least 12 months, be investigated by a 
dedicated independent team outside the 
department which has access to independent 
Urology advice. This would remove pressure on 
the existing team to investigate each other and 
provide room to work on relationship 
development. It would also help to set a standard 
for future high-quality investigations.  
[This recommendation related to incidents and 
complaints requiring investigation not all cases] 

MD8/2 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Working with organisation, establish a dedicated 
independent team outside the department which 
has access to independent Urology advice. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

104



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 8 - Quality of investigations in 
Urology services: 
 All reported incidents and complaints received in 
relation to Urology services should, for a period of 
at least 12 months, be investigated by a 
dedicated independent team outside the 
department which has access to independent 
Urology advice. This would remove pressure on 
the existing team to investigate each other and 
provide room to work on relationship 
development. It would also help to set a standard 
for future high-quality investigations.  
[This recommendation related to incidents and 
complaints requiring investigation not all cases] 

MD8/3 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action 
 Head of Patient Safety & Complaints to review 
learning from the Urology Independent 
Investigation Team (IIT) to identify any best 
practice that can be integrated into wider Trust 
processes to improve the quality of the 
investigation, management and resolution of 
Incidents and complaints. identified Best Practice 
must be consistent with the principles of the 
incoming Patient Safety Framework (PSIRF) and 
the new national Learn from Patient Safety 
Events (LFPSE) System. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 9 - Thematic review: 
 Quality performance reporting should include 
thematic and same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents, and PALS 
information to ensure that lessons can be 
learned, and actions taken to prevent recurrence 
of the same. Themes should be discussed at 
departmental, care group, and committee level 
with a clear focus on actioning improvement 

MD9/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Recommendations 2 & 4 - Safe Today 
 Completed fro Urology 
 Completed for other ESP Specialties 
 Query Wide Trust? 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 9 - Thematic review: 
 Quality performance reporting should include 
thematic and same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents, and PALS 
information to ensure that lessons can be 
learned, and actions taken to prevent recurrence 
of the same. Themes should be discussed at 
departmental, care group, and committee level 
with a clear focus on actioning improvement 

MD9/2 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Provide access to care group governance teams 
to CGAG Qlik Sense - to be reviewed at service 
level and Care Group Meetings.  
 
Implement and develop Governance Business 
Partners job description to ensure attendance at 
monthly speciality meetings 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

105



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 9 - Thematic review: 
 Quality performance reporting should include 
thematic and same causal factor analysis of 
complaints, litigation, incidents, and PALS 
information to ensure that lessons can be 
learned, and actions taken to prevent recurrence 
of the same. Themes should be discussed at 
departmental, care group, and committee level 
with a clear focus on actioning improvement 

MD9/3 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Agree and Implement Governance Business 
Partners Job Descriptions updated to ensure part 
of role is to attend monthly specialty meetings to 
provide quality / safety data. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 10 - Mortality review (Link to 
R15 and R26) 
 Every inpatient Urology death must have a case 
review conducted by Consultant Urologists with 
external support in using structured judgement 
review (SJR) methodology (Royal College of 
Physicians) or other recognised case note review 
methodology and be subject to Trust level 
scrutiny (as per Trust Policy). Every death must 
then be presented without exception to a Urology 
mortality meeting. These should be separate from 
audit and multidisciplinary team (MDT) meetings 
until such time that mortality review becomes an 
accepted and business as usual activity 

MD10/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Completd - see Email from Claire 
 Check with Helen Irving that all Urology Deaths 
reviewed - 12 cases? 4 outstanding, check for 
evidence of review 
 On agenda at Mortality Meeting and Clinical 
Effectiveness. 
 Trust Wide - Check with Helen, applicability to 
chronic conditions etc. SJR review 
 Links to ME triage, new process Learning from 
Deaths  
RSP Workstream 2 - Mortality 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 10 - Mortality review (Link to 
R15 and R26) 
 Every inpatient Urology death must have a case 
review conducted by Consultant Urologists with 
external support in using structured judgement 
review (SJR) methodology (Royal College of 
Physicians) or other recognised case note review 
methodology and be subject to Trust level 
scrutiny (as per Trust Policy). Every death must 
then be presented without exception to a Urology 
mortality meeting. These should be separate from 
audit and multidisciplinary team (MDT) meetings 
until such time that mortality review becomes an 
accepted and business as usual activity 

MD10/
2 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Agree process for case review of Urology patients 
with the trust mortality team inline with the 
recommendation. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

106



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 10 - Mortality review (Link to 
R15 and R26) 
 Every inpatient Urology death must have a case 
review conducted by Consultant Urologists with 
external support in using structured judgement 
review (SJR) methodology (Royal College of 
Physicians) or other recognised case note review 
methodology and be subject to Trust level 
scrutiny (as per Trust Policy). Every death must 
then be presented without exception to a Urology 
mortality meeting. These should be separate from 
audit and multidisciplinary team (MDT) meetings 
until such time that mortality review becomes an 
accepted and business as usual activity 

MD10/
3 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Agree case review recommendations for urology 
and added on AMaT - MaMR module. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 11 - Professional relationships: 
 Intelligence from the InterBe meeting in August 
2020 should be used to assess the severity of 
concerns associated with relationships between 
senior clinical staff to determine whether issues 
can be resolved or if other remedial action needs 
to be taken 

MD11/
1 

Mr David 
Wilkinson 

Urology Urology Only 
 Completed, presented to CEO on 26/04/21 
 Video session available as evidence of 
completion 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 12 - Pooled model of patient 
care 
 • There is an urgent need to review the pooling of 
patient referrals and the way in which patients are 
allocated to, and reviewed by, clinicians in 
Urology to ensure that continuity of care is 
optimised. 
 • There should be clear procedures for allocating 
patients against specific pathways (including in 
line with Cancer MDT guidance). Any subsequent 
changes to management plans should be agreed 
with the named Consultant/an appropriate 
clinician especially if there are clinic cancellations 
or delays to treatment. 

MD12/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Named clincian process in place from Jan 21 for 
Urology 
 Six monthly Audit - check detais - latest results  
Require more evidence on clear procedures, 
action number 6 on teh T&O RCS Action Plan 
 Wider applicability? 

In progress 

107



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 12 - Pooled model of patient 
care 
 • There is an urgent need to review the pooling of 
patient referrals and the way in which patients are 
allocated to, and reviewed by, clinicians in 
Urology to ensure that continuity of care is 
optimised. 
 • There should be clear procedures for allocating 
patients against specific pathways (including in 
line with Cancer MDT guidance). Any subsequent 
changes to management plans should be agreed 
with the named Consultant/an appropriate 
clinician especially if there are clinic cancellations 
or delays to treatment. 

MD12/
2 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

Urology Task and finish group to be established to review 
Pooling Pathways in Urology. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

3

NICHE Recommendation 12 - Pooled model of patient 
care 
 • There is an urgent need to review the pooling of 
patient referrals and the way in which patients are 
allocated to, and reviewed by, clinicians in 
Urology to ensure that continuity of care is 
optimised. 
 • There should be clear procedures for allocating 
patients against specific pathways (including in 
line with Cancer MDT guidance). Any subsequent 
changes to management plans should be agreed 
with the named Consultant/an appropriate 
clinician especially if there are clinic cancellations 
or delays to treatment. 

MD12/
3 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Organisation to conduct a review the pooling of 
patient referrals and the way in which patients are 
allocated to, and reviewed by, clinicians in 
Services to ensure that continuity of care is 
optimised. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 13 - Monitoring of additional 
activity sessions (AASs) 
 Introduce a robust policy and controls to 
retrospectively and prospectively review AAS 
activity in the Urology department, including a 
quarterly analysis of the number, value, and 
justification for AASs undertaken on a clinician-
by-clinician basis. 

MD13/
1 

Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWIDE Urology Only 
 Review of AAS included in Safe Today 
(Recommendation 2&4) to include rational for 
additional activity and agency - confirmed 
 Query? Policy in Finance to monitor/review 
 SCC oversight of AAS, still in place?, check with 
Carol Park 

In progress 

108



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 13 - Monitoring of additional 
activity sessions (AASs) 
 Introduce a robust policy and controls to 
retrospectively and prospectively review AAS 
activity in the Urology department, including a 
quarterly analysis of the number, value, and 
justification for AASs undertaken on a clinician-
by-clinician basis. 

MD13/
2 

Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

Urology Implement a procedural document which details 
expectations of AAS activity in Urology clinics. 
This should be aligned with departmental clinic-
by-clinic controls. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 13 - Monitoring of additional 
activity sessions (AASs) 
 Introduce a robust policy and controls to 
retrospectively and prospectively review AAS 
activity in the Urology department, including a 
quarterly analysis of the number, value, and 
justification for AASs undertaken on a clinician-
by-clinician basis. 

MD13/
3 

Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWIDE Agree with all care groups for an organisational 
process for monitoring and controlling additional 
activity sessions undertaken by clinicians. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 14 - Fluid balance monitoring 
 Fluid balance practice should be audited and a 
programme of high-quality recording put in place 
for Urology patients. 

MD14/
1 

Mrs Lynne 
Wyre 

TRUSTWIDE Current Case Review Action 
 Evidence taken from QAAS assessment of 
Wards/Departments 
 RSP Workstream 2 - Quality and Safety 
(Fundamentals of Care) 
 Completed for Urology 
 Query sustainability across wider trust 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 14 - Fluid balance monitoring 
 Fluid balance practice should be audited and a 
programme of high-quality recording put in place 
for Urology patients. 

MD14/
2 

Mrs Lynne 
Wyre 

Urology Introduce and monitor fluid balance assurance 
check for urology patients on AMaT. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 14 - Fluid balance monitoring 
 Fluid balance practice should be audited and a 
programme of high-quality recording put in place 
for Urology patients. 

MD14/
3 

Mrs Lynne 
Wyre 

TRUSTWIDE Ward/unit fluid balance assurance check to be 
developed and implemented in all appropriate 
clinical areas. 

Partially 
complete 

109



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 15 - Mortality review (Link to 
R10 and R26) 
 • Following on from our recommendation on 
mortality review in our Draft Current Controls 
Assessment Report, the Trust must develop a 
robust mechanism for identifying deaths by 
speciality using both admission and treatment 
function codes and other identifiers. This should 
include deaths up to 30 days post-discharge. 
 • The HOGAN and National Confidential Enquiry 
into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) 
scoring arising from mortality reviews must be 
subject to audit and further scrutiny within the 
Trust. 
 • All NCEPOD or HOGAN scores of 2 or above 
should give rise to further review by the Trust, 
investigation where appropriate and the potential 
need for Duty of Candour processes. 

MD15/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE See response to Recommendation 10 
 RSP Workstream 2 - Quality & Safety - Mortality 
 Query ME process in Trust 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 15 - Mortality review (Link to 
R10 and R26) 
 • Following on from our recommendation on 
mortality review in our Draft Current Controls 
Assessment Report, the Trust must develop a 
robust mechanism for identifying deaths by 
speciality using both admission and treatment 
function codes and other identifiers. This should 
include deaths up to 30 days post-discharge. 
 • The HOGAN and National Confidential Enquiry 
into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) 
scoring arising from mortality reviews must be 
subject to audit and further scrutiny within the 
Trust. 
 • All NCEPOD or HOGAN scores of 2 or above 
should give rise to further review by the Trust, 
investigation where appropriate and the potential 
need for Duty of Candour processes. 

MD15/
2 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

Urology Review all mortality cases 
 Activate MaMR and medical examiner triage 
 Establish Mortality Steering group 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 110



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 15 - Mortality review (Link to 
R10 and R26) 
 • Following on from our recommendation on 
mortality review in our Draft Current Controls 
Assessment Report, the Trust must develop a 
robust mechanism for identifying deaths by 
speciality using both admission and treatment 
function codes and other identifiers. This should 
include deaths up to 30 days post-discharge. 
 • The HOGAN and National Confidential Enquiry 
into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) 
scoring arising from mortality reviews must be 
subject to audit and further scrutiny within the 
Trust. 
 • All NCEPOD or HOGAN scores of 2 or above 
should give rise to further review by the Trust, 
investigation where appropriate and the potential 
need for Duty of Candour processes. 

MD15/
3 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Develop and implement a Mortality Review Policy 
 Mortality Steering Group in Place 
 Roll out training strategies for staff undertaking 
mortality reviews 
 Development of Quality Review Process is 
underway 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 15 - Named Consultants  
• Named Consultants, for complex patients, 
should be introduced in Urology. This should 
include non-cancer patients. Complex cases 
without a diagnosis should be discussed at MDT 
or Radiology meetings.  
• Clinicians should be allocated clinical 
responsibility for the oversight of pathways 
including by cancer type to develop greater 
ownership and to drive improvements in services. 
(See R54(E)). 

MD16/
1 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE As per Recommendation 12 
 Completed for Urology 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 15 - Named Consultants  
• Named Consultants, for complex patients, 
should be introduced in Urology. This should 
include non-cancer patients. Complex cases 
without a diagnosis should be discussed at MDT 
or Radiology meetings.  
• Clinicians should be allocated clinical 
responsibility for the oversight of pathways 
including by cancer type to develop greater 
ownership and to drive improvements in services. 
(See R54(E)). 

MD16/
2 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action - The Trust will review whether 
Clinicians should be allocated clinical 
responsibility for the oversight of pathways 
including by cancer type to develop greater 
ownership and to drive improvements in services. 

In progress 

111



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 17 - Capacity and best 
interests: applying the Mental Capacity Act 2005 
 • Capacity assessment and best interest 
decision-making should be improved through 
audit, training, and best practice examples. 
 • An enhanced focus should be given to people 
presenting with dementia or confusion and those 
with a learning disability. 
 • A thematic review examining the pathway, 
management and replacement of suprapubic 
catheters should be undertaken. 

MD17/
1 

Mrs Bridget 
Lees 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Actions 
 Trust to Undertake reviews of : Capacity and 
best interests: applying the Mental Capacity Act 
2005 
 1) Capacity assessment and best interest 
decision-making should be improved through 
audit, training, and best practice examples. 
 2) An enhanced focus should be given to people 
presenting with dementia or confusion and those 
with a learning disability. 
  
The Thematic review of the pathway, 
management and replacement of suprapubic 
catheters is Urology only and will only be 
addressed through ActionMD17/2 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 17 - Capacity and best 
interests: applying the Mental Capacity Act 2005 
 • Capacity assessment and best interest 
decision-making should be improved through 
audit, training, and best practice examples. 
 • An enhanced focus should be given to people 
presenting with dementia or confusion and those 
with a learning disability. 
 • A thematic review examining the pathway, 
management and replacement of suprapubic 
catheters should be undertaken. 

MD17/
2 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Service to undertake review of: 
 1) Capacity assessment and best interest 
decision-making should be improved through 
audit, training, and best practice examples. 
 2) An enhanced focus should be given to people 
presenting with dementia or confusion and those 
with a learning disability. 
 3) A thematic review examining the pathway, 
management and replacement of suprapubic 
catheters should be undertaken. 

In progress 

112



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 18 - Consent 
 Consent for operations must be completed on 
every occasion.  
Any consent not completed correctly must be 
reported and investigated to improve practice. 
 Consenting practice should be subject to audit 
and should include whether the patient dated the 
consent and the practice of confirmation of 
consent where the operating surgeon is different 
from the consenting surgeon. 
 Theatre staff should be alerted to our concerns 
regarding consenting practice and be authorised 
to report all incidents where consent is not 
compliant with expected practice. 

MD18/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Action ahead of Trust Wide Electronic Consent 
Project  
CA - to check/confirm Evidence for Improvements 
in Urology  
Trust Wide process still not gone live - check 
dates 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 18 - Consent 
 Consent for operations must be completed on 
every occasion.  
Any consent not completed correctly must be 
reported and investigated to improve practice. 
 Consenting practice should be subject to audit 
and should include whether the patient dated the 
consent and the practice of confirmation of 
consent where the operating surgeon is different 
from the consenting surgeon. 
 Theatre staff should be alerted to our concerns 
regarding consenting practice and be authorised 
to report all incidents where consent is not 
compliant with expected practice. 

MD18/
2 

Mr John 
Wilson 

Urology Implement Go-live electronic Consent process for 
Urology. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

113



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 18 - Consent 
 Consent for operations must be completed on 
every occasion.  
Any consent not completed correctly must be 
reported and investigated to improve practice. 
 Consenting practice should be subject to audit 
and should include whether the patient dated the 
consent and the practice of confirmation of 
consent where the operating surgeon is different 
from the consenting surgeon. 
 Theatre staff should be alerted to our concerns 
regarding consenting practice and be authorised 
to report all incidents where consent is not 
compliant with expected practice. 

MD18/
3 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Implement Go-Live of electronic Consent Process 
for the whole organisation. 
  
Considerations: 
 1. Trust wide consent Policy 
 2. Training / Knowledge awareness 
 3. Trust wide audit of consent. 
 4. Evidence exists for Improvements in Urology 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 19 - Lorenzo 
 All scan and clinical results should be 
acknowledged by the requester.  
Clinicians should be trained on the use of 
Lorenzo to ensure that they are aware of how to 
complete this activity. 
 It should be made clear to all staff in which part 
of Lorenzo key documentation should be filed to 
reduce the amount of time spent finding key 
clinical information. 
 A record of stent register status should be clearly 
marked and visible. 

MD19/
1 

Dr William 
Lumb 

TRUSTWIDE All scan and clinical results should be 
acknowledged by the requester - in place 
 Clinicians should be trained on the use of 
Lorenzo to ensure that they are aware of how to 
complete this activity - in place 
 It should be made clear to all staff in which part 
of Lorenzo key documentation should be filed to 
reduce the amount of time spent finding key 
clinical information. - in progress see Mel 
Waszkiel part of Documentation TFG 
 A record of stent register status should be clearly 
marked and visible. - Completed 
 Complete for Urology 
 ? Trust Wide applicability 

In progress 

114



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 19 - Lorenzo 
 All scan and clinical results should be 
acknowledged by the requester.  
Clinicians should be trained on the use of 
Lorenzo to ensure that they are aware of how to 
complete this activity. 
 It should be made clear to all staff in which part 
of Lorenzo key documentation should be filed to 
reduce the amount of time spent finding key 
clinical information. 
 A record of stent register status should be clearly 
marked and visible. 

MD19/
2 

Mr John 
Wilson 

Urology Ensure a record of stent register is clearly marked 
and visible. Confirm R&R Status. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 19 - Lorenzo 
 All scan and clinical results should be 
acknowledged by the requester.  
Clinicians should be trained on the use of 
Lorenzo to ensure that they are aware of how to 
complete this activity. 
 It should be made clear to all staff in which part 
of Lorenzo key documentation should be filed to 
reduce the amount of time spent finding key 
clinical information. 
 A record of stent register status should be clearly 
marked and visible. 

MD19/
3 

Dr William 
Lumb 

TRUSTWIDE Agree and implement a training strategy for the 
trust to ensure clinicians are aware of trust wide 
standards. 
 Ensure clarity of information require on 
completion of adding information on Lorenzo and 
acknowledgement of request status. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 20 - Recording of ethnicity 
 • The sample provided does not include 
information on ethnicity other than White or 
Unknown/Mixed. The Trust should examine 
whether it is recording ethnicity in its records in 
line with expected practice. 

MD20/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action 
 Trust to review the recording of patient ethnicity 
in its EPRs/records in line with expected practice 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 20 - Recording of ethnicity 
 • The sample provided does not include 
information on ethnicity other than White or 
Unknown/Mixed. The Trust should examine 
whether it is recording ethnicity in its records in 
line with expected practice. 

MD20/
2 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Action 
 No Action will be taken in Urology, A Trust wide 
response is required to the recording of Patient 
ethnicity in EPRs 
 This will be managed thorough Action MD20/1 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

115



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 21 - Case note review 
 • There should be a repeat case note review 
(100 cases) in 12 months (Autumn 2022) to 
assess if improvements have been sustained and 
embedded. 

MD21/
1 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Trust Clinical Audit Team to work with Urology 
Audit Lead (Mr Saqib) to ensure that Repeat 
Audit of 100 Case Notes is added to the Trust 
Forward Audit Plan for 2022-23, Audit will take 
place in Quarter 2/3 of 2022/23, with completion 
in Quarter 3 of 2022/23. 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 21 - Case note review 
 • There should be a repeat case note review 
(100 cases) in 12 months (Autumn 2022) to 
assess if improvements have been sustained and 
embedded. 

MD21/
2 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Action for NICHE, not UHMBT - not 
started/completed 
 Query - Any Audit recorded on Forward Plan? 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

116



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 22 (Cancer Alliance) - 
Improving the pathway for bladder cancer 
diagnosis 
 • Where appropriate, conducting a flexible 
cystoscopy on the day of attending the One Stop 
Clinic would make this a truly one-stop service. 
 • Patients meeting the two-week wait criteria with 
visible haematuria and normal estimated 
glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) should be triaged 
to have a CT Urogram prior to attending clinic to 
streamline the service. 
 • Patients requiring ongoing monitoring following 
chemotherapy/radiotherapy should be referred 
back via the MDT to a named Consultant at the 
Trust, on completing their therapy, who is then 
responsible for co-ordinating on-going care (e.g. 
in this case, being clear about the rationale for 
examination under anaesthetic (EUA), biopsy, 
cystoscopy and stenting). The MDT will need to 
ensure there is a clear management plan and 
processes put in place to ensure Urology actions 
are implemented. This will also allow time to plan 
dates for surgery to meet required timescales. 
 • Lancashire and South Cumbria Cancer Alliance 
follow up protocols should be agreed and 
followed. 
 • All patients should be listed on the stent 
register. If they are transferred to another Trust 
with the expectation that the stent is removed, 
this should be explicitly stated; if patients are 
transferred into the Trust with a stent in situ, they 
should be added to the Trust’s stent register. 

MD22/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Urology Completed 
 lexible cystoscopy on the day of attending the 
One Stop Clinic would make this a truly one-stop 
service - In Place 
 two-week wait criteria with visible haematuria 
and normal estimated glomerular filtration rate 
(eGFR) should be triaged to have a CT Urogram - 
completed 
 Patients requiring ongoing monitoring following 
chemotherapy/radiotherapy should be referred 
back via the MDT to a named Consultant at the 
Trust 
 All patients should be listed on the stent register 
 Need to review for Trust 
 lexible cystoscopy on the day of attending the 
One Stop Clinic would make this a truly one-stop 
service - In Place 
 two-week wait criteria with visible haematuria 
and normal estimated glomerular filtration rate 
(eGFR) should be triaged to have a CT Urogram - 
completed 
 Patients requiring ongoing monitoring following 
chemotherapy/radiotherapy should be referred 
back via the MDT to a named Consultant at the 
Trust 
 All patients should be listed on the stent register 
  
Lancashire and South Cumbria Cancer Alliance - 
update require, raise with Trust Cancer Lead  
Lancashire and South Cumbria Cancer Alliance 
follow up protocols should be agreed and 
followed. 

In progress 

117



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 22 (Cancer Alliance) - 
Improving the pathway for bladder cancer 
diagnosis 
 • Where appropriate, conducting a flexible 
cystoscopy on the day of attending the One Stop 
Clinic would make this a truly one-stop service. 
 • Patients meeting the two-week wait criteria with 
visible haematuria and normal estimated 
glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) should be triaged 
to have a CT Urogram prior to attending clinic to 
streamline the service. 
 • Patients requiring ongoing monitoring following 
chemotherapy/radiotherapy should be referred 
back via the MDT to a named Consultant at the 
Trust, on completing their therapy, who is then 
responsible for co-ordinating on-going care (e.g. 
in this case, being clear about the rationale for 
examination under anaesthetic (EUA), biopsy, 
cystoscopy and stenting). The MDT will need to 
ensure there is a clear management plan and 
processes put in place to ensure Urology actions 
are implemented. This will also allow time to plan 
dates for surgery to meet required timescales. 
 • Lancashire and South Cumbria Cancer Alliance 
follow up protocols should be agreed and 
followed. 
 • All patients should be listed on the stent 
register. If they are transferred to another Trust 
with the expectation that the stent is removed, 
this should be explicitly stated; if patients are 
transferred into the Trust with a stent in situ, they 
should be added to the Trust’s stent register. 

MD22/
2 

Mr John 
Wilson 

Urology Review pathway for bladder cancer diagnosis. 
consult with key stakeholders to review and 
implement improved pathway. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

118



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 22 (Cancer Alliance) - 
Improving the pathway for bladder cancer 
diagnosis 
 • Where appropriate, conducting a flexible 
cystoscopy on the day of attending the One Stop 
Clinic would make this a truly one-stop service. 
 • Patients meeting the two-week wait criteria with 
visible haematuria and normal estimated 
glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) should be triaged 
to have a CT Urogram prior to attending clinic to 
streamline the service. 
 • Patients requiring ongoing monitoring following 
chemotherapy/radiotherapy should be referred 
back via the MDT to a named Consultant at the 
Trust, on completing their therapy, who is then 
responsible for co-ordinating on-going care (e.g. 
in this case, being clear about the rationale for 
examination under anaesthetic (EUA), biopsy, 
cystoscopy and stenting). The MDT will need to 
ensure there is a clear management plan and 
processes put in place to ensure Urology actions 
are implemented. This will also allow time to plan 
dates for surgery to meet required timescales. 
 • Lancashire and South Cumbria Cancer Alliance 
follow up protocols should be agreed and 
followed. 
 • All patients should be listed on the stent 
register. If they are transferred to another Trust 
with the expectation that the stent is removed, 
this should be explicitly stated; if patients are 
transferred into the Trust with a stent in situ, they 
should be added to the Trust’s stent register. 

MD22/
3 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Review adherence to cancer pathways from other 
services in the organisation.  
Review cancer care pathways. 

In progress 

119



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 23 - Clinical monitoring 
 The Trust should continue to embed good 
practice and use of: 
 • Venous thromboembolism (VTE) assessment. 
 • Nutrition, hydration and associated food/fluid 
balance monitoring must be enforced as 
fundamental standards. Use of the Malnutrition 
Universal Screening Tool (MUST) should be 
audited at specified intervals to ensure scoring 
and onward actions are appropriate. 
 Total Parenteral Nutrition (TPN) guidelines 
should be reviewed and monitored to ensure that 
this option is considered early for all patients who 
are at risk of malnutrition. 
 • The Trust should monitor the recent 
implementation of the electronic NEWS2 charts to 
ensure that the new system is successful in 
identifying and responding to deteriorating 
patients. 
 • Access to formal on call microbiology advice 
out-of-hours should be provided. 

MD23/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE The Trust Will continue to embed good practice 
and use of: 
 1) Venous thromboembolism (VTE) assessment  
2) Nutrition, hydration and associated food/fluid 
balance monitoring must be enforced as 
fundamental standards.  
3) Total Parenteral Nutrition (TPN) guidelines 
should be reviewed and monitored 
 4) Monitor the recent implementation of the 
electronic NEWS2 charts 
 5) Access to formal on call microbiology advice 
out-of-hours 

Partially 
complete 

120



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 23 - Clinical monitoring 
 The Trust should continue to embed good 
practice and use of: 
 • Venous thromboembolism (VTE) assessment. 
 • Nutrition, hydration and associated food/fluid 
balance monitoring must be enforced as 
fundamental standards. Use of the Malnutrition 
Universal Screening Tool (MUST) should be 
audited at specified intervals to ensure scoring 
and onward actions are appropriate. 
 Total Parenteral Nutrition (TPN) guidelines 
should be reviewed and monitored to ensure that 
this option is considered early for all patients who 
are at risk of malnutrition. 
 • The Trust should monitor the recent 
implementation of the electronic NEWS2 charts to 
ensure that the new system is successful in 
identifying and responding to deteriorating 
patients. 
 • Access to formal on call microbiology advice 
out-of-hours should be provided. 

MD23/
2 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Action 
 Urology Will  continue to embed good practice 
and use of: 
 1) Venous thromboembolism (VTE) assessment  
2) Nutrition, hydration and associated food/fluid 
balance monitoring must be enforced as 
fundamental standards.  
3) Total Parenteral Nutrition (TPN) guidelines 
should be reviewed and monitored 
 4) Monitor the recent implementation of the 
electronic NEWS2 charts 
 5) Access to formal on call microbiology advice 
out-of-hours 

Partially 
complete 

121



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 24 - Standard operating 
policies and procedures 
 The Trust must ensure the following are up-to-
date and subject to regular audit: 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis 
and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • handover of patients between on call 
Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; and 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full. 

MD24/
1 

Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Trust Procedural Documents Team to work with 
Surgery and Critical Care  Care Group to review 
the following documents and ensure they contain 
a requirement for regular Audit 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis 
and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 24 - Standard operating 
policies and procedures 
 The Trust must ensure the following are up-to-
date and subject to regular audit: 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis 
and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • handover of patients between on call 
Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; and 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full. 

MD24/
2 

Mrs Bridget 
Lees 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Procedural Documents Team to work with 
Patient Safety Matron to review the following 
documents and ensure they contain a 
requirement for regular Audit 
 • the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient; 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

122



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 24 - Standard operating 
policies and procedures 
 The Trust must ensure the following are up-to-
date and subject to regular audit: 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis 
and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • handover of patients between on call 
Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; and 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full. 

MD24/
3 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Procedural Documents Team to work with 
Medical Director to review the following 
documents and ensure they contain a 
requirement for regular Audit 
 • handover of patients between on call 
Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 24 - Standard operating 
policies and procedures 
 The Trust must ensure the following are up-to-
date and subject to regular audit: 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis 
and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • handover of patients between on call 
Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; and 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full. 

MD24/
4 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Clinical Audit Team to work with Trust 
Procedural Documents Team to ensure Audits 
from the following documents are placed on the 
2022/23 Audit Forward Plan: 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis 
and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • handover of patients between on call 
Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; and 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full. 

Partially 
complete 

123



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 24 - Standard operating 
policies and procedures 
 The Trust must ensure the following are up-to-
date and subject to regular audit: 
 • the identification and management of Urosepsis 
and obstructed kidneys; 
 • the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient; 
 • the management and registration of stents; 
 • handover of patients between on call 
Consultants; 
 • consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required; 
 • interspecialty referral processes; and 
 • recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full. 

MD24/
5 

Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Urology Audits 
 1) the identification and management of 
Urosepsis and obstructed kidneys 
 2) the identification and management of sepsis 
and the deteriorating patient  
3) the management and registration of stents 
 4) handover of patients between on call 
Consultants  
5) consenting guidelines, including actions to be 
taken when patients cannot consent and when 
emergency surgery is required 
 6) interspecialty referral processes; 
 7) recording decisions made when a patient is 
referred to Intensive Treatment Unit (ITU), the 
escalation of capacity issues and a clear protocol 
regarding options when ITU is full 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 25 (ICS &CCG) - Nephrostomy 
service 
 • The Trust and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) should review arrangements for out-of-
hours nephrostomy provision, including over bank 
holidays and emergency cover. 
 • The arrangements that have been put in place 
should be assessed to ensure that standards for 
accessing nephrostomy provision out of hours 
and for returning patients to the Trust are 
appropriate, agreed, and form part of a standard 
operating procedure that is audited to confirm 
compliance. 

MD25/
1 

Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

TRUSTWIDE Urology only? Completed? 
 Procedure approved at TPDIG - August 21 
 Agreed SLA - Neil Swindlehurst 
 ICS SOP in place  
 
Has this been signed off by the ICS? 

In progress 124



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 25 (ICS &CCG) - Nephrostomy 
service 
 • The Trust and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) should review arrangements for out-of-
hours nephrostomy provision, including over bank 
holidays and emergency cover. 
 • The arrangements that have been put in place 
should be assessed to ensure that standards for 
accessing nephrostomy provision out of hours 
and for returning patients to the Trust are 
appropriate, agreed, and form part of a standard 
operating procedure that is audited to confirm 
compliance. 

MD25/
2 

Mr John 
Wilson 

Urology Agree a process and procedural document for 
SLA and ICS for Urology service in line with the 
trust procedural document process. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

125



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 26 (National) - Mortality review 
(Link to R10 and R15) 
 • Any post-operative death should be subject to 
rigorous and contemporaneous case review and 
monitored at Trust level. This would also help 
support accurate reports to the Coroner if 
required to be written some months post death. 
 • Death summaries and sudden death reports to 
the Coroner should be audited for quality and 
accuracy. 
 • Every inpatient death within the Surgical and 
Critical Care Group (S&CCG) should be reported 
and subject to case review, this review should be 
shared within the department and at Trust level. 
 • Every inpatient death in Urology services and 
other surgical specialties should be discussed in 
departmental meetings. 
 • Every inquest involving the Trust must include 
consideration of whether an incident might have 
occurred that requires investigation and to 
prepare statements and reports in an adequate 
timeframe. 
 • Statements to Coroners written in relation to 
whole episodes of care involving a team or a 
Trust service should be subject to validation by 
legal or corporate services to ensure that all 
parties have a right of reply (where needed) and 
that statements made are accurate. This is 
distinct from an individual health care 
professional providing a witness statement solely 
in relation to their own input. 
 • Failures in care identified as a result of 
producing a Coroner’s statement must be 
reported as an incident and any named 
individuals given a right of reply. 
 • The Trust’s Providing Statements to the 
Coroner Standard Operating Procedure should 
be revised to include the above. 
 • The Trust must assure themselves that the 
Providing Statements to the Coroner Standard 

MD26/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE The Trust will review its Mortality review 
processes to address the following actions: 
 1) Any post-operative death should be subject to 
rigorous and contemporaneous case review and 
monitored at Trust level. This would also help 
support accurate reports to the Coroner if 
required to be written some months post death. 
 2) Death summaries and sudden death reports to 
the Coroner should be audited for quality and 
accuracy. 
 3) Every inpatient death within the Surgical and 
Critical Care Group (S&CCG) should be reported 
and subject to case review, this review should be 
shared within the department and at Trust level. 
 4) Every inpatient death in Urology services and 
other surgical specialties should be discussed in 
departmental meetings. 
 5) Every inquest involving the Trust must include 
consideration of whether an incident might have 
occurred that requires investigation and to 
prepare statements and reports in an adequate 
timeframe. 
 6) Statements to Coroners written in relation to 
whole episodes of care involving a team or a 
Trust service should be subject to validation by 
legal or corporate services to ensure that all 
parties have a right of reply (where needed) and 
that statements made are accurate. This is 
distinct from an individual health care 
professional providing a witness statement solely 
in relation to their own input. 
 7) Failures in care identified as a result of 
producing a Coroner’s statement must be 
reported as an incident and any named 
individuals given a right of reply. 
 8) The Trust’s Providing Statements to the 
Coroner Standard Operating Procedure should 
be revised to include the above. 
 9) The Trust must assure themselves that the 
Providing Statements to the Coroner Standard 

Partially 
complete 

126



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Operating Procedure is being complied with. 
Statements should differentiate between fact and 
opinion. In addition, there should be a clear 
indication of how the statement has been 
compiled. 
 • The Trust should ensure that records are 
retained post-death and copies made for the 
purposes of review and investigation to mitigate 
the risk of retrospective entry. 
 [The Medical Examiner role was introduced in 
the Trust in April 2020; this function should be 
assessed against the above recommendations]. 

Operating Procedure is being complied with. 
Statements should differentiate between fact and 
opinion. In addition, there should be a clear 
indication of how the statement has been 
compiled. 
 10) The Trust should ensure that records are 
retained post-death and copies made for the 
purposes of review and investigation to mitigate 
the risk of retrospective entry. 

127



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 26 (National) - Mortality review 
(Link to R10 and R15) 
 • Any post-operative death should be subject to 
rigorous and contemporaneous case review and 
monitored at Trust level. This would also help 
support accurate reports to the Coroner if 
required to be written some months post death. 
 • Death summaries and sudden death reports to 
the Coroner should be audited for quality and 
accuracy. 
 • Every inpatient death within the Surgical and 
Critical Care Group (S&CCG) should be reported 
and subject to case review, this review should be 
shared within the department and at Trust level. 
 • Every inpatient death in Urology services and 
other surgical specialties should be discussed in 
departmental meetings. 
 • Every inquest involving the Trust must include 
consideration of whether an incident might have 
occurred that requires investigation and to 
prepare statements and reports in an adequate 
timeframe. 
 • Statements to Coroners written in relation to 
whole episodes of care involving a team or a 
Trust service should be subject to validation by 
legal or corporate services to ensure that all 
parties have a right of reply (where needed) and 
that statements made are accurate. This is 
distinct from an individual health care 
professional providing a witness statement solely 
in relation to their own input. 
 • Failures in care identified as a result of 
producing a Coroner’s statement must be 
reported as an incident and any named 
individuals given a right of reply. 
 • The Trust’s Providing Statements to the 
Coroner Standard Operating Procedure should 
be revised to include the above. 
 • The Trust must assure themselves that the 
Providing Statements to the Coroner Standard 

MD26/
2 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Surgery and 
Critical Care 

Services 

SCC/Urology Actions 
 Every inpatient death within the Surgical and 
Critical Care Group (S&CCG) should be reported 
and subject to case review, this review should be 
shared within the department and at Trust level. 
 Every inpatient death in Urology services and 
other surgical specialties should be discussed in 
departmental meetings. 
  
Other Action Points will be addressed through 
Action MD26/1 

In progress 

128



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Operating Procedure is being complied with. 
Statements should differentiate between fact and 
opinion. In addition, there should be a clear 
indication of how the statement has been 
compiled. 
 • The Trust should ensure that records are 
retained post-death and copies made for the 
purposes of review and investigation to mitigate 
the risk of retrospective entry. 
 [The Medical Examiner role was introduced in 
the Trust in April 2020; this function should be 
assessed against the above recommendations]. 

129



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 27 - Managing complaints and 
compound family questions 
 • The Trust’s Management Procedure for the 
Investigation and Resolution of Complaints 
should be reviewed to ensure advice is clear on 
the handling of persistent/compound complaints 
that are not vexatious. 
 • Repeated approaches/compound questions 
from a family in relation to concerns in care, 
including the death of a loved one, should be 
formally logged as a complaint. 
 These cases should be allocated an appropriate 
single point of contact or family liaison officer to 
manage the process and support the family. 
These cases should also be flagged and carefully 
monitored as they have potential for extended 
resolution timescales. 
 • Any case involving an inquest or complaint from 
a family should also be reviewed to determine 
whether it should be recorded as an incident(s). 
Any subsequent investigation and complaints 
processes should be managed in a coordinated 
fashion. 
 • Compound complaints often arise once medical 
records are provided as these may be incomplete 
(due to archiving and multiple patient record 
systems). The Trust should ensure that full sets 
of medical records are provided at the outset of 
the request in line with existing Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA), Subject Access Requests 
(SAR) and Access to Health Records Policies. 
 • Clear guidance on sharing the medical records 
of deceased patients with families should be set 
out to ensure that relatives are provided with 
requested information promptly and in line with 
the appropriate legislation. 
 • When FOIA or SAR include requests for email-
based information, all searches should be 
formally logged and centrally managed so that 

MD27/
1 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Action 
 1 - The Trust’s Management Procedure for the 
Investigation and Resolution of Complaints 
should be reviewed to ensure advice is clear on 
the handling of persistent/compound complaints 
that are not vexatious 
 2- Repeated approaches/compound questions 
from a family in relation to concerns in care, 
including the death of a loved one, should be 
formally logged as a complaint.  
3 - These cases should be allocated an 
appropriate single point of contact or family 
liaison officer to manage the process and support 
the family. These cases should also be flagged 
and carefully monitored as they have potential for 
extended resolution timescales.  
4 - Any case involving an inquest or complaint 
from a family should also be reviewed to 
determine whether it should be recorded as an 
incident(s). Any subsequent investigation and 
complaints processes should be managed in a 
coordinated fashion. 
 5 - Compound complaints often arise once 
medical records are provided as these may be 
incomplete (due to archiving and multiple patient 
record systems). The Trust should ensure that full 
sets of medical records are provided at the outset 
of the request in line with existing Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA), Subject Access Requests 
(SAR) and Access to Health Records Policies.  
6 - Clear guidance on sharing the medical 
records of deceased patients with families should 
be set out to ensure that relatives are provided 
with requested information promptly and in line 
with the appropriate legislation. 
 7 - When FOIA or SAR include requests for 
email-based information, all searches should be 
formally logged and centrally managed so that 
the Trust has a full record of searches available 
to them. 

Partially 
complete 

130



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

the Trust has a full record of searches available 
to them. 

131



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 27 - Managing complaints and 
compound family questions 
 • The Trust’s Management Procedure for the 
Investigation and Resolution of Complaints 
should be reviewed to ensure advice is clear on 
the handling of persistent/compound complaints 
that are not vexatious. 
 • Repeated approaches/compound questions 
from a family in relation to concerns in care, 
including the death of a loved one, should be 
formally logged as a complaint. 
 These cases should be allocated an appropriate 
single point of contact or family liaison officer to 
manage the process and support the family. 
These cases should also be flagged and carefully 
monitored as they have potential for extended 
resolution timescales. 
 • Any case involving an inquest or complaint from 
a family should also be reviewed to determine 
whether it should be recorded as an incident(s). 
Any subsequent investigation and complaints 
processes should be managed in a coordinated 
fashion. 
 • Compound complaints often arise once medical 
records are provided as these may be incomplete 
(due to archiving and multiple patient record 
systems). The Trust should ensure that full sets 
of medical records are provided at the outset of 
the request in line with existing Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA), Subject Access Requests 
(SAR) and Access to Health Records Policies. 
 • Clear guidance on sharing the medical records 
of deceased patients with families should be set 
out to ensure that relatives are provided with 
requested information promptly and in line with 
the appropriate legislation. 
 • When FOIA or SAR include requests for email-
based information, all searches should be 
formally logged and centrally managed so that 

MD27/
2 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Action 
 Managing complaints and compound family 
questions 
 1 - The Trust’s Management Procedure for the 
Investigation and Resolution of Complaints 
should be reviewed to ensure advice is clear on 
the handling of persistent/compound complaints 
that are not vexatious. 
 2 - Repeated approaches/compound questions 
from a family in relation to concerns in care, 
including the death of a loved one, should be 
formally logged as a complaint. These cases 
should be allocated an appropriate single point of 
contact or family liaison officer to manage the 
process and support the family. These cases 
should also be flagged and carefully monitored as 
they have potential for extended resolution 
timescales. 
 3 - Any case involving an inquest or complaint 
from a family should also be reviewed to 
determine whether it should be recorded as an 
incident(s). Any subsequent investigation and 
complaints processes should be managed in a 
coordinated fashion. 
 4 - Compound complaints often arise once 
medical records are provided as these may be 
incomplete (due to archiving and multiple patient 
record systems). The Trust should ensure that full 
sets of medical records are provided at the outset 
of the request in line with existing Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA), Subject Access Requests 
(SAR) and Access to Health Records Policies. 
 5 - Clear guidance on sharing the medical 
records of deceased patients with families should 
be set out to ensure that relatives are provided 
with requested information promptly and in line 
with the appropriate legislation. 
 6 - When FOIA or SAR include requests for 
email-based information, all searches should be 
formally logged and centrally managed so that 

Partially 
complete 

132



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

the Trust has a full record of searches available 
to them. 

the Trust has a full record of searches available 
to them. 

133



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 28 - Consultant relationships 
(Link to R65(E)) 
 • The Trust should pay particular attention to any 
grievance raised by a Consultant or senior 
medical member of staff about another peer. 
Prompt and diligent investigations should be 
undertaken to ensure that the basis of concerns 
is fully understood and properly actioned to 
resolve peer-to-peer difficulties and concerns in a 
transparent and effective manner. 
 • The Board should be made aware at an early 
stage of any specialty where relationships may be 
failing as this is a key patient safety marker. The 
Board should monitor actions to achieve 
improvement. This should be undertaken via the 
Employee Relations Report. 
 • The Medical Director should be informed of any 
concerns about Consultant relationships (as 
Responsible Officer). 

MD28/
1 

Mr David 
Wilkinson 

TRUSTWIDE Urology Completed/processes in place - Ongoing 
Monitoring 
 RSP Workstream 4: Culture & Leadership 
 - The Trust should pay particular attention to any 
grievance raised by a Consultant or senior 
medical member of staff about another peer 
 - The Board should be made aware at an early 
stage of any specialty where relationships may be 
failing - EDG Hotspot reporting MD is on EDG 
 - The Medical Director should be informed of any 
concerns about Consultant relationships - 
Medical Director is now RO - completed 
  
Trust Wide - Ongoing 
 RSP Workstream 4: Culture & Leadership 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 28 - Consultant relationships 
(Link to R65(E)) 
 • The Trust should pay particular attention to any 
grievance raised by a Consultant or senior 
medical member of staff about another peer. 
Prompt and diligent investigations should be 
undertaken to ensure that the basis of concerns 
is fully understood and properly actioned to 
resolve peer-to-peer difficulties and concerns in a 
transparent and effective manner. 
 • The Board should be made aware at an early 
stage of any specialty where relationships may be 
failing as this is a key patient safety marker. The 
Board should monitor actions to achieve 
improvement. This should be undertaken via the 
Employee Relations Report. 
 • The Medical Director should be informed of any 
concerns about Consultant relationships (as 
Responsible Officer). 

MD28/
2 

Mr David 
Wilkinson 

TRUSTWIDE Work with the  Leadership and Culture 
Workstream / IBD to develop procedural 
documents for whistleblowing and embed best 
practice in the Urology service.  
 
Focus: 
 The Board should be made aware at an early 
stage of any specialty where relationships may be 
failing as this is a key patient safety marker.  
The Medical Director should be informed of any 
concerns about Consultant relationships (as 
Responsible Officer).   
Grievances by consultants should be picked up 
as part of Leadership and Culture Workstream - 
to ensure early resolution 

In progress 

134



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 28 - Consultant relationships 
(Link to R65(E)) 
 • The Trust should pay particular attention to any 
grievance raised by a Consultant or senior 
medical member of staff about another peer. 
Prompt and diligent investigations should be 
undertaken to ensure that the basis of concerns 
is fully understood and properly actioned to 
resolve peer-to-peer difficulties and concerns in a 
transparent and effective manner. 
 • The Board should be made aware at an early 
stage of any specialty where relationships may be 
failing as this is a key patient safety marker. The 
Board should monitor actions to achieve 
improvement. This should be undertaken via the 
Employee Relations Report. 
 • The Medical Director should be informed of any 
concerns about Consultant relationships (as 
Responsible Officer). 

MD28/
3 

Mr David 
Wilkinson 

TRUSTWIDE Grievance and whistleblowing procedural 
document to be developed and implemented trust 
wide. 
  
Focus 
 1. Trust should pay particular attention to any 
grievance raised by a Consultant or senior 
medical member of staff about another peer. 
Prompt and diligent investigations should be 
undertaken to ensure that the basis of concerns 
is fully understood and properly actioned to 
resolve peer-to-peer difficulties and concerns in a 
transparent and effective manner. 
 2. Greater oversight from the Board to ensure 
informed at an early stage of any specialty where 
relationships may be failing as this is a key 
patient safety marker. The Board should monitor 
actions to achieve improvement. This should be 
undertaken via the Employee Relations Report.  
(EDG Hotspots - weekly slot) 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 29 - Triggers for external 
investigations 
 • Terms of reference for all externally 
commissioned investigations should be scoped 
individually and quality assured to ensure that 
patient/family questions are included and that 
specific Trust concerns are addressed. (This 
principle should be followed for all root cause 
analysis (RCA) and serious incident (SI) reports 
undertaken internally in line with good practice). 
 The Trust should develop a set of triggers for 
external investigations to be undertaken including 
when departmental dysfunction is apparent. 
 • The Trust should revisit its tolerance for 
requesting external support in investigations. 

MD29/
1 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action - Will also address Urology 
Action 
 Trust will develop and implement Procedural 
document to establish and record the following: 
 - The tolerance/triggers for requesting external 
support in investigations  
- How the Terms of Reference for externally 
commissioned investigations should be 
developed, drafted and approved 
 - To ensure these Terms of Reference 
incorporate patient/family questions  
- To ensure these Terms of Reference 
incorporate any specific Trust concerns 

In progress 

135



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 29 - Triggers for external 
investigations 
 • Terms of reference for all externally 
commissioned investigations should be scoped 
individually and quality assured to ensure that 
patient/family questions are included and that 
specific Trust concerns are addressed. (This 
principle should be followed for all root cause 
analysis (RCA) and serious incident (SI) reports 
undertaken internally in line with good practice). 
 The Trust should develop a set of triggers for 
external investigations to be undertaken including 
when departmental dysfunction is apparent. 
 • The Trust should revisit its tolerance for 
requesting external support in investigations. 

MD29/
2 

Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Urology Action 
 This recommendation requires the development 
and implementation of Trust Wide standards and 
processes - See Action SD29/1. 
 No separate action for Urology will be developed 
or implemented. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 30 (ICS/CCG) - Clinical records 
in the form of emails (Link to R34(E)) 
 • The Trust should add all Consultant staff email 
accounts to their Very Important Persons (VIP) 
list for a period of seven years once employment 
is ended. 
 • The Trust should revisit its record-keeping 
policy as regards the use of email 
communications between clinicians containing 
clinical information. This should include: 
 - clarification of what is an acceptable use of 
email in sharing patient specific clinical 
information, both internally and externally, to the 
Trust (including in clinical networks); 
 - ensuring that where patient specific clinical 
information is shared by email (if appropriate) that 
these communications are retained as part of the 
clinical record; 
 - revisiting the Trust email archiving policy, in 
light of the above, to ensure that emails can be 
retrieved where necessary (for example for SAR 
purposes); and 
 - that all professionals should record the fact that 
an onward communication has been made within 
the clinical record. 

MD30/
1 

Ms Jane 
McNicholas 

TRUSTWIDE The Trust needs top review Clinical records in the 
form of emails 
 1) The Trust should add all Consultant staff email 
accounts to their Very Important Persons (VIP) 
list for a period of seven years once employment 
is ended. 
 2) The Trust should revisit its record-keeping 
policy as regards the use of email 
communications between clinicians containing 
clinical information. This should include: 
 2.1) clarification of what is an acceptable use of 
email in sharing patient specific clinical 
information, both internally and externally, to the 
Trust (including in clinical networks); 
 2.2) ensuring that where patient specific clinical 
information is shared by email (if appropriate) that 
these communications are retained as part of the 
clinical record; 
 2.3) revisiting the Trust email archiving policy, in 
light of the above, to ensure that emails can be 
retrieved where necessary (for example for SAR 
purposes); and 
 2.4) that all professionals should record the fact 
that an onward communication has been made 
within the clinical record. 

Partially 
complete 

136



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 30 (ICS/CCG) - Clinical records 
in the form of emails (Link to R34(E)) 
 • The Trust should add all Consultant staff email 
accounts to their Very Important Persons (VIP) 
list for a period of seven years once employment 
is ended. 
 • The Trust should revisit its record-keeping 
policy as regards the use of email 
communications between clinicians containing 
clinical information. This should include: 
 - clarification of what is an acceptable use of 
email in sharing patient specific clinical 
information, both internally and externally, to the 
Trust (including in clinical networks); 
 - ensuring that where patient specific clinical 
information is shared by email (if appropriate) that 
these communications are retained as part of the 
clinical record; 
 - revisiting the Trust email archiving policy, in 
light of the above, to ensure that emails can be 
retrieved where necessary (for example for SAR 
purposes); and 
 - that all professionals should record the fact that 
an onward communication has been made within 
the clinical record. 

MD30/
2 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Urology Action 
 This Recommendation requires a Trust Wide 
Response and will be managed through Action 
MD30/1 
 No Urology Specific Action required 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

137



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 31 - Clinical dispute resolution 
 • The Trust should introduce a mechanism of 
escalation, separate to the existing grievance and 
Freedom to Speak Up processes, whereby 
clinical disputes (in MDTs, between individuals or 
within departments) are formally mediated and 
resolved. The responsibilities for professionals 
involved in the event to engage in this 
mechanism of escalation should be made clear. 
This should be supported by a formal policy and 
should detail timescales for reporting, arbitration, 
resolution, and the trigger for the involvement of 
independent clinical adjudicators. Processes to 
report into other forums (such as Clinical 
Governance, mortality review, Ethics Committee 
and Revalidation) should be made clear within 
this policy. 

MD31/
1 

Mr David 
Wilkinson 

TRUSTWIDE The Trust should introduce a mechanism of 
escalation, separate to the existing grievance and 
Freedom to Speak Up processes, whereby 
clinical disputes (in MDTs, between individuals or 
within departments) are formally mediated and 
resolved.  
1) The responsibilities for professionals involved 
in the event to engage in this mechanism of 
escalation should be made clear.  
2) This should be supported by a formal policy 
and should detail timescales for reporting, 
arbitration, resolution, and the trigger for the 
involvement of independent clinical adjudicators.  
3) Processes to report into other forums (such as 
Clinical Governance, mortality review, Ethics 
Committee and Revalidation) should be made 
clear within this policy. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 31 - Clinical dispute resolution 
 • The Trust should introduce a mechanism of 
escalation, separate to the existing grievance and 
Freedom to Speak Up processes, whereby 
clinical disputes (in MDTs, between individuals or 
within departments) are formally mediated and 
resolved. The responsibilities for professionals 
involved in the event to engage in this 
mechanism of escalation should be made clear. 
This should be supported by a formal policy and 
should detail timescales for reporting, arbitration, 
resolution, and the trigger for the involvement of 
independent clinical adjudicators. Processes to 
report into other forums (such as Clinical 
Governance, mortality review, Ethics Committee 
and Revalidation) should be made clear within 
this policy. 

MD31/
2 

Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Action 
 This Recommendation requires a Trust Wide 
resolution, no further Urology Specific Action will 
be undertaken. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 138



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 59 (National) - Protecting 
patient confidentiality 
 Examine ways in which confidential patient 
information is appropriately anonymised for the 
purposes of employment tribunal hearings. 
Guidelines should include: 
 • advice to healthcare professionals on the use of 
patient information in these proceedings in line 
with Good Medical Practice guidance and GMC 
guidance on the use of personal information; 
 • advice on the relevant GDPR and Data 
Protection regulations and the right to protect 
private information for both patients, their families 
and other individuals; 
 • information relating to circumstances where 
patients do consent to the use of their personal 
information being used; and 
 • the application of how Duty of Candour applies 
in such circumstances. 

MD59/
1 

Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 60 (National) - Never Event 
review 
 Revisit the Never Events cases highlighted in 
this review and ensure that the Trust applies 
rigour to all possible Never Events reporting. 

MD60/
1 

Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 61 (National) - Learning from 
Deaths 
 Consider a revision to the Learning from Deaths 
guidance to ensure that patient records on death 
are suitably managed in original form by 
professionals to reduce the risk of posthumous 
amendment. 

MD61/
1 

Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

139



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 32 (National) - Coroner’s 
statements 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
develop guidance for Trusts and NHS 
organisations more widely in relation to the 
following aspects of recommendation 5 (R26) 
above: 
 • Statements to Coroners written in relation to 
whole episodes of care involving a team or a 
Trust service should be subject to validation and 
where a statement includes or implies failures in 
care all individuals named should be given a right 
of reply. This is distinct from an individual health 
care professional providing a witness statement 
solely in relation to their own input. 
 • Where failures in care are identified as a result 
of the production of a statement and a new 
incident is reported, the Coroner should be 
informed to determine if an investigation report 
will be required for any further proceedings. 
 • Trusts must assure themselves that their 
policies in relation to providing statements to the 
Coroner are being complied with. Statements 
should be based on fact rather than opinion and 
there should be a clear indication of how the 
statement has been compiled. 

SD32/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 33 (National) - Clinical practice 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
consider what relevant guidance could be 
developed for Trusts and NHS organisations 
more widely in relation to recommendations 1–8 
made in this report and how these lessons might 
be shared. The learning from this report would be 
of benefit to the wider NHS community through 
an anonymised case study which will be 
developed from this case. 

SD33/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

140



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 34 (National) - Clinical records 
and email communications 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
decide whether more guidance is needed in 
relation to the uses and retention of email 
correspondence (or other electronic 
communications) as part of health records and 
any regional or national implications of 
recommendation 9 above. 

SD34/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 35 - Review Niche patient case 
studies 
 The Trust should review all Niche case studies in 
priority order to contact patients in respect of Duty 
of Candour or ensure appropriate investigations 
have been completed to a high standard and 
actions have been implemented. 

SD35/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Urology only - The Trust will ensure that all 
Patients/Families involved in the NICHE Cas 
Studies, have received formal communication 
from the Trust, in accordance with the principles 
of the Duty of Candour regulations. 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 36 - Urology pathway priority 
management 
 • There is a need to redesign follow-up pathways 
for Urology patients to match capacity and 
demand to prevent backlogs and balance this 
with the faster response for new referrals. Clear 
protocols for long-term active surveillance which 
ensures cases are appropriately seen at the right 
intervals are required. 
 • Advance booking for long-term surveillance 
procedures should be introduced (including stent 
replacement and cystoscopy) and audited to 
ensure delays are minimised. 

SD36/1 Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

Urology Urology - Partially completed 
 COM review of Follow Up Pathways - ongoing 
 Long Term Surveillance in Place 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 37 - Capacity and demand 
modelling in Urology 
 The Trust should undertake a capacity and 
demand modelling exercise (including the use of 
PLICS information) to provide an up to date 
baseline for the service and to support job 
planning. This should include: 
 • Medical staffing levels 
 • Junior staffing resources 
 • Administrative resource 

SD37/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology to undertake a capacity and demand 
modelling exercise 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

141



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 • Nursing skills and a clinical nurse specialist role 
review 

NICHE Recommendation 38 - Revisit and align all 
reporting policies 
 The Trust should revisit and recommunicate the 
following policies to ensure that the purpose is 
clear, that they are aligned to each other and that 
they are workable for staff to readily follow and 
apply when escalation is required. This should 
include a flow diagram so staff can see which 
policy to follow in which situation. 
 • Incident reporting 
 • Raising Concerns 
 • Grievance management 
 • Whistleblowing 
 • Freedom to Speak Up 

SD38/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Procedural Document Team to work with 
Patient Safety Team (Incident Reporting), People 
& Organisational Development (Grievance 
Management) and Corporate Nursing (Raising 
Concerns, Freedom to Speak Up, 
Whistleblowing) to review, update and 
recommunicate the following policies: 
 1) Incident Reporting - CORP/PROC/022: 
Reporting and Management of Incidents including 
Serious Incidents 
 2) Raising Concerns - CORP/POL/112: Freedom 
to Speak Up & Raising Concerns 
 3) Grievance Management - CORP/POL/123: 
Grievance & Resolution 
 4) Whistleblowing - CORP/POL/112: Freedom to 
Speak Up & Raising Concerns 
 5) Freedom to Speak Up - CORP/POL/112: 
Freedom to Speak Up & Raising Concerns 
  
The Review will ensure that: 
 1) The purpose of each document is clear and, 
where possible, distinct from the other two 
documents 
 2) The documents clearly reference each other 
and are, where possible, aligned  with each other 
 3) The documents Include clear escalation 
triggers 
 4) Each document includes a common 'flow 

Partially 
complete 

142



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

diagram' to indicate which document is most 
relevant to given situation. 

143



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 38 - Revisit and align all 
reporting policies 
 The Trust should revisit and recommunicate the 
following policies to ensure that the purpose is 
clear, that they are aligned to each other and that 
they are workable for staff to readily follow and 
apply when escalation is required. This should 
include a flow diagram so staff can see which 
policy to follow in which situation. 
 • Incident reporting 
 • Raising Concerns 
 • Grievance management 
 • Whistleblowing 
 • Freedom to Speak Up 

SD38/2 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE This recommendation requires the development 
and implementation of Trust Wide standards and 
processes - See Action SD38/1. 
 No separate action for Urology will be developed 
or implemented. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 39 (ICS/CCG) - A specialty 
focus 
 The Trust should identify key specialty metrics 
that enable focus on harms to be triangulated in 
subspecialties of the Surgical and Critical Care 
Group (S&CCG). This should include: 
 • A single monthly report on claims, incidents, 
Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman 
(PHSO), Never Events and complaints with a 
cumulative analysis of themes arising. 
 • At least biannual thematic reviews (regardless 
of whether complaints or claims are upheld) to 
understand any concerns being raised at the 
earliest possible opportunity. 
 • An annual reconciliation of claims and 
complaints and their conversion to incident 
reports should be undertaken to ensure all patient 
safety concerns are logged through the incident 
reporting process for learning. 
 • Learning and sharing relevant patient safety 
issues arising from MHPS investigations (which 
should be logged as incidents where 
appropriate). 
 • Use of the annual GMC National Trainee 
Survey results to ensure information on junior 

SD39/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Some progress in SCC - check with Greg 
 Trust Quality standards with CCG - check with 
Stuart Bates 

In progress 

144



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

doctors’ experience is considered as part of these 
metrics. 

145



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 40 - Implement clinical audit 
programme (Link to R4, R9, R14, R18, R25, R41, 
R47) 
 A standard should be set for each of the 
following against which a clinical audit 
programme should be implemented: 
 • Handover quality 
 • Emergency surgery including access to and 
use of theatres out of hours 
 • Emergency transfers from FGH to RLI 
 • Stent register compliance 
 • Results review and acknowledgement 
 • MDT referrals, implementation of actions, 
attendance and quality of behaviours 
 • Out-of-hours support from junior doctors 
 • Ward round management 
 • Consenting practice 
 • Continuity of care 
 • Harms as a result of delayed follow ups and 
IRDs 
 • Application of National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance 

SD40/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE Clinical Audit Leads to work with Trust Clinical 
Audit Team to ensure that the below Audits are 
included in the Trust Forward Audit Plan for 2022-
23, as standalone Audits or as a standard(s) 
within an Audit.  Audits to take place in Audit Year 
2022/23, with completion across 2022/23, 
Progress to be reported at Care Group / 
Speciality Audit Meetings and/or to Trust Clinical 
Audit Standards Group Meeting. 
  
• Handover quality 
 • Emergency surgery including access to and 
use of theatres out of hours 
 • Emergency transfers from FGH to RLI 
 • Stent register compliance 
 • Results review and acknowledgement 
 • MDT referrals, implementation of actions, 
attendance and quality of behaviours 
 • Out-of-hours support from junior doctors 
 • Ward round management 
 • Consenting practice 
 • Continuity of care 
 • Harms as a result of delayed follow ups and 
IRDs 
 • Application of National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance 

Partially 
complete 

146



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 40 - Implement clinical audit 
programme (Link to R4, R9, R14, R18, R25, R41, 
R47) 
 A standard should be set for each of the 
following against which a clinical audit 
programme should be implemented: 
 • Handover quality 
 • Emergency surgery including access to and 
use of theatres out of hours 
 • Emergency transfers from FGH to RLI 
 • Stent register compliance 
 • Results review and acknowledgement 
 • MDT referrals, implementation of actions, 
attendance and quality of behaviours 
 • Out-of-hours support from junior doctors 
 • Ward round management 
 • Consenting practice 
 • Continuity of care 
 • Harms as a result of delayed follow ups and 
IRDs 
 • Application of National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance 

SD40/2 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Urology 
 Confirm with Urology Audit Lead, regarding the 
below audits 
  - are these Audits on the Urology Forward Audit 
Plan for 2022-23, as standalone Audits, or as a 
standard within an Audit.  
 - or, are these Audits being dealt with via the 
Trust  Forward Audit Plan for 2022-23, as 
standalone Audits, or as a standard within an 
Audit. 
  
• Handover quality 
 • Emergency surgery including access to and 
use of theatres out of hours 
 • Emergency transfers from FGH to RLI 
 • Stent register compliance 
 • Results review and acknowledgement 
 • MDT referrals, implementation of actions, 
attendance and quality of behaviours 
 • Out-of-hours support from junior doctors 
 • Ward round management 
 • Consenting practice - Subject to Trust Wide 
Audit Audit 2875 
 • Continuity of care 
 • Harms as a result of delayed follow ups and 
IRDs 
 • Application of National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance - Need to confirm if 
this relates to the NICE Process or individual 
NICE Guidance 

Partially 
complete 

147



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 41 (Cancer Alliance) - Cancer 
MDT management 
 The Trust, with the Cancer Alliance, should: 
 • Agree and implement new Standards of Care 
(SoC) in line with the advice of the Streamlining 
MDT Meetings guidance. 
 • Clarify the expectations of core members at 
both local and network MDTs and the expectation 
for named Consultant Urologists to present their 
cases. A deputy role for the chair of the local 
MDT should be put in place. 
 • Ensure that all core members attend the MDT 
as agreed above. 
 • Audit the new processes to ensure alignment 
with the introduction of the named Consultant. 
 • Ensure responsibility for actioning decisions 
made at the local MDT is maintained within the 
Trust. 
 • Ensure there is clarity for responsibility for 
actioning decisions made at the network MDT. 
 • Ensure that professional behaviours are 
demonstrated at both local and network MDTs 
and confirmed through observation and 
transparent feedback on a regular basis for all 
attendees. 

SD41/1 Mr 
Muhammad 

Saleem 
Naseem 

TRUSTWIDE Urology  - Partially complete 
  
Trust Wide Only - Partially complete 
 Need to review with Sarah Hauxwell and update 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 42 - 104 day cancer breach 
root cause analysis 
 • Ensure all 104 day cancer waiting time 
breaches are subject to a root cause analysis 
(RCA) and thematic reviews are acted upon to 
ensure pathway problems are properly identified 
and improved. 
 • The Trust should follow the newly released 
(October 2021) North West Guideline: Managing 
Long Waiting Cancer Patients 

SD42/1 Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Only - Completed 
 Revised 104 process in place  
Update from Sarah Hauxwell 

In progress 

148



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 42 - 104 day cancer breach 
root cause analysis 
 • Ensure all 104 day cancer waiting time 
breaches are subject to a root cause analysis 
(RCA) and thematic reviews are acted upon to 
ensure pathway problems are properly identified 
and improved. 
 • The Trust should follow the newly released 
(October 2021) North West Guideline: Managing 
Long Waiting Cancer Patients 

SD42/2 Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

Urology Embed and implement North West Guideline: 
Managing Long Waiting Cancer Patients 
guidelines. 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 42 - 104 day cancer breach 
root cause analysis 
 • Ensure all 104 day cancer waiting time 
breaches are subject to a root cause analysis 
(RCA) and thematic reviews are acted upon to 
ensure pathway problems are properly identified 
and improved. 
 • The Trust should follow the newly released 
(October 2021) North West Guideline: Managing 
Long Waiting Cancer Patients 

SD42/3 Miss Leanne 
Cooper 

TRUSTWIDE Embed and implement the North West Guideline: 
Managing Long Waiting Cancer Patients 
guideline in all services who support cancer 
patient appointments and referral times. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 43 - Emergency theatre access 
 • The Trust should monitor the use of emergency 
theatres out of hours in Urology (building on the 
analysis provided in this report) to establish 
whether the existing Standard Operating 
Procedure (Theatre Access) is effective in 
changing the pattern of practice highlighted by 
this report. 
 • This should be examined in the context of 
whether some emergency theatre demand could 
be reduced through the provision of ward based 
facilities. 

SD43/1 Mr Daniel 
Bakey 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Only - Partially complete 
 SOP in Place - Consultants do not always follow 
policy - needs to be embedded 

In progress 

149



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 43 - Emergency theatre access 
 • The Trust should monitor the use of emergency 
theatres out of hours in Urology (building on the 
analysis provided in this report) to establish 
whether the existing Standard Operating 
Procedure (Theatre Access) is effective in 
changing the pattern of practice highlighted by 
this report. 
 • This should be examined in the context of 
whether some emergency theatre demand could 
be reduced through the provision of ward based 
facilities. 

SD43/2 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Urology Action 
 This recommendation requires a Care Group 
Wide / Trust Wide response, this will be managed 
through Action SD43/1 
 No Urology Specific Action will be undertaken 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 44 - Patient handover 
 Handover of patients between Consultants 
should include: 
 • a formal handover arrangement between 
Consultants for out of hours cover. 
 • a handover for patients who are transferred 
between Consultants. 

SD44/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action 
 Handover of patients between Consultants 
should include: 
 • a formal handover arrangement between 
Consultants for out of hours cover. 
 • a handover for patients who are transferred 
between Consultants 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 44 - Patient handover 
 Handover of patients between Consultants 
should include: 
 • a formal handover arrangement between 
Consultants for out of hours cover. 
 • a handover for patients who are transferred 
between Consultants. 

SD44/2 Mr John 
Wilson 

Urology Develop and embed robust handover process for 
urology patients: 
  
Focus 
 1. formal handover arrangement between 
Consultants for out of hours cover. 
 2. handover for patients who are transferred 
between Consultants. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

150



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 45 - Managing team 
dysfunction 
 A uniform approach should be applied to team 
dysfunction. This should include: 
 • Clear communication from the Trust re the 
service strategy, goals and objectives - 
particularly around behavioural standards 
 • Holding to account against professional 
standards in Good Medical Practice 
 • Sustained visible leadership and “sponsorship” 
from the Board 
 • Intelligent review of patient outcomes and 
harms 
 • Follow-up, monitoring and review to ensure that 
behavioural improvements are sustained. 

SD45/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Trust - Ongoing - RSP Workstream 4 
 A uniform approach should be applied to team 
dysfunction. This should include: 
 • Clear communication from the Trust re the 
service strategy, goals and objectives - 
particularly around behavioural standards 
 • Holding to account against professional 
standards in Good Medical Practice 
 • Sustained visible leadership and “sponsorship” 
from the Board 
 • Intelligent review of patient outcomes and 
harms 
 • Follow-up, monitoring and review to ensure that 
behavioural improvements are sustained. 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 45 - Managing team 
dysfunction 
 A uniform approach should be applied to team 
dysfunction. This should include: 
 • Clear communication from the Trust re the 
service strategy, goals and objectives - 
particularly around behavioural standards 
 • Holding to account against professional 
standards in Good Medical Practice 
 • Sustained visible leadership and “sponsorship” 
from the Board 
 • Intelligent review of patient outcomes and 
harms 
 • Follow-up, monitoring and review to ensure that 
behavioural improvements are sustained. 

SD45/2 Mr John 
Wilson 

Urology Implement and embed procedures to improve 
adoption of the Behavioural Standards 
Framework in the Urology service. 
  
This should include: 
 • Clear communication from the Trust re the 
service strategy, goals and objectives - 
particularly around behavioural standards.  
• Holding to account against professional 
standards in Good Medical Practice.  (Medical 
Appraisal and MHPS Process) 
 • Sustained visible leadership and “sponsorship” 
from the Board  (ESP - Urology Task and Finish 
and Urology Oversight Committee and Safe 
Today) 
 • Intelligent review of patient outcomes and 
harms  (Ongoing Governance Processes) 
  
Measure: 
 • Follow-up, monitoring and review to ensure that 
behavioural improvements are sustained. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

151



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 46 - Duty to monitor staff 
wellbeing 
 The Trust has a duty to monitor staff stress 
levels and wellbeing and to intervene to support 
and understand the underlying issues before burn 
out affects patient care. The Trust should develop 
a cultural dashboard to identify key metrics that 
can provide early warning of team stress e.g. 
Occupational Health referral, employee relations 
concerns, engagement scores. 

SD46/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Actions 
 1) monitor staff stress levels and wellbeing and 
to intervene to support and understand the 
underlying issues before burn out affects patient 
care 
 2) develop a cultural dashboard to identify key 
metrics that can provide early warning of team 
stress e.g. Occupational Health referral, 
employee relations concerns, engagement score 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 46 - Duty to monitor staff 
wellbeing 
 The Trust has a duty to monitor staff stress 
levels and wellbeing and to intervene to support 
and understand the underlying issues before burn 
out affects patient care. The Trust should develop 
a cultural dashboard to identify key metrics that 
can provide early warning of team stress e.g. 
Occupational Health referral, employee relations 
concerns, engagement scores. 

SD46/2 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Actions 
 1) monitor staff stress levels and wellbeing and 
to intervene to support and understand the 
underlying issues before burn out affects patient 
care 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 47 - Appraisals for medical 
staff (Link to R40) 
 • Appraisals may identify colleagues who are 
having difficulties and a protocol should be put in 
place to safeguard staff when concerns are 
apparent. 
 • The Responsible Officer should explicitly 
monitor appraisals which may demonstrate team 
dysfunction as a means of early warning and to 
instigate remedial interventions. 
 • Specialty interests with key outcome measures 
at unit level should be agreed. Individual 
Consultants should be given lead responsibility 
for specialist areas with outcomes linked to the 
clinical audit programme and fixed into appraisal 
processes. 

SD47/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action - Relates to Medical Appraisal 
Only 
 1) Develop and Implement protocol for 
safeguarding staff that are identified as 'having 
difficulties' 
 2.1) The RO will monitor any appraisals that 
demonstrate early signs of 'Team Dysfunction' 
 2.2) The RO will investigate and, where possible, 
instigate 'remedial Interventions' 
 3.1) The Key Outcome Measures for Speciality 
Units will be agreed 
 3.2) The Key Outcome Measures for Speciality 
Units should be allocated to Responsible 
Consultants and monitored through Clinical Audit 

In progress 152



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 47 - Appraisals for medical 
staff (Link to R40) 
 • Appraisals may identify colleagues who are 
having difficulties and a protocol should be put in 
place to safeguard staff when concerns are 
apparent. 
 • The Responsible Officer should explicitly 
monitor appraisals which may demonstrate team 
dysfunction as a means of early warning and to 
instigate remedial interventions. 
 • Specialty interests with key outcome measures 
at unit level should be agreed. Individual 
Consultants should be given lead responsibility 
for specialist areas with outcomes linked to the 
clinical audit programme and fixed into appraisal 
processes. 

SD47/2 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Action 
 This recommendation requires a consistent Trust 
Wide approach to avoid any inadvertent disparity 
of approach and practice 
 No further Urology Specific Action will be taken 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 48 - Engagement with 
Consultant body 
 • Engagement by executive and non-executive 
members of the Board with the Consultant body 
should be examined and options provided to 
facilitate increased opportunities for interaction. 
 • This should include a clear programme of 
engagement at sub-specialty level over a rolling 
programme. This should be in addition to existing 
Medical Advisory Committee meetings. 

SD48/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Actions 
 1) Increase Engagement by executive and non-
executive members of the Board with the 
Consultant body 
 2) Develop and implement a rolling programme 
of Trust Board engagement at sub-specialty level 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 48 - Engagement with 
Consultant body 
 • Engagement by executive and non-executive 
members of the Board with the Consultant body 
should be examined and options provided to 
facilitate increased opportunities for interaction. 
 • This should include a clear programme of 
engagement at sub-specialty level over a rolling 
programme. This should be in addition to existing 
Medical Advisory Committee meetings. 

SD48/2 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology Urology Actions 
 Improve Engagement with the Urology 
Consultant body from Trust Board (Excs and 
Non-Execs) 

Partially 
complete 

153



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 49 - Trust Management of 
Royal College reports 
 • The Trust should inform regulators (CQC and 
NHS England and NHS Improvement) and 
commissioners of any plans for external reviews 
for quality and safety concerns, including Royal 
College Invited Service Reviews as soon as they 
are confirmed. This will ensure that regulators 
and commissioners can take this into account in 
their assurance activity in real time. 
 • Advisory reports from the Royal Colleges 
should be shared, in full or in summary where 
appropriate, by the Trust with the Trust Board. 
 • The Trust should formally inform the regional or 
local NHS England and NHS Improvement team, 
the Care Quality Commission and relevant fitness 
to practice investigations conducted by the GMC 
and commissioners of relevant Royal College 
reports and share these where appropriate. 
 • Transparent action plans arising from all Royal 
College reports should be developed by the 
Trust, shared with the Trust Board and formally 
monitored through the Trust Quality Committee. 

SD49/1 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

TRUSTWIDE The Trust should inform regulators (CQC and 
NHS England and NHS Improvement) and 
commissioners of any plans for external reviews 
for quality and safety concerns, including Royal 
College Invited Service Reviews as soon as they 
are confirmed. This will ensure that regulators 
and commissioners can take this into account in 
their assurance activity in real time. 
 • Advisory reports from the Royal Colleges 
should be shared, in full or in summary where 
appropriate, by the Trust with the Trust Board. 
 • The Trust should formally inform the regional or 
local NHS England and NHS Improvement team, 
the Care Quality Commission and relevant fitness 
to practice investigations conducted by the GMC 
and commissioners of relevant Royal College 
reports and share these where appropriate. 
 • Transparent action plans arising from all Royal 
College reports should be developed by the 
Trust, shared with the Trust Board and formally 
monitored through the Trust Quality Committee. - 
Check QAC ToR 

In progress 

154



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 49 - Trust Management of 
Royal College reports 
 • The Trust should inform regulators (CQC and 
NHS England and NHS Improvement) and 
commissioners of any plans for external reviews 
for quality and safety concerns, including Royal 
College Invited Service Reviews as soon as they 
are confirmed. This will ensure that regulators 
and commissioners can take this into account in 
their assurance activity in real time. 
 • Advisory reports from the Royal Colleges 
should be shared, in full or in summary where 
appropriate, by the Trust with the Trust Board. 
 • The Trust should formally inform the regional or 
local NHS England and NHS Improvement team, 
the Care Quality Commission and relevant fitness 
to practice investigations conducted by the GMC 
and commissioners of relevant Royal College 
reports and share these where appropriate. 
 • Transparent action plans arising from all Royal 
College reports should be developed by the 
Trust, shared with the Trust Board and formally 
monitored through the Trust Quality Committee. 

SD49/2 Mr Richard 
Sachs 

Urology Urology Action 
 This recommendation must be addressed 
through a common Trust Wide Approach/process 
- See Action SD49/1 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 50 - Clarify role of governors 
and escalation mechanisms 
 • Governor training and induction programmes 
should be revisited to confirm that methods for 
escalating concerns are clearly set out and 
understood. 
 • Procedures for escalation should include 
processes for resolution where governors remain 
dissatisfied with responses to issues raised. 

SD50/1 Mr Paul 
Jones 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Wide Action - Role of governors and 
escalation mechanisms 
 1) Review and update Governor training and 
induction programmes and ensure that methods 
for escalating concerns are clearly set out and 
understood 
 2) Develop and implement an escalation and 
resolution process where governors remain 
dissatisfied with responses to issues raised 

In progress 

155



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 50 - Clarify role of governors 
and escalation mechanisms 
 • Governor training and induction programmes 
should be revisited to confirm that methods for 
escalating concerns are clearly set out and 
understood. 
 • Procedures for escalation should include 
processes for resolution where governors remain 
dissatisfied with responses to issues raised. 

SD50/2 Mr Paul 
Jones 

Urology Urology Action 
 This recommendation requires the development 
and implementation of Trust Wide standards and 
processes - See Action SD50/1. 
 No separate action for Urology will be developed 
or implemented. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 51 - Institutional memory 
 Formal handover procedures should be in place 
for all incoming and outgoing Board members 
(including postholders with committee chair 
roles). These handovers should include employee 
relations issues and sub-specialty summaries. 

SD51/1 Miss Laura 
Robertson 

TRUSTWIDE Executive handover procedure to be developed 
and implemented by March 2022. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 51 - Institutional memory 
 Formal handover procedures should be in place 
for all incoming and outgoing Board members 
(including postholders with committee chair 
roles). These handovers should include employee 
relations issues and sub-specialty summaries. 

SD51/2 Mr Paul 
Jones 

TRUSTWIDE Trust Procedural Document Team to  
1) Include 'Roles and Responsibilities' as 
defined/required section Procedural Document 
Format 
 2) Work with Company Secretary to Agree 
Standard 'Role Names' for Executive Directors 
and other Senior Directors (e.g. Deputies to 
Executives) 
 3) Use agreed Standard 'Role Names' to initiate 
and complete a 'find and replace' review of all 
procedural documents to ensure correct role 
names are used. 
 4) Develop process for identifying, collating and 
reporting all responsibilities allocated to a 
Standard 'Role Names' 

Partially 
complete 

NICHE Recommendation 51 - Institutional memory 
 Formal handover procedures should be in place 
for all incoming and outgoing Board members 
(including postholders with committee chair 
roles). These handovers should include employee 
relations issues and sub-specialty summaries. 

SD51/3 Mr Paul 
Jones 

Urology This recommendation requires the development 
and implementation of Trust Wide standards and 
processes - See Action SD51/1. 
 No separate action for Urology will be developed 
or implemented. 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

156



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 52 - Media articles 
 Revise advice and guidance on dealing with 
media articles that name individuals and provide 
support to ensure an appropriate right of reply is 
sought (also in line with GMC guidance on 
responding to criticism in the media). 

SD52/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Director of Corporate Affairs to review and update 
Trust Advise and Guidance on Media Articles that 
Name Individuals 
 1) To ensure that an appropriate right of reply is 
sought  
2) and to ensure that this is in line with GMC 
guidance on responding to criticism in the media 

Fully 
complete 
(Awaiting 
approval) 

NICHE Recommendation 52 - Media articles 
 Revise advice and guidance on dealing with 
media articles that name individuals and provide 
support to ensure an appropriate right of reply is 
sought (also in line with GMC guidance on 
responding to criticism in the media). 

SD52/2 Mr Phil 
Woodford 

Urology Urology Action 
 This recommendation requires the development 
and implementation of Trust Wide standards and 
processes - See Action SD52/1. 
 No separate action for Urology will be developed 
or implemented. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 53 (ICS/CCG) - As part of the 
work underway to establish system governance, 
commissioners should agree shared mechanisms 
to enable proactive commissioning and visibility 
of the Trust’s services at specialty/sub-specialty 
level. 

SD53/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 54 (ICS/CCG) - Alternative 
mechanisms for specialty/sub-specialty level 
scrutiny as part of routine assurance processes 
should be examined, for example cyclical deep 
dives as part of an annual work plan led by 
commissioning managers for scrutiny by quality 
assurance forums.  
The heat map approach (as in Appendix 10) 
developed by the CCG provides a useful model 
for this purpose. 
 The CCG should add an analysis of 
complaints/concerns/incidents from GP practices 
at a specialty level on at least an annual basis as 
part of this scrutiny. 

SD54/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

157



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 55 (ICS/CCG) - A reporting 
template should be developed which brings 
together quality, activity, and performance 
information at a specialty level.  
A programme of reporting at this level should be 
agreed with the Trust, with frequency of reporting 
for each specialty to reflect jointly agreed 
priorities.  
This should provide a single source of reporting 
to all relevant governance groups. The Safe 
Today report provides a sound basis for 
development. 

SD55/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 55 (ICS/CCG) - A reporting 
template should be developed which brings 
together quality, activity, and performance 
information at a specialty level.  
A programme of reporting at this level should be 
agreed with the Trust, with frequency of reporting 
for each specialty to reflect jointly agreed 
priorities.  
This should provide a single source of reporting 
to all relevant governance groups. The Safe 
Today report provides a sound basis for 
development. 

SD55/2 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 56 (ICS/CCG) Terms of 
reference for all quality assurance forums should 
be explicit about specific areas of focus, reports 
to be considered and how issues should be 
monitored.  
Key Issues Reports should be used for 
escalation.  
An issues log should be maintained which 
identifies concerns with departments/specialties 
involved and this should be shared, populated 
and reviewed at key governance forums. 

SD56/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

158



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 57 (ICS/CCG) - Internal audit 
should test the efficacy of CCG assurance at a 
Trust specialty level as part of its annual work 
programme. 

SD57/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Compliance and Assurance Team to liaise with 
UHMBT Company Secretary and MB CCG 
Company Secretary to confirm whether this 
recommendation relates to: 
 - Assurance of the CCG's monitoring of the 
UHMBT Internal Audit programme at Trust 
specialty level 
 - Assurance of the CCG's Internal Audit 
programme for monitoring the Trust at specialty 
level 

In progress 

NICHE Recommendation 58 (ICS/CCG) - The CCG 
should ensure that its contractual requirements 
with the Trust relating to incident reporting, and 
as set out in the Quality Schedule to the latest 
contract (2021/22), are met. 

SD58/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 62 (National/ICS/CCG) - 
Networked support for team development 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement and the 
CCG should seek stronger working relationships 
between the Trust and tertiary centres to support 
Consultants in facilitating the provision of sub-
specialty services at the Trust. 

SD62/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

159



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 63 - Development of safe 
services and specialist interests 
 A Urology strategy should be developed 
involving all key Urology medical staff and other 
relevant healthcare professionals to set the 
context for the following actions: 
 • The Trust should undertake an equipment 
stocktake for Urology and plan into the capital 
replacement programme the need for 
cystoscopes, bipolar diathermy and suction 
equipment both in the short term and over the 
medium term or consider lease options. 
 • Examine, with the Trust and CCG, the 
development of Urology sub-specialisms building 
on Andrology and stone services, the 
management of superficial bladder cancer, local 
anaesthetic transperineal biopsy work and 
paediatrics. 
 • Examine, through the provider collaborative 
network, the viability of Urology provision across 
two sites and its associated support services in 
the long term should be examined in respect of 
future provision at Furness General Hospital. 
Formal consideration of centralising inpatient and 
emergency Urology services on one site should 
be revisited. This should include options for 
dedicated ward based facilities. 

SD63/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

Urology The Trust should undertake an equipment 
stocktake for Urology and plan into the capital 
replacement programme the need for 
cystoscopes, bipolar diathermy and suction 
equipment both in the short term and over the 
medium term or consider lease options. - 
Completed 
 • Examine, with the Trust and CCG, the 
development of Urology sub-specialisms building 
on Andrology and stone services, the 
management of superficial bladder cancer, local 
anaesthetic transperineal biopsy work and 
paediatrics. - Ongoing 
 • Examine, through the provider collaborative 
network, the viability of Urology provision across 
two sites and its associated support services in 
the long term should be examined in respect of 
future provision at Furness General Hospital. 
Formal consideration of centralising inpatient and 
emergency Urology services on one site should 
be revisited. This should include options for 
dedicated ward based facilities. - Ongoing 

In progress 

160



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 64 (National) - Regulation and 
oversight of team dysfunction (Link to R65(E)) 
 • NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
discuss the lessons learned from this review with 
the Care Quality Commission and share them 
with the National Quality Board or similar 
regulatory oversight group, in respect of the 
failings to resolve the long standing dysfunction in 
this team. 
 • NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
provide clear guidance about what external 
support might be available to Trusts from the 
regional medical directors’ teams and the 
advisory options when there is team dysfunction 
emerging. 
 • Regulatory activity should review the effective 
functioning of the Responsible Officer role in 
regard to managing concerns where team 
dysfunction may be apparent. 
 • Guidance should include ensuring Trusts are 
encouraged to seek early support where team 
dysfunction may put patient safety at risk. 

SD64/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

161



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 65 (National) - Guidance and 
support to Responsible Officers from NHS 
England and NHS Improvement Regional Medical 
Directors 
 • NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
ensure that guidance to ROs is up to date and a 
final version is in force to include the 2013 RO 
regulation amendments and learning since the 
role was introduced. 
 Regional Medical Directors should use this 
investigation as a case study to reinforce 
escalation processes for Responsible Officers 
who may be facing conduct difficulties within their 
medical workforce. 
 • The North West Regional Medical Director 
should share this case study with other Regional 
Medical Directors to reinforce the importance of 
the RO role, appointment processes and the 
lessons learned from this investigation. 
 • Good practice should be shared between 
Trusts to provide clarity on the best approaches 
for dealing with and escalating behavioural and 
conduct issues that are impacting on patient 
safety in line with Good Medical Practice. 
 • The Trust Board should revisit its 
understanding of the role of the RO and assure 
itself that there is clarity of duties between the 
Medical Director (now as RO) and the wider team 
in exercising duties to meet the RO regulations. 

SD65/1 Mr Carl 
Foulkes 

TRUSTWIDE Only one action for Trust 
 The Trust Board should revisit its understanding 
of the role of the RO and assure itself that there is 
clarity of duties between the Medical Director 
(now as RO) and the wider team in exercising 
duties to meet the RO regulations. 

Partially 
complete 

162



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 65 (National) - Guidance and 
support to Responsible Officers from NHS 
England and NHS Improvement Regional Medical 
Directors 
 • NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
ensure that guidance to ROs is up to date and a 
final version is in force to include the 2013 RO 
regulation amendments and learning since the 
role was introduced. 
 Regional Medical Directors should use this 
investigation as a case study to reinforce 
escalation processes for Responsible Officers 
who may be facing conduct difficulties within their 
medical workforce. 
 • The North West Regional Medical Director 
should share this case study with other Regional 
Medical Directors to reinforce the importance of 
the RO role, appointment processes and the 
lessons learned from this investigation. 
 • Good practice should be shared between 
Trusts to provide clarity on the best approaches 
for dealing with and escalating behavioural and 
conduct issues that are impacting on patient 
safety in line with Good Medical Practice. 
 • The Trust Board should revisit its 
understanding of the role of the RO and assure 
itself that there is clarity of duties between the 
Medical Director (now as RO) and the wider team 
in exercising duties to meet the RO regulations. 

SD65/2 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 66 (National) - Whistleblowing 
 Guidance on setting up appropriate governance 
processes should be developed to support 
intractable whistleblowing cases. It should aim to 
provide resolution to concerns and facilitate 
learning in relation to patient safety. 

SD66/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

163



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 67 (National) - Assurance 
review 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
commission a Phase 5 review (Autumn 2022) in 
line with the Terms of Reference to include 
assurance on key elements such as: 
 • continuity of care; 
 • named Consultant; 
 • MDT management; 
 • follow-up patient pathways; 
 • the quality of incident reporting and 
investigations; 
 • team development opportunities; and 
 • mortality governance. 
 to establish if implemented changes have 
become embedded and are sustainable. 

SD67/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

Urology The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 68 (National) - Role of the 
GMC in relation to team dysfunction 
 The GMC should reflect on this investigation. 
They should: 
 • seek to understand how and if team dysfunction 
issues impact on fitness to practice 
investigations. 
 • whether the role of medical managers and their 
fitness to practice (in relation to their 
management function) have been sufficiently 
considered in this case. 
 • ensure that GMC guidance in relation to the RO 
regulations is up to date and considers the 2013 
amendments to the regulations and learning 
since the role was introduced. 
 • indicate to Trusts that the GMC Connect 
dashboard can be made accessible to Medical 
Directors as well as the RO team. 

SD68/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

164



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 69 (National) - Enforcement 
and follow up of actions from Royal College 
Invited Service Reviews 
 Invited Service Reviews should include: 
 • clear expectations for Royal College Invited 
Service Review reports to be shared, in full, by 
the Trust with the relevant Trust Board; 
 • expectations for when Royal College Invited 
Service Review reports should be shared, in full, 
by the Trust with regulators; and 
 • clarity about the implementation of action plans 
arising from Invited Service Reviews to enable 
the Royal College to be satisfied that 
recommendations have been fully addressed to 
end their active involvement. 

SD69/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 70 (National) - Sharing of 
information between regulatory bodies 
 The effectiveness and intention of the Emerging 
Concerns Protocol https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-
we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-
protocol should be revisited in the context of the 
findings of this case. The inclusion of additional 
signatories (e.g. Royal Colleges, NHS England 
and NHS Improvement) should be considered. 
This may be the most appropriate process to 
improve information sharing. 

SD70/1 Mr Paul 
Jones 

TRUSTWIDE Company Secretary to review National 
Recommendation R70 to determine whether the 
Recommendation has any applicability to the 
Trust and, if so, to initiate the development of an 
action/implementation Plan for this 
recommendation. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 70 (National) - Sharing of 
information between regulatory bodies 
 The effectiveness and intention of the Emerging 
Concerns Protocol https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-
we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-
protocol should be revisited in the context of the 
findings of this case. The inclusion of additional 
signatories (e.g. Royal Colleges, NHS England 
and NHS Improvement) should be considered. 
This may be the most appropriate process to 
improve information sharing. 

SD70/2 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

165

https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol
https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol
https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol
https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol
https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol
https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-work-people/emerging-concerns-protocol


 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

NICHE Recommendation 71 (National) - Assessing the 
effective role of the Responsible Officer in Well-
Led assessments 
 The role of the RO and its development since the 
introduction of this function in 2010 should form a 
regular and consistent part of examination as part 
of internal and external Well-Led and governance 
reviews. 

SD71/1 Mr Paul 
Jones 

TRUSTWIDE Company Secretary to review National 
Recommendation R71 to determine whether the 
Recommendation has any applicability to the 
Trust and, if so, to initiate the development of an 
action/implementation Plan for this 
recommendation. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 71 (National) - Assessing the 
effective role of the Responsible Officer in Well-
Led assessments 
 The role of the RO and its development since the 
introduction of this function in 2010 should form a 
regular and consistent part of examination as part 
of internal and external Well-Led and governance 
reviews. 

SD71/2 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE The Compliance and Assurance Team will review 
this 'national' recommendation from the NICHE 
Report with the RSP (Recovery Support 
Programme) Improvement Director to confirm if 
the Recommendation has any direct relevance 
and/or action for the Trust to undertake. 

Fully 
complete 

(Approved) 

NICHE Recommendation 72 (National) - Testicular 
Implant Recall 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement should 
share the findings from the testicular implant 
recall exercise with relevant bodies and agree the 
next steps at a local or national level. 

SD72/1 Ms Claire 
Alexander 

TRUSTWIDE External Urology Consultant Report on testicular 
implant recall exercise commissioned by NHSE/I, 
developed/drafted and expected by end of Jan 
2022. 

Partially 
complete 

 
 

166



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Table 7: RCS Improvement Plan Dashboard 
 

Inspec
tion 

Recommendation Action 
Ref 

SRO Oversight 
Meeting 

Service Action Progress 
Status 

Comments 

RCS 
Report 

Actions the Trust Must take to 
ensure patient safety is 
protected: 
 A review of redacted clinical 
activity in performing 
unicompartmental knee 
replacements is required given 
the review may indicate an 
insufficient number of these 
procedures being undertaken to 
maintain the appropriate skill set 
required for the techniques 
involved. 

MD1/1 Ms 
Claire 
Alexa
nder 

  Trauma 
and 

Orthopaedi
cs 

OS Action - 
 1. Request data for all 
Unicompartmental knee 
replacement procedures carried 
out by surgeon 1 from 2015 - 
2018 - 5 cases identified 
between 2015 and 2018.  
Awaiting Clinical Review. 
  
2. Request data for all anterior 
approach to hip replacement - 
This cannot be done as anterior 
/ posterior isn't currently coded 
separately - Total Number of 
Hip cases is 105. (25 cases for 
further review)  
 
3. Request data for all no 
complex total Hip and total Knee 
replacement procedures 
completed by Surgeon 1 - Total 
Number of Knee cases is 216.  
(A sample of 25 cases for 
further review)  
 
4. Complete a case note review 
of all Unicompartmental knee 
replacement procedures carried 
out by surgeon 1 from 2015 - 
2018.  Links to 1 
  
5. Complete a case note review 
of all anterior approach 
procedures carried out by 
surgeon 1 from 2015 - 2018.  

In 
progress 

  

167



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

Links to No 2 
  
6. Complete a randomised case 
note review of non-complex 
THR and TKR procedures 
carried out by surgeon 1 from 
2015 - 2018.  Links to 2 and 3 

RCS 
Report 

Actions the Trust Must take to 
ensure patient safety is 
protected: 
 Assure evidence of redacted 
training in anterior approach 
surgery before further anterior 
approach hip replacements are 
performed. 

MD2/1 Mr 
Harry 
Roger

s 

  Trauma 
and 

Orthopaedi
cs 

OS Action -  
Surgeon 1 working under full 
supervision with a detailed 
training plan - (Practitioner 
Performance Advice PPA) in 
place based on identified 
themes in the RCS Report 

In 
progress 

  

RCS 
Report 

Actions the Trust Must take to 
ensure patient safety is 
protected: 
 In respect of more complex 
cases, more effective utilisation 
of MDT to: 
 (i) Improve governance in 
respect of clear decision 
making, transfer/handover of 

MD3/1 Mr 
Harry 
Roger

s 

  Trauma 
and 

Orthopaedi
cs 

"OS Action - 
 ADOP Surgery is currently 
completing these 2 items by the 
end of March 2022.   
SEE ALSO NICHE/R41??" 

In 
progress 

  

168



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

care documentation. 
 (ii) Ensure appropriate 
consultant surgeon involvement. 

RCS 
Report 

Actions the Trust Must take to 
ensure patient safety is 
protected: 
 The consent pro-forma should 
ensure that the potential risks of 
the planned surgery are clearly 
documented for the patient to 
assimilate and space to record 
that these have been explained 
to the patient. 

MD4/1 Mr 
Harry 
Roger

s 

  Trauma 
and 

Orthopaedi
cs 

OS Action - ADOP Surgery is 
currently completing these 2 
items by the end of March 2022.   
SEE ALSO NICHE/R18 

In 
progress 

  

RCS 
Report 

Actions the Trust Must take to 
ensure the Trauma and 
Orthopaedic Service is 
improved: 
 redacted may benefit as part of 
learning to reflect upon and 
discuss with colleagues case 
AXX in particular, possible 
reasons for the femoral notch 
(which was not documented in 
the operation note) occurring. 

MD5/1 Mr 
Harry 
Roger

s 

  Trauma 
and 

Orthopaedi
cs 

OS Action - 
 Completed 

In 
progress 

  

RCS 
Report 

Actions the Trust Must take to 
ensure the Trauma and 
Orthopaedic Service is 
improved: 
 The Trust should take steps to 
improve the continuity of care 
for patients through their pre-
operative, intra-operative and 
post-operative care pathway. 
This may include, but is not 
limited to, listing patients, 
wherever possible, on the 
operating surgeon clinic list. 

MD6/1 Mr 
Harry 
Roger

s 

  Trauma 
and 

Orthopaedi
cs 

The trust should take steps to 
improve the continuity of care 
for patients through their pre-
operative, Intra-operative and 
post-operative care pathway. 
This may include, but is not 
limited to, listing patients, 
wherever possible, on the 
operating surgeon clinic list. 

In 
progress 

  

169



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

RCS 
Report 

Actions the Trust Should 
consider as part of its 
development of the Trauma and 
Orthopaedic service: 
 If the Trust identifies primary 
concerns about an individual 
surgeon, then a formal review of 
their clinical practice is 
recommended. If the Trust 
identifies concerns associated 
with the surgical service then a 
review of the service is 
recommended. 

SD7/1 Ms 
Jane 

McNic
holas 

  Trauma 
and 

Orthopaedi
cs 

OS Action - 
 The Director of Governance 
and the Medical Director will 
draft a Standard Operating 
Procedure that articulates 
clearly and transparently the 
process associated with 
instigating a formal review of 
individual practice and the 
criteria for triggering a review of 
a surgical or medical service 
based on triangulated 
intelligence, evidence and 
patient feedback.  Timescale 
TBC. 

In 
progress 

  

                 

170



 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plan Progress 
Report 
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust  
Board of Directors (31 August 2022) 

 

171



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 27 September 2022 

Title UHMBT’s Winter Plans 

Report of Scott Mclean 
Chief Operating Officer 

Prepared by and 
contact details 

Leanne Cooper  
Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Leanne.cooper@mbht.nhs.uk 

 
 

 

Confidentiality Non-Confidential  
 

 
 

 

Purpose of 
Report 
 
 

To 
Advise/Alert 

To Assure To Approve To Update 

x   x 

The purpose of this report is to provide a briefing to the Joint Health 
Scrutiny Committee on the approach UHMBT (and system partners) is 
taking to prepare for the forthcoming Winter period. 
 
These plans are set in the context of the significant pressures our health 
and care system has faced over recent months that have meant UHMBT 
has had to declare its highest escalation level – OPEL 4 – on a number 
of occasions. This is covered in a separate paper on today’s agenda. 
 
The report will provide a brief summary of the approach UHMBT (and 
system partners) is taking to make general improvements to our urgent 
care system – a year round process – in addition to the further, specific 
actions proposed to mitigate the pressures that generally feature over 
winter. 
 
The report will also summarise how these plans are resourced and 
overseen in respect of performance management and assurance. 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Key 
Issues 

The provision of ‘High Quality, Safe Healthcare’ leading to good patient 
experience is a key Trust priority, however, organisational pressures on 
clinical and operational workload can limit the ability of key areas to 
provide this effectively at times.  
 
When this pressure inhibits normal daily functioning, it can significantly 
increases the risk of failure in care delivery and good patient outcomes 
and experience. These pressures can escalate significantly over the 
Winter period – driven by increased demand for services, more acutely 
unwell patients, the prevalence of flu/COVID 19 and potential staffing 
shortages.  
To this end the Trust has 3 approaches to help mitigate those risks: 

173

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Leanne.cooper@mbht.nhs.uk


 

 

 
- The delivery of our “Managing Patient Flow, Surge & 

Escalation Plan”. This is in place and utilised 24/7, 365 days 
a year. This is described in a separate paper on today’s 
agenda. 
 

- The implementation of the Urgent Care Improvement Plan. 
This has been designed by the Trust in conjunction with 
system partners and specialist input from NHSE/I teams and 
is overseen by the Bay Health and Care Partners A&E 
Delivery Board. 

 
- Our 2022/23 winter plan – this is a specific set of actions 

designed to mitigate the specific risks that can feature over 
the winter period. This plan includes the key actions required 
by NHSE/I that were detailed in their guidance issued on the 
12th August 2022. 

 
These plans have been designed by senior / executive colleagues in our 
system with input from specialist teams from NHSE/I and have been 
approved for implementation.  
 
The Trust has secured the majority of resources required for successful 
delivery, however it should be noted that there may be additional 
investment (either capital and/or revenue) that can be made available 
over this period – these plans can be extended / scaled up if that 
happens. 
 
There is a comprehensive performance and assurance framework in 
place – both within the Trust and the wider system – that will oversee our 
urgent care system performance, the delivery of these plans and the 
management/mitigation of escalating risks over this period. 
 
 

 
 

 

Prior 
Discussions 
 
 

Committee Date Recommendations/ 
Concerns  
 

Various committees 
have oversight of 
these issues: 
-Trust Management 
Group (TMG) 
-Quality Assurance 
Committee (QAC) 
- A&E Delivery Board 
- Trust Board 
- System 
Improvement Board 
(SIB) 
 

Various dates to 
scrutinise the design 
and approval of these 
plans and delivery 
oversight. 

Plans have been 
approved and are 
mobilised for delivery. 

 
 

 

174



 

 

Action to be 
recommended to 
the Committee 

For the committee to note the approach taken by UHMBT (and system 
partners) to improve urgent care services and ensure these services 
can deliver effectively over the forthcoming Winter period. 

  
  

Link to Key 
Priorities 
 
 

Delivering 
outstanding 
care and 
experience  

Create the 
culture and 
conditions for 
colleagues to 
be the very best 
they can be 

Make the best 
use of our 
physical and 
financial 
resources 
 

Working in 
partnership 

x  x x 

 

 
 

 

Impact on Board 
Assurance 
Framework or 
Corporate Risk 
Register 

Urgent & Emergency Care performance. 

Risk Impact 
Assessment   

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Equality Impact 
Assessment  

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Quality Impact 
Assessment  

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Environmental / 
Sustainability 
Impact 
Assessment 

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

 
 

 

Acronyms 

UEC Urgent & Emergency Services 

SDEC Same Day Emergency Care 

ED Emergency Department 

FIT Frailty Intervention Team 

ICS Integrated Care System 

NMC2R Not Meeting the Criteria To Reside 

UTC Urgent Treatment Centre  

 

 

  

175



 

 

UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS OF MORECAMBE BAY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

 

UHMBT Winter Plans 2022/23 

 

 

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

 
1. Winter plans are part of the normal cycle of business within the NHS, with Trusts 

working together with system partners to mitigate against winter pressures. This year, 
winter is expected to be particularly challenging given already stretched health and 
social care services, combined with the expected return of flu, norovirus and further 
COVID-19 variants. This is in addition to significant staffing gaps, financial 
sustainability and recovery of elective activity post COVID.  

 
2. Resilience over this difficult winter can only be achieved through taking a system led 

approach with plans created and delivered in a collaborative manner, leveraging the 
strengths of our Integrated Care System as well as our local partners across the health 
and social care system. 

 

UHMBT Approach to UEC Performance oversight and improvement 

 

3. The daily management of patient flow, urgent care and escalation is managed 24h a 
day, 7 days a week, 365 days of the year. This comprehensive approach to managing 
Urgent and Emergency Care sits outside of the additional focus on winter planning and 
is described in a separate paper on today’s agenda. 

 
4. Sitting alongside this is our Urgent and Emergency Care Improvement Plan - a system 

wide plan developed by Bay Health & Care Partners to make our UEC system better, 
safer and more effective. Again this is out with the specific winter planning and is 
overseen by the system A&E Delivery Board.  

 

5. This plan focuses on a number of key projects delivered over the next 18 months and 
is summarised in the table below.  

 

6. These improvement projects include: 
 

• The expansion in the provision of same day care for emergency patients who 
would otherwise be admitted to hospital. Patients presenting at hospital with 
relevant conditions will be rapidly assessed, diagnosed and treated without 
being admitted to a ward, and if clinically safe to do so, will go home the same 
day their care is provided.  

• Improvements in services for patients who are frail and/or elderly through a 
combination of virtual wards and a team of health and social care professionals 
who specialise in reviewing older patients with frailty both pre hospital to help 
avoid unnecessary admission and within the Emergency Department and our 
frailty assessment units.  

• The development of a co-located Urgent Treatment Centre at the RLI site to 
help decompress our A&E department and reduce waiting times for those with 
minor injuries and illness.  

• Reducing unnecessary delays for patients being discharged from hospital to 
ensure that once people no longer need hospital care, they can be discharged 
to the best place for them to continue recovery be that at home or into a 
community setting (such as a care home). 

176



 

 

 
7. To support the above, the trust has prioritised £9.61m in capital to support a new UTC 

and new Frailty Unit at the RLI, in addition to already expanding the cubicle capacity 
within both of our Emergency Departments, designing a new SDEC unit at FGH, and 
developing a Priority Assessment and Discharge Unit and refurbishing old nightingale 
wards at RLI.  

 
8.  The Trust has also invested £5.64m which equates to 95 additional staff for frailty 

pathways, increased staffing levels in our Emergency Departments and assessment 
areas and expanding our Hospital Home Care team to support patients leaving hospital 
to go home.  

 

9. Both the daily management of flow across our urgent care system and our Urgent Care 
Improvement Plan are designed to ensure we are best placed to manage winter from 
a stronger baseline position. 

 
 

Project  Goal Planned Impact 

SDEC • 50% of unplanned admissions will not stay 

overnight in hospital 

• 15-20 acute bed capacity across Trust by Q2 

2023/24 

Frailty • 7-day pre-hospital Frailty service for admission 

avoidance, and 

• Develop 7-day in-hospital Frailty service and 

Intervention Team 

• Average of 7 admissions avoided per day, 

equating to 34 acute bed capacity across Trust by 

Q2 2023/24 

NMC2R • Reduce the number of NMC2R patients 

(baseline 120 patients equating to 20% of 

general & acute (G&A) beds to: 

o Long-term: 30 patients (5%) 

o Medium-term: 72 patients (12%) by 

end December-22 

o Short-term: 95 patients (16%) by end 

June-22 

• Long-term (5%): 90 acute beds worth of capacity 

across Trust 

• Medium-term (12%): 48 acute beds worth of 

capacity across Trust 

• Short-term (16%): 25 acute beds worth of capacity 

across Trust 

UTC • 20-25% of RLI A&E attendances redirected to 

a new RLI Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) by 

end November-22 

• 30-45 patients per day diverted from RLI ED to 

RLI adjacent UTC 

• Long term plan (2024) is co-location with primary 

care teams as part of health estate review 

Virtual 

wards 

• Introduction of Virtual ward beds as an 

alternative to admission and to reduce delays 

to discharge from hospital: 

o Long-term: 150 patients by end 

December-23 

o Medium-term: 53 patients by end 

November-22 

o Short-term: 27 patients by end 

August-22 

• Modelled net impact of 150 patients in virtual 

wards by end December-23 is ~50-80 acute 

hospital beds worth of capacity across Trust 

 
 
 

177



 

 

Winter Plans 
 
10. Our Urgent and Emergency Care system is under significant pressure. Staff have 

faced one of their busiest summers ever with record numbers of A&E attendances and 
the most urgent ambulance call outs, all alongside another wave of COVID-19. To that 
end, on the 12th August, NHSE set out 8 next steps in their plans to increase capacity 
and resilience ahead of winter. These include: 
 

1) Prepare for variants of COVID-19, including an integrated COVID-19 and flu 
vaccination programme. 

2) Increase capacity outside acute trusts, including the scaling up of additional 
roles in primary care and releasing annual funding to support mental health 
through the winter.  

3) Increase resilience in NHS 111 and 999 services, through increasing the 
number of call handlers to 4.8k in 111 and 2.5k in 999.  

4) Target Category 2 response times and ambulance handover delays. 
5) Reduce crowding in A&E departments and target the longest waits in ED, 

through improving use of the NHS directory of services, and increasing 
provision of SDEC and acute frailty services.  

6) Reduce hospital occupancy, through increasing general & acute bed 
capacity. 

7) Ensure timely discharge, across acute, mental health, and community 
settings, by working with social care partners and implementing the 10 best 
practice interventions through the ‘100 day challenge’.  

8) Provide better support for people at home, including the scaling up of virtual 
wards and additional support for High Intensity Users with complex needs. 
 

11. Over the last 12 months, the Trust has worked with system partners to develop its 
Urgent and Emergency Care Improvement Programme (described above) that focuses 
on a number of priority areas which are believed to have the greatest impact in 
improving access to Urgent and Emergency Care.  

 
12. Whilst a number of these schemes are underway, the programme will not be delivered 

in its entirety in time for this winter. Therefore we have begun planning for the coming 
winter earlier than usual and in line with NHSEI requirements.  

 
13. Additional resources (some £250m nationally) are being allocated to NHSEI regions to 

support the return of UEC performance to pre-Covid levels and to ensure sufficient bed 
capacity is in place to get systems through the coming winter. The LSC capitation 
share of this fund is £7.5m. 

 
14. Recognising pressure on the NHS is likely to be substantial, particularly in UEC, we 

need to make the most of the opportunity created by the formation of ICBs to maximise 
the benefits of system working across health and social care.  

 
15. The following describe next steps in increasing capacity and operational resilience in 

urgent and emergency care ahead of winter. Co-design with system partners and 
specialist NHSE/I input is the cornerstone of our plans ensuring our approach is 
evidence based and uses best practice. 
 

 
 
 

178



 

 

16. Our winter plan focuses on increasing capacity outside hospital and ensuring timely 
discharges, increasing primary care and mental health access and reducing crowding 
in our A&E departments through the bringing forward a number of our improvement 
schemes described earlier ahead of Christmas – such as UTC co-location at RLI, 
enhanced SDEC and virtual wards. A summary of our winter plan is provided in the 
table below.  

 

Scheme Title Description  Planned Impact 

LSCFT Mental 

Health Provider - 

Positive Ageing 

and MH Wellbeing 

pilot/Trailblazer 

Trial of an intensive enhanced system MDT approach 

to MH physical health and wellbeing for older adults 

with a mental health need (including dementia) to 

reduce avoidable admissions, Length of stay & 

delayed discharge and to repatriate of out of area 

placements for this cohort of people. Placements will 

be up to 6 weeks based on need for those aged over 

65 and above 

• 8 beds in Morecambe Bay utilised 
for up to 6 weeks per person. 

• Pilot phase Nov 22-March 23 

 

LSCFT Mental 

Health Provider - 

Psynergy 

Increased focus support for patients identified via 999 

requiring MH support by deflecting from ED with the 

use of section 136 

• Prevent circa 200 ED deflections 
across ICS 

• Prevent 170 S136 deflections 
across ICS 

• Implemented wef October 2022 

BHACP - 

Reducing NMC2R 

(Schemes 1 & 2 

and Cumbria 

Social Care Green 

scheme funding 

agreed) 

To provide alternative provision enable headroom 

within the Trust and reduce e NMCR over the winter. 

Baseline 120 NMC2R on average occupying G&A 

beds. Equates to 20% of G&A bed stock. National ask 

of 5% would equate to 30 patients occupying beds.  

Includes additional beds in local care home to support 

patients transitioning from hospital to home in need of 

more rehabilitation prior to going home and external 

provider for care packages/Dom Care.  

 

N.B. Current NMC2R has increased since baseline 

calculations to >140 NMC2R patients at any one time.  

• 95 Domiciliary care packages  

• 15 residential packages  

• Implemented wef November  

BHACP - Support 

to General Practice 

(Amber Scheme 

awaiting funding 

confirmation)  

Support to Primary care over the winter period to 

include; additional apt capacity over winter period - 

virtually and face to face, pulse oximetry services to 

support to respiratory patient to remain in the 

community, additional cover for Sundays and bank 

holidays. 

• 10 beds 

• 440 contacts in Primary Care per 
week 

• Implemented wef October 2022 

BHACP – 

Community 

support and 

admission 

avoidance (Amber 

Scheme awaiting 

Integration of Falls lifting service to prevent future falls 

and injury, and implementation of 'REACT' model at 

FGH to support admission avoidance. 

• Falls Lifting: Supporting 100 
patients equating to approx. 189 
bed days saved for N Lancs and 
189 bed days for S Lakes. 

• REACT function at FGH to support 
122 patients per month assessed 
for admission avoidance. 

179



 

 

funding 

confirmation) 

 
17. In addition the autumn vaccination (Covid and Flu) programme began on the 5th 

September in Primary care with Primary Care Networks and identified community 
pharmacies administering vaccine to majority of the population. Provision will also 
include an outreach service and doorstep offer for hard to reach groups including 
mobile pop ups, vaccination at home and mobile vaccination units.  

 
Key Risks and Issues & Mitigations 
 
18. There are a number of key risks facing us this winter – including the uncertainty of new 

Covid variants together with typical winter infection prevention issues associated with 
Flu and Norovirus, workforce pressures across acute, community, social care and 
primary care; balancing a financial position alongside the costs of funding UEC 
schemes and the costs of elective recovery.  

 
19. In addition, the is a specific risk associated with significantly high numbers of patients 

who do not meet the criteria to reside in hospital due to social care fragility and access 
to domiciliary care. 

 

20. The Trust is working closely with colleagues in social care to access winter funding 
and develop joint schemes to reduce the risk associated with delays in leaving hospital.   

180



 

 

 

 
 

Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 27 September 2022 

Title UHMBT’s Managing Patient Flow, Surge and OPEL (Operational 
Performance Escalation Levels) Approach 

Report of Scott Mclean 
Chief Operating Officer 

Prepared by and 
contact details 

Leanne Cooper  
Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Leanne.cooper@mbht.nhs.uk 

 
 

 

Confidentiality Non-Confidential  
 

 
 

 

Purpose of 
Report 
 
 

To 
Advise/Alert 

To Assure To Approve To Update 

x   x 

The purpose of this report is to provide a briefing to the Joint Health 
Scrutiny Committee on the approach UHMBT (and system partners) 
takes when responding to escalating service pressures. 
 
This is in response to the significant pressures our health and care 
system has faced over recent months that have meant UHMBT has had 
to declare its highest escalation level – OPEL 4 – on a number of 
occasions. 
 
The report will provide a brief summary of the key areas of focus when 
managing our services under pressure, the factors used to decide which 
OPEL level the Trust is at and what actions are taken at each level. 
 
These factors, associated actions and how they are overseen are 
contained – more fully – in the Trusts Managing Patient Flow, Surge & 
Escalation Plan  
 
It should be noted that, whilst there may be some slight differences to 
account for different organisations / service configuration, all 
organisations in the NHS now operate under a similar plan. 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Key 
Issues 

The provision of ‘High Quality, Safe Healthcare’ leading to good patient 
experience is a key Trust priority, however, organisational pressures on 
clinical and operational workload can limit the ability of key areas to 
provide this effectively at times.  
 

181

mailto:Leanne.cooper@mbht.nhs.uk


 

 

When this pressure inhibits normal daily functioning, it can significantly 
increases the risk of failure in care delivery and good patient outcomes 
and experience. 
 
Unlike many departments and clinical areas, the Emergency 
Departments (EDs), by their very nature, are unable to close their doors 
when all available patient care spaces are occupied.  
 
The risk of Serious Incidents happening not only increases with every 
additional patient that arrives over and above capacity but this is 
concentrated in one area of the Trust.  
 
As such the Trusts response to those circumstances is to de-escalate 
that risk as quickly as possible. This approach – contained in our 
“Managing Patient Flow, Surge & Escalation Plan” needs to be shared 
across the whole organisation and the response is one from across the 
Trust and wider health system, not just within the Emergency 
Departments themselves. This gives the best chance of reducing risks 
quickly and significantly. 
 
The plan details the stages in the management of patient flow through 
the Trust’s services focussing on daily activity, Emergency Department 
surges and times at which the OPEL escalation triggers are met. There 
are 4 distinct parts of the plan: 
 
Management of safe patient flow 
Emergency Department surge response 
Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL) 
Full capacity protocol 
 
In following the approach detailed in the plan, the Trust; 
 

a) Has an agreed structure for escalation & action in the event of a 
surge of unplanned, emergency activity 

b) Provides timely communication of Trust escalation levels and 
required actions 

c) Safeguards and maintains all essential services 
d) Manages and safeguards patients and staff wellbeing 
e) Works in partnership with system agencies 
f) Works to manage bed pressures to manage both emergency 

demand and elective care delivery 
 
The rest of the report will briefly summarise the 4 elements of the plan 
highlighted above using a number of slides. 
 
 

 
 

 

Prior 
Discussions 
 
 

Committee Date Recommendations/ 
Concerns  
 

Trust Management 
Group (TMG) 

May 2022 To approve the policy 
and support 
implementation. 

182



 

 

 
 

 

Action to be 
recommended to 
the Committee 

For the committee to note the approach taken by UHMBT (and system 
partners) when responding to escalating service pressures. 

  
  

Link to Key 
Priorities 
 
 

Delivering 
outstanding 
care and 
experience  

Create the 
culture and 
conditions for 
colleagues to 
be the very best 
they can be 

Make the best 
use of our 
physical and 
financial 
resources 
 

Working in 
partnership 

x  x x 

 

 
 

 

Impact on Board 
Assurance 
Framework or 
Corporate Risk 
Register 

Urgent & Emergency Care  

Risk Impact 
Assessment   

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Equality Impact 
Assessment  

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Quality Impact 
Assessment  

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

Environmental / 
Sustainability 
Impact 
Assessment 

Is this required? N If Yes, Date 
Completed 

 

 
 

 

Acronyms 

OPEL Operational Performance Escalation Levels 

  

  

  

 

183



This page is intentionally left blank



Care Quality CPlan

Aaron Cummins // Chief Executive
March 2021

UHMB Managing Patient
Flow, Surge & Escalation Plan

185



Care Quality CPlan

Purpose of the plan
• Ensure our patients receive the best possible care, even when our services are

under pressure
• Ensure good patient flow through our hospital is consistently achieved
• Ensure surges of demand on our Emergency Departments are identified

quickly, acknowledged and responded to appropriately
• Ensure any mitigating actions taken are clear, evidence based and

appropriately delivered
• To be clear on relevant colleagues roles & responsibilities
• To ensure the actions taken de-escalate site risks quickly
• Assure the Trust Board & appropriate regulators (CQC/NHSE/I)

186



Managing patient flow

187



Care Quality CPlan

Managing patient flow

• Defines the day-to-day processes that we use to manage flow across our sites
• In addition to clear clinical and operational responsibilities at Ward & Dept level

– there are 3, cross site meetings per day to look at whole system performance
and risk

• These meetings look at our Emergency Departments, bed availability and safe
staffing levels with any necessary OPEL escalations / mitigating actions
discussed

• Attendees include colleagues from other system partners
• Text system notifies colleagues of pressure increases & key actions
• This approach runs 7 days a week, 365 days a year

188



Emergency Departments –
Surges in Demand

189



Care Quality CPlan

UHMBT Emergency Department Surge Plan
• Unlike some wards and departments ED’s cant “close” to attendees and are

open 24/7, 365 days a year
• When our ED’s are at full capacity, this leads to risks in patients being seen

quickly and Ambulance handover delays which can delay crews attending
urgent calls

• When this happens our plan includes:
- considering OPEL escalation actions for partner support
- Focus on safely discharging more inpatients to improve flow from the ED
- Increasing senior medic support to more quickly assess patients in the dept to

either admit or discharge
- Additional nurse staffing if we need to see patients in different areas of the ED
- Regular colleague and patient welfare checks

190



OPEL – Operational
Performance Escalation
Levels191



Care Quality CPlan

Operational Performance Escalation Levels

• Escalation from OPEL 1 ( deemed normal) to OPEL 4
• This is now a consistent approach across all parts of the NHS and replaces

previously used terms: “internal major incident” “black alert” as too subjective
• Higher escalation levels require more senior input and cross system actions to

be taken (ambulance service, social care etc)
• Aim is to ensure actions taken at the earlier OPEL levels prevent OPEL4 being

reached – but increasingly can happen
• Key focus is on patient flow and early discharges to reduce pressure
• Our daily site meetings oversee this process

192



Care Quality CPlan

OPEL LEVEL CRITERIA
OPEL 1 – Business as usual Good patient flow

Bed availability matches expected demand
No staffing concerns

OPEL 2 – Moderate Pressure ED 4 hr performance at risk
Insufficient discharges to meet bed demand
Safe staffing but some rota gaps
Internal improvement actions required

OPEL 3 – Significant Pressure OPEL 2 actions failed to de-escalate risk
ED performance = ambulance delays
Significant staffing pressures
High numbers of patients awaiting admission
Increased system support required – primary/social

OPEL 4 – Intolerable Pressure OPEL 3 actions failed to de-escalate risk
Hospital “full” and no beds available
Significant staffing issues and ambulance delays
Urgent care access compromised
ICS/ Region approach for support

193



Care Quality CPlan

OPEL 4 Escalation
This is the highest level of escalation and as such requires a different escalation and
approval process:
· Stage 1 – 5 or more of the OPEL 4 triggers are met
· Stage 2 – in hours Chief Operating Officer will inform CEO, out of hours the on-call team

will agree with CEO whether to approve, in the absence of the CEO the delegated Exec
will be contacted.

· Stage 3 – in hours the Head of Patient Flow, or their designated deputy, will complete
the ICS escalation form and send to the COO for approval, out of hours the Tactical on-
call to complete.

· Stage 5 - in hours the Head of Patient Flow, or their designated deputy, or out of hours
the Tactical on-call will contact MBCCG 1st on-call to inform them of the declaration and
seek the immediate implementation of the System OPEL Escalation Plan

· Stage 6 – in hours COO or out of house the Strategic on-call will contact MBCCG, LSC
ICS and NHS England Execs on call to brief the current situation

194



Full capacity protocol

195



Care Quality CPlan

Full capacity protocol

• Implemented at time of highest patient safety risk – extended OPEL 4 period
• Last resort measure as includes “stopping” some of our elective activities

which can introduce other risks and issues
• Acknowledging that pressures are across the site but need to balance risk so

that it all isn’t contained in a single place (ED)
• Requires whole site response when declared
• Ensuring our patients come first

196


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Progress Report on Care Quality Commission (CQC), Niche and Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) Improvement Plans
	Agenda Item 098i CQC Niche RCS Improvement Plan - August Action Tracker

	7 University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust Winter Plans
	Joint Overview Scrutiny OPEL
	Presentation


